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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS

Every morning at 6:30 we come together to create value. We connect

customers, idlem]ify issues and seize opportunities. Every morning

we measure progress. Every morning we get better. A long-term

leader driven by very disciplined focus, First Data is transforming

the payments industry day by day, year by year, decade by decade.

The title of this report draws attention to the time
each day we convene a conference call with company
managers throughout the world, along with custom-
ers. In that call, we take stock of what’s happening
right now. We address issues, we tackle problems
and we seize opportunities. Each morning, we set
objectives and measure progress. We make promises
and we hold each other accountable. There is prob-
ably no better example of our corporate culture than
our daily call, because it puts into action all that we
believe about creating value.

Each morning, in one way or another, 32,000
employees, supporting sales, services and operations in
200 countries and territories, come together to find
ways to make life easier for our customers. Our promise
is to provide the most convenient, most secure and
most cost-effective solutions possible. We reaffirm our
commitment to that promise on the call, we execute
against it and we will measure our progress yet again
each and every day.

Throughout our history, we have driven outstand -
ing growth by fulfilling our promise of making our

customers’ lives easier. Consider for a moment that

the global economy, with all its speed, fluidity and
interconnection, is in many ways made possible by
the infrastructure that First Data has systematically
built over the years. We have built a rather unique
model that both created the payments industry and
continues to define its possibilities. We are flattered by
the number of competitors that have tried to imitate
our model. While we take each competitor seriously,
our position as a leader in the payments industry and
our ability to adapt to, and in many cases anticipate,
the ever-changing competitive landscape will con-~
tinue to ensure our success.

I feel as confident now about our ability to
capitalize on the opportunities that surround us as I
ever have during my 30 years serving First Data. Our
company has been designed to succeed in every way.
We will continue aligning our resources with the
right opportunities. We will continue to expand our
share of growing markets and we will redefine those
markets to seek out new, untapped growth opportu-
nities. We will continue to provide solutions to our
customers that are increasingly more convenient,

effective, secure and cost efficient.

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS



OPPORTUNITY ACROSS ALL SEGMENTS

Western Union remains a key element. The consis-
tency and long-term strength of Western Union
stems from our three-pronged strategy of expanding
and diversifying our global distribution, building
the brand and leveraging our channels. Throughout
Western Union’s explosive growth, the brand hallmarks
—speed, trust and reliability—continue to underscore
our competitive advantage.

Over time, we have built an innovative and nimble
distribution network that each and every day helps
customers achieve their goals. When we acquired
Western Union in 1995, we had 30,000 agent locations
that mainly connected states and towns. Today, our
220,000-plus agent locations connect 200 countries
and territories. We once sent telegrams across the
United States; now we send money around the world.

We will continue with the rapid expansion of the
agent network, especially into fast-growing markets
like China and India (and keep in mind, there are
40,000 Western Union agent locations in those two
countries alone). In 2004, China and India combined

saw transaction growth of 86 percent.

BRICKS AND MORTAR TO A POINT

In addition to the 220,000 physical locations, we
have potentially millions of distribution points over
PCs through westernunion.com. In 2004, western-
union.com transactions and revenues increased 50
percent, and more than 60 percent of these transac-
tions were from customers new to Western Union.
We recently launched a site in the U.K., and we plan
to be in eight to 10 countries by year’s end. This new
distribution channel will deliver significant growth
going forward.

We also offer many other options for senders to
put money into the Western Union network, and many
choices for receivers to retrieve those funds, such as
cash-to-card offerings, direct-to-bank options and
ATM money transfers.

Western Union will continue to serve people

moving around the world. We size up the opportunity
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this way. Currently, of the world’s 6.4 billion people,
an estimated 175 million are living in countries other
than their country of origin.

The consumer-to-business bill payment mar-
ket is another huge opportunity. Currently, we are
primarily serving our United States customers with
these products. Our strategy here is to extend these
offerings globally.

Additionally, the prepaid market represents
tremendous opportunity. We provide a number of
prepaid services for more than 200 ValueLink gift
card brands, and we completed more than 40 million
cellular top-ups globally this year. In 2004, we tested
a Western Union Prepaid bankcard and the results
have exceeded our expectations.

Consider the global movement of the ever-
increasing population coupled with all of our services,
both existing and new, and our far-reaching physical
and virtual presence. We have a very long runway for
growth ahead of us.

THE RIGHT IDEA AT THE RIGHT TIME

For more than 30 years, we have heen designing
Merchant Services to maximize its success in the
rapidly growing market of electronic payment accep-
tance. The formula here is straightforward: Use
the bank alliance sales approach to grow our mer-
chant base; remain the highest-quality, lowest-cost
provider; and bring the best integrated solutions to
the market.

Our merchant alliance relationships have
allowed us to build the most dynamic sales force in
the industry. With more than 5,000 sales people
worldwide, we are aligned to sell to merchants of
every size and type—from the very largest interna-
tional retailer to the smallest local retailer. The
success of the sales people resulted in the addition
of more than 500,000 new merchants in 2004. The
wide array of bank alliances we have across so many
geographies gives us a physical footprint second
to none. We now have a merchant base exceeding

4.1 million locations worldwide.




In addition to more and more merchants
accepting card-based payments, American consum-
ers are carrying more cards. Each American house-
hold averages 6.3 bank credit cards, 2.2 debit cards
and 6.4 retail cards. Fifteen years ago, the averages
were closer to 3.4 bank credit cards, 0.1 debit cards
and 4.1 retail cards.’

Debit cards continue to gain in popularity.
Research predicts debit cards in the U.S. will grow
to more than 260 million by the end of 2005 from
9 million in 1990, up nearly thirtyfold.”

The phenomenal growth in debit usage alone
clearly amplifies why Concord is such a great fit.
The STAR® network provides the most secure,
efficient, reliable and cost-effective connections
between consumers, merchants and the card-
issuing banks.

The focus of Card Issuing Services remains on
processing more retail card accounts along with
continuing add-ons to the co-branded business.
Success will come by bringing the right solutions
to market. Our card systems are now handling more
card accounts than at ény point in the history of
the company.

First Data International remains keenly focused
on selling merchant acquiring, card processing and
ATM capabilities in markets where the opportunity
is greatest. Acquisitions around the world along
with consistent organic growth pushed First Data
International to an annualized revenue run rate of

$1 billion by year end.

A WINNING COMBINATION

The capabilities of this enterprise, with its distribution
network of 220,000 agent locations, 4.1 million
merchant locations, 1,400 card issuers, 406 million
cardholder accounts and its strong global brands
—Western Union, TeleCheck, and STAR—give me
tremendous confidence in our place as a leader in
the payments value chain.

We will always deliver on the promise of making

buying, selling and life easier by handling payment

1 CARDWEB.com 2 CardData

transactions in the most reliable, most secure and
most cost-efficient manner possible.

This report features First Data’s leaders, which
underscores our efforts to empower the best people to
propel First Data forward. Knowing, as I do, just how
demanding and exciting our business is, I am forever
grateful for the effort and dedication that I witness
among my 32,000 colleagues every day. I am deeply
appreciative of their support and confidence as well
as that of our dedicated shareholders. Shareholder
confidence is something the people of First Data never

take for granted. Thank you for your commitment.

L vyt

CHARLIE FOTE
CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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AS LEADERS we're determined
to increase our capacity to
bring the whole enterprise into

play for the customer’s benefit.
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CHRISTINA GOLD
PRESIDENT
WESTERN UNION
FINANCIAL SERVICES

SCOTT BETTS
PRESIDENT

DOMESTIC ENTERPRISE
PAYMENTS

The management team’s close connection to the
details is balanced by a global perspective. We see
the big picture, and with it, the extent of First Data’s
potential for long-term and sustained growth. To
achieve what's possible—and to maintain First Data’s
leadership position in the global payments industry
—the company’s leaders are taking the next steps to

and leverage First Data’s many plat-
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The acquisition of Concord, and with it
the STAR Network, will in time be as
significant as First Data’s purchase of
Western Union in 1995. It will
certainly sustain our leadership of the

payments industry.

THE CRITICAL POINT TO GRASP, however,
is how technology keeps changing the
purchasing experience for consumers,
merchants and banks. Our focus is to
bring a broader range of merchants a
more full spectrum of possibilities

and choices.

i
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JIM SCHOEDINGER
PRESIDENT
CARD ISSUING SERVICES



GROWTH AND PERFORMANCE have been noteworthy
in their consistency, but to realize the opportunities
before us, we have to continually strengthen the
company by attracting new and talented people to

our ranks.
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Consider the strength of First Data’s various
brands, most especially Western Union.

As well known as the Western Union®brand
is today, its power as a global brand is

just beginning.

MONEY TRANSFER is the revenue driver,
but consider the range of prepaid

services that can be sold through Western

Union agent locations.

quaa right:

IAN MARSH

SVP & MANAGING DIRECTOR
WESTERN UNION-ASIA PACIFIC
-,

%
" HIKMET ERSEK

SVP, WESTERN UNION-EUROPE,
MIDDLE EAST, AFRICA, SOUTH ASIA
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BILL THOMAS
PRESIDENT
WESTERN UNION-THE AMERICAS

MICHAEL HAGGERTY
SVP. WESTERN UNION
GLOBAL MARKETING
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COMPETITION is intensifying while
customers demand more options
and a greater range of choices. But
who can match the platform that
First Data has assembled?

Nobody.

We're working harder to
use that platform to its fullest
potential.

HENIRY TSUEL
PRESIDENT
A INTERNATIONAE




INTEGRATION is an important issue in terms of leveraging First Data’s strengths. That means we’re spending a lot

more time and energy focusing on how we can bring value to our customers.
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WHAT’S NEXT?

We have to stay ahead of the game,
but our superior services and
products enable us to continually

adjust to suit our clients’ needs.

In all of our markets we’'re
focused on customers
who are looking for a single-

source provider.

Never before have our cross-sell

capabilities been this strong.

Left to right:

GENE CHEVALIER
GENERAL MANAGER
FIRST DATA VOICE SERVICES

JULIE SULLIVAN

VICE PRESIDENT

FIRST DATA

GOVERNMENT SOLUTIONS

INGENUITY



TEAMWORK 1§ IMPERATIVE. Look at what’s
happening with our relationships with banks.
They have challenged us to see a bigger

picture, and combine many solutions into

one dependable, highly flexible relationship.
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INNOVATION NEVER $TOPS, which explains why
electronic payments now outpace cash and check
transactions. We never stop transforming

innovations into value by doing everything

possible to help our customers succeed.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Back row, left to right: Jim Schoedinger, Scott Betts, Michael T. Whealy, Mike D'Ambrose
Front row, left to right: Pam Patsley, Christina Gold, Kim Patmore, Guy Battista
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Back row, left to right: Courtney F. Jones, Charles T. Russell, Richard P. Kiphart, Alison Davis, Daniel P. Burnham, Jack M. Greenberg
Front row, left to right: Joan E. Spero, Arthur F. Weinbach, Charlie T. Fote, James D. Robinson I1I, Bernard L. Schwartz




Executive Committee

GUY BATTISTA
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER

SCOTT BETTS
PRESIDENT

DOMESTIC ENTERPRISE
PAYMENTS

Board of Directors

DANIEL P. BURNHAM
{Director since 2003)

FORMER CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
RAYTHEON

ALISON DAVIS*
(Director since 2002)

MANAGING DIRECTOR
BELVEDERE CAPITAL PARTNERS

CHARLES T. FOTE
{Director since 2000)

CHAIRMAN AND

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
FIRST DATA CORPORATION

MIKE D’AMBROSE
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
HUMAN RESOURCES

CHRISTINA GOLD
PRESIDENT
WESTERN UNION
FINANCIAL SERVICES

JACK M. GREENBERG
(Director since 2003)

FORMER CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
MCDONALD'S CORPORATION

COURTNEY F. JONES*
(Director since 1992)

FORMER CHIEF FINANCIAL

OFFICER, MERRILL LYNCH & CO.

FORMER TREASURER

GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION

RICHARD P. KIPHART
(Director since 2004)

HEAD OF CORPORATE
FINANCE DEPARTMENT

WILLIAM BLAIR & COMPANY, L.L.C,

KiM PATMORE
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PAM PATSLEY
PRESIDENT
FIRST DATA INTERNATIONAL

JAMES D. ROBINSON il
(Director since 1992)

GENERAL PARTNER

AND CO-FOUNDER

RRE VENTURES

CHARLES T. RUSSELL
(Director since 1994)

FORMER PRESIDENT AND

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
VISA INTERNATIONAL

BERNARD L. SCHWARTZ

(Director since 1992)

CHAIRMAN AND

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
LORAL SPACE &
COMMUNICATIONS LTD.

JIM SCHOEDINGER
PRESIDENT
CARD ISSUING SERVICES

MICHAEL T. WHEALY
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER
GENERAL COUNSEL

JOAN E. SPERO
(Director since 1998)

PRESIDENT, DORIS DUKE
CHARITABLE FOUNDATION

ARTHUR F. WEINBACH"
(Director since 2000)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AUTOMATIC DATA
PROCESSING, INC.

" Member of the First Data Audit Committee

MANAGEMENT TEAM
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Payment Services
This segment contributed 38 percent of the company's revenue
in 2004, Approximately 84 percent of the revenue in this segment
comes from the Western Union money transfer business. In
2004, the Western Union money transfer business achieved
revenue growth of 14 percent over 2003.

The global agent network has exceeded 220,000 locations.
Today, more than 76 percent of Western Union's agent locations
operate outside the United States, and in the high-growth
markets of China and India, Western Union now has more than
40,000 locations in these two countries combined. In 2005, the
agent network is expected to grow by 30,000 locations, further
expanding the Western Union® brand across the globe.

The consistency and long-term strength of Westem
Union is a direct result of the strategic focus on expanding and
diversifying global distribution, building the brand and enhancing
the consumer experience and finally, leveraging channels and
diversifying product offerings.

Merchant Services

In 2004, this segment contributed 36 percent of total First Data
revenue, Merchant revenues, bolstered by the Concord acquisition,
grew 44 percentin 2004 to $3.8 billion with profits up 37 percent
to $990 million. PIN-debit transactions now represent 23 percent
of the total merchant card transactions that we process, and
they have increased 30 percent over 2003 (measured as if First
Data had owned Concord throughout 2003). In addition, merchant
locations increased 32 percent and now total 4.1 million,

FIRST DATA CORPORATION 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

The Merchant Services strategy is to identify and invest
in high-growth portfolios, expand the sales force and increase
sales productivity. The alliance strategy also remains essential to
the segment’s success because it allows the business to effec-
tively cover all segments of the market and leverage not only the
brand, but also those of other well-known financial institutions.
Nine new alliance partners were added in 2004.

Card Issuing Services
Card Issuing Services posted a strong year. Revenues were up
14 percent to $2.4 billion. Profits rose 64 percent over 2003,
During 2004, this segment completed account conversicns for
11 clients totaling 58 million accounts. As of December 31, there
were 406 million accounts on file, up 17 percent over 2003. Card
Issuing Services has built a best-in-class cost structure that is
constantly being fine-tuned to reflect the client base it serves.
The international divisions of our Merchant Services and
Card Issuing Services segments, completed two key acquisitions
in 2004: Cashcard in Australia and Delta Singular—which was
renamed First Data Hellas—in Greece. First Data International exfted
2004 on a $1 bhillion annualized revenue run rate. First Data
International's strategy is to leverage the card processing,
merchant acquiring and ATM capabilities, prioritize market
opportunities and seek to purchase businesses that strengthen
core offerings.
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EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company has evaluated, under the supervision of the
Company's Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer,
the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31,2004, Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December
31, 2004, to ensure that information the Company is required to
disclose in reports that are filed or submitted under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms,

FIRST DATA CORPORATION 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
ON INTERNAL CONTROLS
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. The Company's internal control over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2)
provide reascnable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material
effect on the consolidated financial statements.




Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. All
control systems have inherent limitations so that no evaluation
of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues
are detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controts may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (*COSO” in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment and
those criteria, management believes that the Company main-
tained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on management's
assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting which is contained on page 99.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting
identified in connection with the above evaluation that occurred
during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

b vyl

CHARLES T. FOTE
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

KIM PATMORE

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

GREENWOOD VILLAGE, COLORADO
MARCH 1, 2005

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
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The following data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto and management's
discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations included elsewhere in this annual report.

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contain additional information about various acquisitions, dispositions and certain
charges and benefits resulting from restructurings, impairments, litigation and regulatory settlements, other, investment gains and losses
and divestitures, which affect the comparability of information presented. Certain prior years' amounts have been reclassified to conform to
the current year presentation. The Company classified NYCE as a discontinued operation in 2003, and all periods below have been reclassified
from historically reported results to reflect the impact. 2004 amounts below include Concord since the merger on February 26, 2004, All
results are in millions, except for per share amounts or otherwise noted.

For Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
INCOME STATEMENT DATA:

Revenues @ $10,013.2 $ 84002 $ 7,502.6 $ 66022 $ 59221
Expenses, net of other income/expense @ 7,520.0 6,661.4 5870.1 5,5650.2 47246

Income before income taxes, minority interest, equity
earnings in affiliates, discontinued operations and

cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 2,493.2 18388 1,632.5 1,0520 1,197.6
Income taxes 674.7 463.9 4223 3330 378.7
Minority interest (114.6) (119.6) (96.6) (31.8) (24.5)
Equity earnings in affiliates 163.9 138.7 1186 183.9 1353
Income from continuing operations 1,867.8 1,394.0 1,932.2 8714 920.8
Income from discontinued operations

net of taxes of $21.3, $17.6, $9.9 and $3.8, respectively 7.4 147 5.7 32 -
Cumuiative effect of a change in accounting

principle, net of $1.6 income tax benefit © - — — (2.7) -
Net income $ 1,875.2 $ 14087 $ 12378 $ 8719 $ 9206
Depreciation and amortization $ 7382 $ 5683 $ 5232 $ 6314 $ 5888
PER SHARE DATA FOR CONTINUING OPERATIONS:

Earnings per share—basic © $ 228 $ 1.89 $ 1.63 $ 1.12 $ 1.14
Earnings per share—diluted © 2,22 1.86 1.60 1.10 112
PER SHARE DATA FOR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:

Earnings per share—basic © 0.01 0.02 - - -
Earnings per share~diluted © 0.01 0.02 0.01 - -
Cash dividends per share © 0.08 0.08 0.07 0.04 004
BALANCE SHEET DATA (AT YEAR-END):

Total assets $32,718.8 $25,685.6 $26,691.2 $21,912.2 $17,295.1

Settlement assets 15,697.3 15,1193 16,6885 13,1669 9,816.6
Total liabilities 23,832.7 21,6383 22,4348 18,392.3 13,667.4

Settlement obligations 15,590.8 14,833.2 16,294.3 13,100.6 9,773.2

Borrowings 4,606.3 3,0378 2,581.8 25173 1,780.0

Convertible debt - 537.2 552.7 584.8 50.0
Total stockholders’ equity 8,886.1 40473 4,158.3 35199 3,727.7
SUMMARY OPERATING DATA:

At year-end—

Card accounts on file (s nitins) @ 406.0 3478 3252 3122 3089
For the year—

North America issuer transactions (undions) © 6,818.9 2,605.9 295556 1,804.0 1,729.7

North America merchant transactions (z £ms) 19.8 123 9.9 8.7 80

Consumer-to-consumer money

transfer transactions (o nidims) @ 96.7 81.0 67.8 558 446

Consumer-to-business transactions (s ations ) ™ 146.1 134.0 11983 98.5 63.3

(@ In January 2002, the Company adopted Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF") 0114, “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred,” (EITF 01~
14) which requires that reimbursements received for “out-of-pocket” expenses be characterized as revenue. All periods presented have been restated for the adoption.

(b) Represents the transition adjustment for the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”

@ InMarch 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a 2-for-1 stock split of the Company's common stock to be effected in the form of a stock dividend. Shareholders of record on May 20, 2002
received one share of the Company's common stock for each share owned. The distribution of the shares occurred after the close of business on June 4, 2002. All per share amounts have been retroactively
restated for all periods to reflect the impact of the stock split.

() Card accounts on file at December 31, 2004 include 20.5 million accounts processed by the former Concord,

() North America issuer transactions include VISA and MasterCard signature debit, STAR ATM, STAR PIN-debit POS, and ATM and PIN-debit POS gatewny transactions.

() North America merchant transactions include acquired VISA and MasterCard credit and signature debit, PIN-debit, electronic benefits transactions ("EBT”), and processed-only or gateway customer
transactions at the point of sale (“POS”). North America merchant transactions also include acquired ATM transactions, gateway transactions at ATMs, and STAR PIN-debit POS transactions received

from other acquirers. Pricy year historical FDC amounts have been adjusted to conform to the current year presentation to include EBT.

(@) Consumer—to-consumer money transfer transactions include North America and international consumer money transfer services.

(h) Consumer-to-business transactions include Quick Collect, EasyPay, PhonePay, Paymap's Just-in-Time and Equity Accelerator sevvices, and E Commerce Group's Speedpay transactions directly processed
by E Commerce Group, Amounts include transactions for E Commerce Group and Paymap as if they were consolidated subsidiaries as of January 1, 2000 to provide a more meaningful comparison.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

First Data Corporation (*FDC" or “the Company”), with headquarters
in Greenwood Village, Colorado, operates electronic commerce
and payment services businesses providing money transfer;
merchant transaction processing and acquiring; and credit, retail
and debit card issuing and processing services. FDC operates in
three business segments: Payment Services, Merchant Services
and Card Issuing Services. As discussed in more detail below,
the Company completed its merger with Concord EFS, Inc.
(“Concord®) on February 26, 2004 and aligned the operations of
Concord into each of the Company's three segments. In the
second quarter 2004, the Company purchased Cashcard
Australia Limited (“Cashcard”) and in the third quarter of 2004
purchased Delta Singular Outsourcing Services SA. (subse-
quently renamed “First Data Hellas™). During the first quarter
2004, the Company sold its 7% interest in GCA Holdings, LLC,
the parent company of Global Cash Access LLC (“*GCA"), and in
the third quarter of 2004, the Company sold its 84% interest in
NYCE Corporation (“NYCE").

During first quarter 2004, the Company realigned certain
components of historical segment operations and reclassified
prior period results to reflect these realignments. The realignment
resulted in presenting the former Emerging Payments segment in
All Other and Corporate. A brief description of each segment's
operations, after the above noted actions, is provided below.

Alignment of Concord and Other Acquired Operations
Concord’s operations were assigned to FDC'’s existing segments
based on the services provided and the customer bases served.
Concord's merchant acquiring business and its risk manage-
ment services, which are provided through the majority-owned
subsidiary Primary Payment Systems (“PPS"), are included in the
Merchant Services segment. Concord’s prepaid stored-value
card and transportation-related payment services businesses
are assigned to the Payment Services segment. The STAR®
services and related network businesses are allocated between
the Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services segments
based upon whether the service was provided in an acquiring or
issuing capacity. Services provided to acquirers and merchants
are included in the Merchant Services segment, and services
provided to issuers, which primarily are financial institutions and
their cardholders, are included in the Card lssuing Services
segment. The following illustrative example is provided to assist
in understanding the alignment of STAR network revenues between
the Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services segments but
does not represent the entirety of the services provided by the
Company in either segment:

A point-of-sale (*POS") personal identification number (‘PIN")-
debit transaction occurs when a debit cardholder pays for
merchandise from a merchant with a debit card and the card-
holder enters a PIN as an electronic signature. When the
merchant swipes the PIN-debit card through the POS terminal,
a merchant acquirer (this coutd be FDC or one of its alliances)
‘acquires” the transaction and routes the transaction to the
card issuer through a debit network (STAR or similar network)
for transaction authorization and settlement. The debit
network (STAR) will charge the merchant acquirer a fee (typi-
cally called a network acquirer switch fee) and atso will charge
the issuer a separate fee (typically called an issuer switch fee),

In this circumstance, the fee obtained from the merchant and
expenses incurred to acquire the transaction are recorded in the
Merchant Services segment. Similarly, the fee obtained from
the issuer and expenses incurred to route the transaction to
the issuer and provide cardholder services are recorded in the
Card Issuing Services segment.

The Cashcard and First Data Hellas operations are allocated
to the Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services segments
on the same basis as the Concord operations discussed above,
A majority of Cashcard operations are assigned to the Merchant
Services segment, with the remainder assigned to the Card
Issuing Services segment. A majority of First Data Hellas' opera-
tions are assigned to the Card Issuing Services segment, with
the remainder assigned to the Merchant Services segment.

Payment Services Segment
The Payment Services segment was realigned by moving data
processing services provided to outside customers to the Card
Issuing Services segment. These outsourcing services were
realigned as they are more reflective of the outsourcing services
provided by the Card Issuing Services segment. Additionally,
Concord's transportation-related payment services operations
and prepaid stored-value card operations are included in the
Payment Services segment. The transportation-related payment
services are included in this segment due to similarities in distri-
bution channels, with Western Union agents located in truck
stops and other locations where transportation services customers
obtain cash and pay for fuel and other travel expenses.

A brief explanation of the segment's service and product
offerings is presented below.

CONSUMER~TO-CONSUMER MONEY TRANSFER—Provides money
transfer services to people who periodically need to send funds
to family and friends in other locations, or send or receive cash
quickly in emergency situations.

CONSUMER-TO-BUSINESS BILL PAYMENT SERVICES—Provides
services that facilitate transferring payments from consumers to
utility companies, collection agencies, finance companies, mortgage
lenders and other billers.

OFFICIAL CHECKS AND MONEY ORDERS—Issues official checks
that serve as an alternative to a bank's own disbursement items
such as cashier's or bank checks, and sells money orders through
an agent network of financial institutions and other entities.

PREPAID SERVICES—Develops, implements and manages prepaid
stored-value card issuance and processing services for retailers (eg.,
gift cards) and others, and provides prepaid phone top-up services.

TRANSPORTATION-RELATED PAYMENT SERVICES—Provides
payment processing, settlement and specialized reporting services
for transportation companies and owns and operates automated
teller machines ("ATM") at truck stops.

Merchant Services Segment

In March 2004, the Company sold its 67% interest in GCA, which
comprised the Merchant Services segment's “gaming services!
GCA's historic operating results have been removed from the
Merchant Services segment results. The GCA operating results
from January 2004 to March 2004 and for 2003 and 2002 are
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included in the Consolidated Statements of Income and are
presented as a divested business for purposes of segment reporting
on a retroactive basis. The segment was realigned further by
moving royalty income from Merchant Services into All Other
and Corporate. The royalty income was realigned to conform
with managemernt responsibility and its association with voice
center technology, which resides in All Other and Corporate.
Additionally, Concord’s merchant acquiring services; services
which are provided as part of an acquiring activity in STAR's
debit network operations; and its risk management services,
which are provided through the majerity-owned subsidiary PPS,
are included in the Merchant Services segment. NYCE's cpera-
tions are excluded from the Merchant Services segment as they
are reported as discontinued operations.

A brief explanation of the segment's service and product
offerings is presented below.

MERCHANT ACQUIRING—Facilitates merchants' ability to accept
credit and debit cards by authorizing, capturing and settling
merchants' credit, debit, stored-value and loyally card transac-
tions. Also provides POS devices and other equipment neces-
sary to capture merchant transactions. A majority of these
services are offered through alliance arrangements with major
financial institutions.

CHECK VERIFICATION AND GUARANTEE SERVICES—Uses the
Company's proprietary database system to verify that a check
writer does not have a history of writing bad checks, or to guarantee
that approved checks presented to merchants for payment will
be collectible. These services include risk management services,
which provides software, information and analysis to assist in
deposit, payment, and identity fraud prevention and reduction.

NETWORK ACQUIRING AND PROCESSING SERVICES—Provides
ATM processing, STAR network access, and acquired debit card
transaction processing services such as authorization and settle-
ment for acquirers.

Card Issuing Services Segment
As noted above, data processing services provided to outside
customers that previously were reported as part of the Payment
Services segment were moved to the Card Issuing Services
segment as these outsourcing services are more reflective of
the outsourcing services provided by the Card Issuing Services
segment. Additionally, STAR’s network cperations that provide
issuer-related services are included in this segment.

A brief explanation of the segment'’s service and product
offerings is presented below.

CREDIT AND RETAIL CARD PROCESSING—Provides credit and
retail card processing outsourcing services to financial institutions
and other issuers of cards. Such services include account main-
tenance, transaction authorizing and posting, statement generation
and printing, card embossing, fraud and risk management services
and settlement.

DEBIT NETWORK ISSUING AND PROCESSING SERVICES—
Provides STAR network access for card issuers, ATM/debit and
signature debit card processing services, such as transaction
routing, authorization, card embossing and settlement for issuers,
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> CARD PROCESSING SOFTWARE—Licenses and provides mainte-

nance for the Company’s VisionPLUS card processing software
to financial institutions, retailers and third-party processors
primarily in international markets,

All Other and Corporate

As noted above, the royalty income previously reported as part
of the Merchant Services segment is now presented in All Other
and Corporate. The royalty income was realigned to conform
with management responsibility and its association with voice
center technology which resides in All Other and Corporate. This
category includes corporate operations; Teleservices, a provider
of voice-center services to telecommunications and financial
services industries; and First Data Voice Services, a provider of
Interactive Voice Response (“IVR") services. All Other and
Corporate now includes the eONE Global L.P. (*eONE”) opera~
tions previously reported as the Emerging Payments segment.
This realignment was made as a result of the Company's stra-
tegic plan of reducing the emphasis or this business. The
Company holds a majority ownership interest of approximately
75% in eONE and its subsidiaries. eONE is focused on identi-
fying, developing, commercializing and operating emerging
payment systems and technologies in two areas: government
payments, primarily facilitating electronic tax and other payments,
tax calculations and reporting; and mobile payments, previding
mobile payment processing services and related support.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS

Business Strategy

The Company’s growth strategy is focused on internal revenue
growth, supplemented by acquisitions. The Company focuses its
efforts on developing and expanding new products and services,
and building its consumer brands to serve as the single source,
end-to-end provider of integrated payment solutions. More
detailed information surrounding strategy within each of the
business segments is included in the segment discussions
below. The Company considers strategic investment and acquisition
opportunities, as well as divestitures, as part of its business
strategy. Acquisitions supplement the Company's efforts to
access new markets and client groups, while divestitures have
been completed for businesses that do not complement the
Company’s overall strategic plan. Cash paid and other consider-
ation for acquisitions totaled $7,530.9 million, $157.2 million and
$673.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

FDC's acquisitions typically complement existing products
and services, enhance the Company's product lines and/or
expand its customer base. Due to the complementary nature of
the Company's acquisitions, FDC expects to enhance the
revenue and earnings potential of acquired companies scon
after acquisition. The Company leverages its existing brands,
alliance relationships and infrastructure (e.g, established sales
force, distribution channels, including its 219,000 worldwide
Western Union agent locations, approximately 4.1 million
merchant locations, etc) to complement and introduce the
acquired company's products to new markets, customers and
geographic areas. The Company executed against its growth
strategy in 2004 with the Concord merger; the international
acquisitions of Cashcard and First Data Hellas; investments in
two Italian Western Union super agents, Angelo Costa Sp.A.




{“Angelo Costa”) and Finint Srl (“Finint”); and the addition of
37,000 Western Union locations.

The Company's business model is based largely on
internal growth driven by long-standing client relationships and
contracts. The length of contracts varies across the Company’s
business units, but most are for multiple years. Western Union
agent contracts generally run from three to five years; Merchant
Services alliance agreements, which account for a significant
portion of the Company’s Merchant Services business, have terms
between five and 10 years; contracts with the STAR member
banks generally range from three {o eight years, which impact the
Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services segments; and
Card Issuing Services credit and retail processing contracts
generally have terms between five and 10 years, In the Card Issuing
Services segment, 58 million card issuing accounts were converted
in 2004. During 2004 several key relationships were renewed or
extended including Union Bank of California, Washington Mutual,
Bank of America, CO-OP Network® Chevy Chase Bank and
Regions Financial Corporation, which are STAR member banks,
and World's Foremost Bank, all of which are in the Card Issuing
Services segment; Sovereign Bank in the Merchant Services
segment; and First Data Government Solutions, LP (formerly
govONE Solutions, LP) (*FDGS”) selection as the single provider
of Electronic Federal Tax Payment System (“EFTPS") processing
with its partner bank.

Concord Merger and NYCE Divestiture

On February 26, 2004, the Company completed its merger with
Concord. The transaction was completed pursuant to the exchange
ratio of 0.365 FDC common shares for every Concord common
share, whereby FDC issued 169.8 million shares of FDC common
stock to Concord shareholders, and the outstanding Concord
options were converted to options to purchase 205 million shares of
FDC common stock. This consideration equated to an approximate
purchase price, including acquisition-related costs, of $6.9 billion.
Upon completion of the merger, based on the number of FOC
and Concord shares and stock options outstanding on February
26, 2004, FDC's stockholders immediately subsequent to the
merger owned approximately 81% of FDC's outstanding shares
on a fully diluted basis, and Concord’s former shareholders
owned approximately 19%. The merger qualified as a tax-free
reorganization allowing Concord shareholders to defer any gain
on their shares for U.S. income tax purposes.

On December 15, 2003, the Company announced an
agreement with the U.S. Department of Justice (‘DOJ") that
allowed the Company to complete its merger with Concord. The
Company agreed to divest its 64% ownership of NYCE, an elec-
tronic funds transter network. The Company completed the sale
of NYCE on July 30, 2004 for the purchase price of $610.0 million,
of which $389.6 million was the Company’s share. These proceeds
net of related expenses, including taxes that became due upon
the sale of NYCE, approximate the Company's carrying value of
its investment in NYCE and are subject to potential adjustments
contemplated in the agreement which will be determined at the
end of 2005. For presentation purposes, NYCE is considered a
discontinued operation. Therefore, it is excluded from operating
results and presented in the discontinued operations line on the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Since the completion of the merger, the Company has begun
executing numerous initiatives to integrate Concord into FDC and
reorganize existing FDC businesses. The initiatives include
consolidation of data centers and facilities, products and services,

sales forces and administrative functions. Major initiatives
completed in 2004 include the consolidation of the First Data
Electronic Payment Systems (‘PayPoint”) and Concord BUYPASS
acquiring businesses and consolidation of Concord’s network
settlement functions in Maitland, Florida into the Wilmington,
Delaware platform. Several smaller operations are similarly in
the process of being merged into other existing operations, such
as call centers and other network settlement functions.

The costs of closing FDC's operations and the related
severance are charged to operations. During 2004 this totaled
$5.4 million and was recorded in the restructuring and impairment
line items of the Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company
also recognized expenses during 2004 of approximately $77 million,
related to integration and reorganization efforts which were
recorded in the cost of service and selling, general and adminis-
trative line items of the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Approximately 80% of these expenses were related to the
Merchant Services segment, with the remainder related to the
Payment Services and Card Issuing Services segments and All
Other and Corporate. These expenses were comprised of the
cost of personnel that have been assigned to work exclusively
on the integration, as well as a portion of the personnel costs for
those that are partially dedicated to the integration effort.
Integration and reorganization expenses also included certain
internal and contract system development costs and infrastructure
costs. Certain costs associated with the closing of former Concord
facllities and severing former Concord employees were recorded
as liabilities assumed in purchase accounting, while other costs
associated with Concord employees such as stay bonuses and
enhanced severance were expensed in operations and captured
as an integration expense. As of December 31,2004, $62.4 milfion
of restructuring charges were recorded as liabilities assumed in
purchase accounting, of which $14.3 million related to severance
and $48.1 million related to facility closures.

Other Acquisitions and Divestitures
In March 2004, the Company sold its 67% ownership interest in
GCA, which resulted in net proceeds of $435.6 million and a
pretax gain of $263.8 million. GCA's results of operations through
the divestiture date remain part of the Company’s consolidated
continuing resuits due to FDC receiving cash flows from GCA
from continuing business relationships. For segment reporting
purposes, GCA is presented as a divested business, with Merchant
Services segment revenue and operating profit excluding GCA.
The 2003 and 2002 Merchant Services segment results exclude
GCA revenue and operating profit,

In April 2004, the Company acquired 100% of Cashcard,
a provider of ATM services in the Australian marketplace, for
approximately $260 million in cash and assumed debt. The
transaction facilitated FDC’s entry into the Australian merchant
ATM deployment market. The transaction creates opportunities
for FDC and Cashcard clients, expanding the delivery of services
such as credit and debit POS processing, deployment of
merchant ATMs, check authorization and money transfer, A
majority of Cashcard's operations are assigned to the Merchant
Services segment, with the remainder assigned to the Card
Issuing Services segment. During 2003, Cashcard generated
approximately $65 million in revenue on a calendar-year basis.

In July 2004, the Company acquired First Data Hellas,
the former payment processing and outsourcing division of Delta
Singular S.A, located in Greece, for approximately $320 million
in cash. First Data Hellas provides payments processing and
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outsourcing services including card processing, ATM and POS
driving and call center support. First Data Hellas will provide
payment processing and outsourcing services to existing First
Data Hellas clients, the largest being Alpha Bank. Alpha Bank,
which is a major issuer of VISA cards and the exclusive issuer of
American Express cards in Greece, Is the second largest private
commercial bank in Greece. First Data Hellas entered intc a 10-
year contract at the time of acquisition to continue to provide
payment processing services to Alpha Bank. The Company
anticipates the acquisition will create additional opportunities to
market other FOC services and products in the Greek, Middle
Eastern and European markets. The majority of First Data Hellas’
operations are assigned to the Card Issuing Services segment,
with the remainder assigned to the Merchant Services segment.
During the calendar year 2003, First Data Hellas generated
approximately $60 million in revenue.

In July 2004, the Company purchased a 30% equity
interest in Angelo Costa, one of Western Union's money transfer
agents in [taly, with a network of nearly 3,000 locations throughout
the country. In addition to money transfer services, the agent
provides other financial services to consumers including prepaid
telecom services and prepaid debit cards. In December 2004,
the Company purchased a 30% equity interest in Finint, with a
network of more than 2,000 locations in ltaly.

Other Corporate Developments
During 2004, the Company expended $3.7 billion to repurchase
a total of 88.2 million FDC shares. The Company's board authorized
$2.0 billion in the second quarter 2004 and $ 1.5 billion in the fourth
quarter 2004, under the stock repurchase program, The Company's
remaining repurchase authorization was $905.5 million as of
December 31, 2004, In February 2005, the Company increased
the share repurchase program by $2 billion,

In February 2005, the Company increased its quarterly
dividend to $0.06 per common share from $0.02 per common share.

On September 16,2004, the Company issued $450 million
of 3.90% senior notes due October 1, 2009 and $550 million of
4.85% senior notes due October 1,2014. The Company received
net proceeds of $447.8 million and $547.6 million from these
issuances respectively, which were used to repay a portion of
outstanding commercial paper and for general corporate purposes.

PAYMENT SERVICES SEGMENT

Payment Services, which primarily is comprised of Western
Union money transfer, continues to focus on international growth
by expanding and diversifying its global distribution network,
building the brand and enhancing the consumer experience, and
leveraging channels and diversifying product offerings. During
2004, Western Union and other Payment Services companies
continued to execute against these key strategies.

Western Union continued to expand its agent network
through new domestic and international signings, as well as the
purchases of equity interests in two maney transfer agents in
[taly. A 30% equity interest was acquired in Angelo Costa, with a
network of nearly 3,000 locations throughout ftaly, and a 30%
equity interest was acquired in Finint, with a network of more
than 2,000 locations in ltaly. italy is Western Union's largest
market outside the U.S. Western Union operates through over
480 super agents. As of December 31, 2004, Western Union had
approximately 219,000 agent locations in more than 195 coun-
tries and territories with a backlog of 19,000 locations, which are

FIRST DATA CORPORATION 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

expected to be activated in the next 12 months. Approximately
77% of Western Union agent locations are outside of the U.S,
and the majority of Western Union's international business
occurs outside of the U.S. Western Union was recently granted a
banking license by the Austrian Financial Market Authority,
allowing Western Union to expand the range of products and
services offered to European consumers. Additionally, Western
Union and its agents signed agreements with the Polish Credit
Union and Halcon Viajes, one of the largest travel agencies in
Spain. New domestic locations are being strategically added to
the network to match the international demand. In 2004 Western
Union started offering services to Afghanistan and Iraq.

China and India continue to offer significant fong-term
potential for the Company. Western Union has agreements with
the post offices in both countries, as well as agreements with the
Agricultural Bank of China and various banks and retail Jocations
in India. Currently, Western Union has approximately 40,000 agent
locations in China and India combined. Like most other Western
Union international locations, these new locations will fikely require
between three to five years to realize their potential.

Western Union continues to invest in marketing efforts to
build brand awareness to support long term growth. The global
marketing campaign is focused on building brand awareness,
differentiating the brand, improving the customer experience,
and other marketing programs to drive transaction growth.
Western Union improved the consumer experience through a
variety of initiatives, including simplifying the transaction at the
POS and the usage of loyalty cards. Customers have the oppor-
tunity to gain benefits such as special merchandising offers, as
well as a significant reduction in transaction time through the
use of loyalty cards.

Payments Services offers a diverse portfolio of products
serving the consumer-to-consumer money transfer, consumer-
to-business bill payment, official check, money orders and prepaid
markets. Transactions are initiated at the counter, by telephone,
ATM, on-line at wwwwesternunion.com, or at one of the
Company's 6,900 U.S. money transfer by-phone locations. Western
Union continues to test new services including consumer to bank
accounts, as well as assess additional strategic global acquisitions
to continue to meet the needs of a diverse consumer base.

Western Union continues to experience vigorous compe-
tition in the traditional money transfer and bill payment businesses
and is encountering expanded competition from banks, ATM
providers and card associations as well as traditional service
providers; informal payment networks; web, phone pay (including
mobile phone) and card-based service providers; as well as
overnight mail and courier services. To effectively compete with
these new channels Western Union is developing consumer to
bank account payout options in response to the evolving
competitive landscape. Western Union’s money transfer business
to, from or within a country may be affected by a number of
political, regulatory compliance and economic factors. From time
to time, transactions within or between countries may be limited
or prohibited by law. Additionally, economic or political instability
may make money transfers to, from or within a particular country
difficult, as when banks are closed, devaluation of the currency
makes it difficult to manage exchange rates, or civil unrest makes
access to Western Union agent locations unsafe. Emigration
patterns, new regulations, changing economic conditions, the
geo-political environment, competition and other factors can
impact both transactions and revenues. In the third quarter of
2004 Western Union operations were affected by a banking




strike in Brazil and the hurricanes in the southern U.S. and the
Caribbean. The above noted items did not have a material affect
on the Company's results.

The Company's money transfer and bill payment service
businesses are subject to regulation in the U.S. by the federal
government and most of the states. In addition, the money
transfer business is subject to some form of regulation in each
of the 195 countries and territories in which such services are
offered. The Company has developed compliance programs to
monitor regulatory requirements and developments, and to
implement policies and procedures to help satisfy these require-
ments. It is important to recognize, however, that the Company’s
money transfer network operates through independent agents
in most countries and the Company’s ability to contro! the
compliance activities of such agents is limited. The Company
continues to enhance compliance programs focused on agent
training and meonitoring to help satisfy legal and regulatory
compliance by its agents.

The number and complexity of regulations around the
world, and the pace at which such regulation is changing, poses
a significant challenge to the Company's money transfer business.
A violation of law may result in civil or criminal penalties or a
prohibition against a money transmitter and/or its agents from
providing money transfer services in a particular jurisdiction. In
recent years federal and certain state regulatory departments
have alleged deficiencies with respect to Western Union’s trans-
action reporting and compliance programs. Western Union has
reached agreements with such regulatory departments without
admission of wrongdoing. The U.S. Department of Treasury has
required that money transmitters conduct due diligence and
risk-based monitoring of their agents. The Company continues
to enhance its regulatory compliance activities to address the
requirements of domestic and international regulations. These
additional efforts increase the Company’s costs of doing busi-
ness. The Company believes that the trend toward additional
regulation will continue, and that the Company’s compliance
with worldwide regulation may provide a competitive advantage
in the future.

MERCHANT SERVICES SEGMENT

Merchant Services continues to expand its position in the credit,
signature debit and PIN-debit processing markets through the
strength of the alliance partrers, including JPMorgan Chase and
Wells Fargo; the merger with Concord and the international
acquisitions of Cashcard and First Data Hellas; focused sales
force efforts; and the development of new POS technologies
and payment methods.

With the merger of Concord, the Merchant Services segment
expanded its merchant acquiring and debit network business
through the addition of Concord merchants, which complemented
the existing merchant base by adding supermarkets, major
retailers, gas stations, convenience store and restaurants; and
the addition of the STAR debit network, which is a national debit
network in the U.S. Concord contributed approximately 400,000
merchant locations for a total merchant location base of 4.1 million
at December 31, 2004. The integration has focused on the consol-
idation of sales forces, data centers, network settlement functions,
facilities, products and services and administrative functions.

In the third and fourth quarters of 2004, the Company
and Bank of America signed several new agreements, Under
one agreement, the STAR network will begin to process PIN-
debit transactions for a portion of Bank of America's portfolio. In

addition, a majority of Bank of America ATMs will continue to
participate in the STAR network. Additional services such as
remittance processing, plastics, card activation services, and risk
management services will be provided for Bank of America. The
Card Issuing Services and Merchant Services segments primarily
will benefit from these agreements.

The relationships the Company maintains with its bank
alliance partners is a key strategy for the Merchant Services
segment. The relationships take the form of revenue-sharing
arrangements and investments accounted for either under the
equity method or consolidation accounting. This alliance strategy
with bank partners provides the Company with broad geographic
coverage, both regionally and nationally. The alliance partners
have presence in various industries that have a wide product
mix, which allows for the Company to enter into these multiple
markets and provide coverage through the alliance partnership.
The alliance structure provides merchant customers the ability
to choose their bank partner while stili benefiting from First Data
as the processor. Additionally, bank partners provide brand loyalty

. and a distribution channel through their branch networks which

increases merchant retention. As of December 31, 2004 there
were in excess of 40 participating banks in the alliance program
with nine of them becoming partners in 2004. The Company is
replicating this alliance strategy internationally. The Company
will continue to evaluate merchant portfolios that are not branded
and in which the Company has been unable to distribute to the
Company's alliance partners.

Consolidation among financial institutions could nega-
tively impact FDC's alliance strategy, especially where the banks
involved are committed to merchant processing businesses that
compete with the Company. Conversely, if an existing alliance
bank partner acquires new merchant business this could result
in such business being contributed to the alliance. In July of 2004,
JPMorgan Chase (part owner of the Company's Chase Merchant
Services alliance) merged with Bank One (part owner of the
Company’s Paymentech alliance). The Company and the combined
bank are in discussions regarding the possible restructuring of
those alliances.

There also have been developing trends in the competitive
landscape whereby card associations are expanding their business
models, VISA is emerging as a more direct competitor as it
expands its suite of service offerings to merchants and financial
institutions while continuing its role in the settlement of VISA
transactions and its ownership of the Interlink branded debit
network. Such services may result in VISA significantly expanding
its presence in the merchant acquiring market.

Merchant Services segment revenues are driven largely
by the number of transactions (and, to a lesser degree, dollar
volumes); therefore, this segment is the least insulated from
economic slowdowns. Several economic indicators show
consumer spending was relatively soft in 2004 until the summer,
when consumer spending became more robust because of the
ongoing recovery in the labor market and the general economy.
Enhancing this growth and counterbalancing the future impacts
of a soft economy is consumers’ increased use of credit, debit
and stored-value cards in place of cash and checks, although
decreased use of checks negatively affects the Company’s
check guarantee and veritication business. The Company expects
that if consumer spending increases in correlation to an improved
economy, the Company will experience a relatively proportionate
increase in transactions.
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The Company experienced significant growth in the PIN-
debit market in 2004 that significantly exceeded the credit market
and the Company expects this growth trend to continue. Trends
in consumer spending between national, regional and boutique
merchants impact revenue and operating margins as revenue per
transaction and operating margins from national merchants are
typically less than regional and boutique merchants. The segment
has historically experienced three to five percent price compression
on average, with price compression for the national merchants being
higher. As consumers shift spending to national merchants and
the Company experiences additional competition for national
merchant contracts, results of operations could be negatively
impacted if increased transaction volume is not sufficient to compen-
sate for the lower pricing. The Company currently mitigates this
impact through a diverse mix of national, regional and boutique
merchants; expense reductions and enhanced product offerings.

International expansion, cross-selling First Data's products,
the shift from paper-based to electronic payment transactions,
and the internet represent growth opportunities for the Merchant
Services segment. During 2004 the Company acquired Cashcard
and First Data Hellas which provided a presence in Australia and
Greece, respectively. Internet payments continue to account for
a small portion of the segment’s transactions. While transactions
over the internet may involve increased risk, these transactions
typically generate higher profits for the Company. The Company
continues to enhance its fraud detection and other systems to
address such risks.

CARD ISSUING SERVICES SEGMENT

Card Issuing Services continues to focus on converting its
account pipeline; leveraging the cash flows of the business;
maximizing productivity and system capacity in output services
and plastics; growing through expansion into adjacent markets
such as healthcare; and making selective acquisitions, which
included Concord's STAR debit network and the international
acquisitions of Cashcard and First Data Hellas.

The Company has relationships and many long-term
customer contracts with card issuers providing credit and retail
card processing, as well as debit network issuing and processing
services through the STAR network. The weighted-average
length of these contracts from original signing or most recent
term extension is approximately six years. These contracts
generally require a notice period prior to the end of the contract
if a client chooses not to renew and some contracts may allow
for early termination upon the occurrence of certain events such
as a change in control. The termination fees paid upon the
occurrence of such events are primarily designed to cover
balance sheet exposure associated with the contract; and in
some cases, may cover a portion of lost future revenue and
profit, however, rot in all instances. Although these contracts
may be terminated upon certain occasions, the contracts provide
the segment with a steady revenue stream since a vast majority
of the contracts are honared through the contracted expiration
date. Consolidation of card portfolios either via financial institution
consolidation or sale, has led to an increasingly concentrated
client base in the industry, resulting in a changing client mix for
Card Issuing Services. Significant credit card processing contracts
that were terminated or are in the process of deconverting
include People’s Bank, FleetBoston, HSBC, Bank One, and
JPMorgan Chase, in addition to STAR's PIN-debit contracts with
Wells Fargo and Wachovia.
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In the first quarter of 2004, People's Bank and Bank of
America notified the Company of their intention to deconvert the
People’s and FleetBoston card processing portfolios, respectively.
The Peaple’s credit card accounts were deconverted in 2004
and the majority of FleetBoston's approximately 12 million
accounts are expected to be deconverted in the first quarter of
2005. in 2003 Bank One notified the Coempany of its intent to
not renew its contract for processing services. After closing its
acquisition of Bank One, JPMorgan Chase also notified the
Company of its intent to move its card processing business from
the Company’s system. Bank One's 43 million accounts were
deconverted in August and October of 2004, and the Company
expects JPMorgan Chase's 34 million accounts to deconvert
early in the third quarter 2005, For the year ended December 31,
2004, JPMorgan Chase and Bank One's combined transaction
and processing revenue and reimbursable postage revenue
represented 9.7% and 7.6%, respectively, of the Card Issuing
Services segment's total revenue and 2.3% and 1.8%, respec-
tively, of FDC's total consclidated revenue. These above noted
developments are part of the financial institution consolidation
trend previously identified by the Company. In addition, approxi-
mately six million HSBC international accounts are expected to
deconvert in the first quarter of 2006,

Since the closing of the Concord transaction on February
26, 2004, more than 670 STAR contracts were established or
renewed between STAR and its member banks, the most significant
of which were Union Bank of California, Washington Mutual, Bank
of America, Chevy Chase Bank, Regions Financial Corporation
and CO-OP Network® CO-OP Network is the nation's largest
credit union electronic funds transfer network and the renewal
will allow CO-OP to continue to market STAR PIN-debit services
to its credit union members. In connection with the merger, the
Company estimated the impact of anticipated terminated contracts,
including Wells and Wachovia, at approximately $100 million of
Concord's historic annualized revenue, and to date has experi-
enced less than this amount on an annualized basis; however,
the Company expects the impact to be within the $100 million
annualized range by the end of 2005.

The new Bank of America agreement discussed above in
the Merchant Services segment as well as agreements with
Capital One and Providian will benefit the Card lssuing Services
segment in 2005, The Capital One agreement will also benefit
the Payment Services segment. Additionally, an agreement was
signed with Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska to provide
data center services.

The Company restructured certain domestic and interna-
tional businesses within the Card Issuing Services segment to
address the cost structure as a result of the deconversions
discussed above.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had a total of
406 million accounts on file, of which 370 million were domestic
and 36 million were international. Included in the domestic accounts
on fite are the 20.5 million added as a result of the Concord
merger. At December 31, 2004, the Company had a pipeline of
approximately 50 million accounts, of which 31 million were
converted in January 2008. The Company expects accounts on
file growth to continue to exceed revenue growth as the card
type mix shifts toward retail versus bankcard with the Bank One
and JPMorgan Chase account deconverions, and the pipeline
primarily representing retail accounts. Retail accounts have
increased from 34% in 2003 to 48% in 2004 of Card Issuing
Services' total card accounts on file and are expected to represent




approximately 60% by the end of 2005. Retail account portfolios
typically have a lower proportionate share of active accounts
than bankcard account portfolios. In addition coniract pricing is
dependent upon volume of accounts and transactions.

The underlying economic drivers of card issuance are
population demographics and employment. New cardholders are
predominantly people aged 18-24, a demographic segment that
has been growing at a faster pace than the general population
in recent years. Strengthening in the economy typically results in
an improved credit risk profile, allowing card issuers tc be more
aggressive in their marketing campaigns to issue more cards.
The Company continues to see a shift to the use of PIN-debit
cards from credit, signature debit, checks and cash. These trends
will continue for the Company with the inclusion of PIN-debit
transactions processed by the STAR debit network. PIN-debit
transactions have been the fastest growing type of transaction.

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

Through FDGS, a subsidiary of eONE Global, LP (“eONE"), the
Company provides electronic tax processing services as a
subcontractor for a partner bank, which has contracted with the
US. Department of Treasury, Financial Management Service
(“FMS"), to be a provider of EFTPS. Historically, FDGS has been
one of two providers of such services. In March 2004, FDGS and
its partner bank were informed that FMS intended to contract
with them to be the single provider of EFTPS services based on
proposed new terms submitted by FDGS and its partner bank.
FDGS completed the transition of the services from the other
provider in the fourth quarter 2004.

In connection with the formation of the eONE partnership
in November 2000, the Company agreed to contribute up to
$100 million to eONE, its approximately 75% owned subsidiary,
in the event that FDGS's contract with its partner bank related to
the EFTPS contract is not renewed or is renewed on terms which
are materially worse than the then existing contract and has a
material adverse effect on the FDGS business. At this time, the
Company does not know if a contribution will be required or, if
required, the amount of such contribution.

During the fourth quarter 2004, FDGS and its partner
bank were selected by the State of California to be the sole
service provider for their State Disbursement Unit (*SDU") program.
The new SDU contract was finalized during the first quarter
2005, and implementation has commenced under the terms of
the contract. Operations are expected to begin during third
quarter 2005 with full rollout by second quarter 2006.

COMPONENTS OF REVENUE
AND EXPENSES

The following briefly describes the components of operating revenue
and expenses as presented in the Consolidated Statements of
Income. Descriptions of the revenue recognition policies are
included in Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

TRANSACTION AND PROCESSING SERVICE FEES—Revenues
are based on a per transaction fee, a percentage of dollar volume
processed, accounts on file or some combination thereof. These
revenues represent approximately 87% of FDC's revenues for
the year ended December 31, 2004, and are most reflective of
the Company's core business performance. Payment Services
segment revenue is primarily earned from transaction fees

charged to Western Union consumers sending money transfers.
Merchant Services segment revenue is comprised primarily of fees
charged to merchants and processing fees charged to alliances
accounted for under the equity method. Merchant discount
revenue from credit card and signature debit card transactions
acquired from merchants is recorded net of interchange and
assessments charged by the credit card associations, while
debit network fees from PIN-debit card transactions acquired
from merchants are recorded gross with the associated network

fee recorded in cost of services. Merchant Services revenues

include check guarantee and verification fees which are charged
on a per transaction basis or as a percentage of the face value
of the check. Card Issuing Services revenue related to credit and
retail card processing is comprised primarily of fees charged to
the issuer based on cardholder accounts on file, both active and
inactive. Debit network issuing and processing service fees are
typically based on transaction volumes processed.

INVESTMENT INCOME, NET—Revenue is derived primarily from
interest generated by settlement assets within the Payment
Services and Merchant Services segments, and realized net gains
and losses from such assets. This revenue is recorded net of
associated hedges and officiat check agents’ commissions.

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES—Revenue is recognized from custom
programming and system consulting services by the Card Issuing
Services segment and by FDGS in All Other and Corporate.

SOFTWARE LICENSING AND MAINTENANCE—Software licensing
and maintenance revenue is generated primarily from the
VisionPLUS software in the Card Issuing Services segment and
from FDGS software in All Other and Corporate.

PRODUCT SALES AND OTHER—Sales and leasing of POS devices
in the Merchant Services segment are the primary drivers of this
revenue component, providing a recurring revenue stream, This
component also includes incentive payments, contract termination
fees, royalty income and gain/loss from the sale of merchant
portfolios, all of which occur less frequently but are considered
a part of ongoing operations.

REIMBURSABLE POSTAGE AND OTHER—This component and the
offsetting expense caption represent postage, telecommunications
and similar costs that are passed through to customers.

COST OF SERVICES—This caption includes the costs directly
associated with providing services to customers and includes the
following: telecommunications costs, personnel and infrastructure
costs to develop and maintain applications and operate computer
networks and associated customer support, PiN-debit network
fees, losses on check guarantee services and merchant charge-
backs, commissions paid to money transfer agents, depreciation
and amortization expense, and other operating expenses.

COST OF PRODUCTS SOLD—These costs include those directly
associated with product and software sales such as cost of POS
devices, merchant terminal leasing costs, and software licensing and
maintenance costs and associated amortization and depreciation.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE—This caption primarily
consists of salaries, wages, and related expenses paid to sales
personnel, administrative employees and management, advertising
and prometional costs and other selling expenses.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion for both results of operations and
segment results refers to the year ended December 31, 2004
versus the same period in 2003, and the year ended December
31, 20083 versus the same period in 2002. As discussed above in
“Business Overview,' results of operations for prior periods have
been reclassified to reflect the segment realignments. The 2004
results of operations include the Concord results of operations
from the February 26, 2004 merger date. Consolidated results
should be read in conjunction with segment results, which
provide more detailed discussions concerning certain compo-
nents of the Consolidated Statements of Income. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated,
including the operations between the former Concord busi-
nesses and FDC. Due to the Concord integration of sales forces,

Consolidated Results

operating systems and certain operations, certain transaction types
historically processed by FDC are now being processed by the
former Concord operations; with the same being true of historic
Concord transaction types being processed by FDC. In the
following discussion of the consolidated and segment results of
operations, the growth rates identified as excluding acquisitions
and dispositions are approximations of what operations may
have been had the acquisitions and dispositions not occurred.
Note that the adjusted revenue and transaction growth rates are
only approximations and are provided to illustrate a general indicator
of the impact of acquisitions and dispositions. Additionally, the
Company cannot provide a reasonable estimate of Concord’s
impact on expenses, and therefore operating profit, since many
of the functions previously performed by Concord employees
are now being performed by FDC employees.

Percent Change

% of Total % of Total % of Total 2004 2003
2004 Revenue 2003 Revenue 2002  Revenue vs. 2003  vs, 2002
REVENUES:
Transaction and processing service fees $ 8,706.6 87%  $7,1063 85% $6,445.1 86% 23% 10%
Investment income, net 91.2 1 143.8 2 97.3 1 37 48
Professional services 89.9 1 102.9 1 11865 2 (13) an
Software licensing and maintenance 63.4 - 53.4 - 62.9 ~ 19 (15)
Product sales and other 478.3 5 385.5 5 2753 4 24 40
Reimbursable postage and other 583.8 6 608.3 7 506.5 7 (4) 20
$10,013.2 100%  $8,4002 100% $7,502.6 100% 19% 12%
EXPENSES:
Cost of services $ 51406 520  $4,235.1 51% $3,728.8 50% 21% 14%
Cost of products sold 2231 2 204.4 2 1895 3 9 8
Selling, general and administrative 1,6105 16 1,375.0 16 1,270.5 17 17 8
Reimbursable postage and other 583.8 6 608.3 7 5065 7 4 20
Other operating expenses, net 121.4 1 39.1 1 739 - 210 (47)
$ 76794 77% $6,461.9 77% $5,769.2 77% 19% 12%
interest income $ 251 * $ 75 : $ 50 : 235% 50%
Interest expense (136.8) * (107.1) * (1108) ' 28 ©))
Investment gains and (losses) 5.9 * (6.7) . 0.7 . * ’
Divestitures, net 265.2 * 6.8 . 42 . . :
Income taxes §74.7 * 463.9 . 4223 ‘ 45 10
Minority interest (114.6) * (119.6) . (96.6) ' 4) 24
Equity earnings in affiliates 163.9 * 138.7 : 118686 : 18 17
Discontinued operations 7.4 > 147 5.7 - (50) 158
Net income $ 1,875.2 18% $1,4087 17% $1.2379 16% 33% 14%
Diluted earnings per share
continuing operations $ 222 $ 186 $ 180 19% 16%

Calculation not meaningful.
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Operating revenues overview

The increase in total revenues was driven by all reported segments

experiencing positive revenue growth in the years ended

December 31,2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, due to increased

transactions and card accounts on file, including the addition of

Concord from the February 26, 2004 merger date. The following

provides highlights of revenue growth while a more detailed

discussion is included in the Segment Results section below:

> The Payments Services and Merchant Services segments
combined accounted for approximately 81% and 96% of the
increase in transaction and processing service fees for the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Consolidated transaction and processing service fee reve-
nue grew approximately 9% and 8% for the years ended

. December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, excluding the
impact of business acquisitions less than a year old, the majority
of which is attributed to Concord, and the GCA and merchant
portfolio dispositions. The Payment Services segment had an
increase of approximately 37,000 worldwide Western Union
agent locations as of December 31, 2004 when compared to
December 31, 2003, thereby increasing the number of loca-
tions available for money transfers to approximately 219,000
locations. Agent location growth in 2004 and 2003 was 20%
and 21%, respectively. These additional agent locations, incre-
mental marketing investments and increased money transfers
at maturing locations contributed to increased transaction
volume internationally and domestically. The Merchant Services
segment experienced revenue and transaction growth in
2004 as a result of the merger with Concord, and in 2004 and
2003 from increased debit network fees, international opera-
tions, and the continued penetration into debit markets as
consumers replace cash and check transactions with debit and
credit transactions, as well as internal growth experienced by
merchants, which indirectly impact revenue for the Company.
The Compahy anticipates these positive revenue and transac-
tion growth trends will continue in future periods, similar to
historical rates after the anniversary of the Concord merger in
the first quarter 2005,

> Substantially all investment income relates to the Payment
Services segment's official check business. Investment
income was impacted in 2004 by changes in interest rates
over the same period last year, portfolio yields, and reduced
gains realized upon liquidation of certain portfolio investments.
Increased investment income in 2003 was driven by income
from higher investable balances and gains recognized on
liquidation of certain portfolio investments, offset by realized
losses on derivative instruments used to hedge commissions
paid to selling agents. Investment income is expected to
continue to decline into 2005 when compared to prior pericds
and is expected to be negative as the expected rise in interest
rates will limit realized gains on the sale of portfolio invest-
ments and increase the commissions paid to selling agents
which will be only partially offset by lower realized losses on
hedges. A majority of the income from the portfolio invest-
ments is tax exempt. The Company will continue to realize
tax-free earnings on these investments. For segment reporting
purposes, these tax-free earnings are reflected on a pretax
equivalent basis (i.e, as if investment earnings on nontaxable
seftlement assets were fully taxable at FDC's marginal tax
rate). The revenue and operating profit impact of the segment
presentation is eliminated in consolidation.

> The increase in product sales and other revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2004 over the comparable 2003 period
is attributable to Concord terminal operations in 2004 and a
gain on the sale of merchant portfolios of approximately $101
million in 2004 compared with gains of $71 million in 2003.
Also impacting results are the first three months of TeleCash’s
revenue before the anniversary of its March 2003 acquisition
date. Partially offsetting the growth for each period was less
royalty income than the prior year. The increase in 2003 over
2002 was attributable to the March 2003 acquisition of
TeleCash and the incremental gains on the sales of merchant
portfolios recognized in 2003,

> The 2004 decrease over 2003 in reimbursable postage
revenue and the corresponding expense decline are due to
deconverted clients and volume declines in the subprime
market, partially offset by new business in the Card [ssuing
Services segment. The Company expects a slight increase in
reimbursable postage and other revenue in 2005 after consid-
ering account conversions and cther new business in 2005
partially offset by deconversions. The 2003 revenue and
corresponding expense growth was due to volume growth
and a postage rate increase in June 2002 in the Card Issuing
Services segment.

Operating expenses overview

Operating expenses, which include cost of services; cost of

products sold, and selling, general and administrative expenses,

remained relatively constant as a percentage of revenue for all

years presented. The increase in the dollar amount of total oper-

ating expenses resulted from growth in the Company's core

businesses and acquisitions.

> The cost of services increase in 2004 and 2003 resulted from
higher Western Union agent commissions, which increased in
proportion to increased revenue, with the most significant
increase in 2004 over 2003 related to the acquisition of
Concord, including debit network fees. The increase in cost of
services as a percentage of revenue is driven by increased
debit network fees.

> The increase in cost of products sold in 2004 and 2003 is
attributable to the Merchant Services POS terminal sales since
the first quarter 2003 acquisition of TeleCash and the first
quarter 2004 Concord merger.

> Selling, general and administrative expenses remained relatively
consistent as a percentage of revenue for all years presented
due to the Company's ability to leverage its overhead costs
and shared services functions (e.g. accounting, payroll, legal
etc.) as acquisitions continued to be integrated. The selling,
general and administrative expenses increase in 2004 is due
to the Concord merger and the acquisitions of Cashcard and
First Data Hellas; the 2004 and 2003 increased marketing
and advertising in Western Union markets; and other items
associated with the growth of the Company.

Other operating expenses, net

Other operating expenses related to restructuring, asset impair-
ments, litigation and regulatory settlements and other charges
totaled $121.4 million, $39.1 million and $73.9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

31



32

2004 Activities

Pretax Benefit (Charge)

Payment Merchant Card Issuing All Other and

Year ended December 31, 2004 Services Services Services Corporate Totals
Restructuring charges $(3.1) $ (89 $(29.4) $(24.2) $ (65.8)
Restructuring accrual reversals 0.7 0.1 1.1 02 2.1

Impairments (0.8) (2.3) 8.1 (5.5) 0.5)
Litigation and reguiatory settlements - (324) - - (32.4)
Other - (25.0) - - (25.0)
Total pretax charges, net of reversals $(32) $(68.5) $(20.2) $(29.5) $(121.4)

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

The restructuring charges were comprised of severance totaling
$66.8 million and facility closures totaling $8.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004, Severance charges resulted
from the termination of approximately 310 employees across the
organization for the year ended December 31, 2004 representing
all levels of employees and approximately 3% of the Company's
workforce. The Company had cost savings resulting from these
restructurings of approximately $30.0 million in 2004 and expects
savings of approximately $66.0 million in 2005. The following
describes the nature and timing of the restructuring plans by
segment:

PAYMENT SERVICES

> Severance costs resulted from the consolidation of various
international functions into Dublin, Ireland. The restructuring
plan was completed in the first quarter of 2004.

> Charges were incurred related to the lease termination of a
facility that was restructured and combined with another FDC
facility. This restructuring plan was completed in the second
quarter of 2004,

MERCHANT SERVICES

> Severance charges resulted from the planned closure of
certain FDC operations and locations, including a Cardservice
International, Inc. (“CSI") call center operation, a TeleCheck
Services, Inc. {*TeleCheck”) data center and a PayPoint debit
processing center and elimination of certain positions as a
result of the Company's reorganization done in conjunction
with the Concord integration. All of the above noted restruc-
turing plans were completed in 2004,

> Severance charges were also incurred related to the continued
integration of international support functions between the
Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services segments that
began in 2003. This restructuring plan was completed in the
first quarter of 2004.

> In connection with the dissolution of a joint venture, the
Company paid for the severance of joint venture employees.

> Severance charges were also incurred related to the restruc-
turing of the Company's TeleCash Germany operations in an
effort to create operational efficiencies. The plan was
completed in the fourth quarter of 2004,

CARD ISSUING SERVICES

> Severance charges resulted from the integration of interna-
tional support functions with Merchant Services, as noted
above. This plan was completed in the first quarter of 2004,
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Charges were also incurred related to the lease buyout of a
facility in the United Kingdom after it was determined that the
facility could not fuffill the Company's needs, The plan was
completed in the first quarter of 2004.

Charges were also recognized related to the integration of
international operations including the Cashcard acquisition,
and the associated effort to create operational efficiencies,
which were completed in the third quarter of 2004.
Severance charges were recognized during 2004 as part of the
ongoing initiative to streamline operations both domestically
and internationally. The plans were completed by the fourth
quarter 2004,

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

>

Charges related to severance resulting from the consolidation
of certain existing FDC administrative operations with Concord
and the restructuring of the purchasing and human resources
departments were recorded. These plans were completed
through the first three quarters of 2004,

There were a number of restructuring actions within eONE.
eONE severance charges were a result of eONE's decision to
slow the rate of investment in certain product offerings due to
market immaturity, controlling costs, the sale of an eONE business
and reductions of the overall management structure at eONE.
Part of these severance charges included the elimination of
several senior management positions. A charge of $10.9 million
related to certain of these senior managers also was incurred
due to their right upon termination under certain circumstances
to sell shares purchased at the time of eéONE's formation to
eONE at the original purchase price. Some of the restructuring
plans were completed in the second quarter of 2004 with the
remaining completed in the third quarter of 2004.

Charges were incurred in the second quarter of 2004 related to
a Corporate facility lease in Georgia, as it was determined that
the current facility could no longer fulfill the Company's needs. The
restructuring plan was completed in the second quarter of 2004.

REVERSAL OF RESTRUCTURING ACCRUALS

The Company reversed $2.1 million of prior period restructuring
accruals. Reversals related to changes in estimates regarding
severance costs and lease terminations from restructuring activities
in 2003, 2001 and 2000.




The following table summarizes the Company's utilization
of restructuring accruals for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2004 (in millions):

Emplayee Facility

Severance Closure
Remaining accrual at January 1, 2003 $ 15 $44
Expense provision 30.1 03
Cash payments and other (12.8) 1.2)
Changes in estimates 09 (18
Remaining accrual at December 31, 2003 $179 $19
Expense provision 56.8 88
Cash payments and other (49.7) (7.4)
Changes in estimates 13) 0.8)
Remaining accrual at December 31, 2004 $237 $25

IMPAIRMENTS

> The Payment Services and Merchant Services segment charges
related to the write-down of leasehold improvements associated
with certain domestic restructuring activities and an impairment
of software that is no longer being fully utilized due to system
decisions influenced by the integration of Concord.

> The Card Issuing Services segment includes a $12.0 million
recovery of costs associated with a 2002 impairment of capital-
ized customer contract costs related to a customer bankruptcy.

Also in this segment are charges related to the impairment of
software that is no longer being utilized.

> The All Other and Corporate charges include the write-down
of fixed assets and goodwill associated with facility closures
which were part of the restructuring actions noted above of
$2.2 miliion for the year ended December 31, 2004 and an
impairment of Encorus software due to diminished demand
for a product offering in the first quarter of 2004 of $3.3 million.

LITIGATION AND REGULATORY SETTLEMENTS

Litigation charges of $32.4 million were recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2004, related to a lawsuit associated with
a consolidated merchant alliance in the Merchant Services
segment. Minority interest benefits of $15.4 million related to
these charges were recognized in the minority interest line on
the Consclidated Statements of Income.

OTHER

During the first quarter of 2004, the Company recognized a
$25.0 million pretax charge related to adjustments for TeleCheck
accounting entries that originated primarily during 2002 and
2003. The Company is undertaking a comprehensive review of
this business, and assessing the overall strategic fit of the
collections business in TeleCheck.

2003 Activities
Pretax Benefit (Charge)
Payment Merchant Card Issuing Alt Other and

Year ended December 31, 2003 Services Services Services Corporate Totals
(22 mitlipns )

Restructuring charges $(3.5) $ (6.7) $(16.2) $(4.0) $(30.4)
Restructuring accrual reversals 05 07 1.0 0.3 2.5
Impairments - - (5.0} (1.2) (62)
Litigation and regulatory settlements - (5.0) - - (6.0)
Total pretax charges, net of reversals $(3.0) $(11.0) $(20.2) $(4.9) $(39.1)

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

The restructuring charges were comprised of severance totaling
$30.1 million and $0.3 million related to lease termination losses.
Severance charges resulted from the termination of approximately
740 employees across the organization, representing all levels
of employees and less than 3% of the Company's workforce.
The following describes the nature and timing of the restruc-
turing plans by segment:

PAYMENT SERVICES

> Charges related to severance costs associated with the rebal-
ancing of resources from domestic operations to international
operations. This rebalancing was necessary to support the
Company's focus and success in international expansion of
agents and increase its international transactions. The restruc-
turing plan was completed in the third quarter of 2003.

MERCHANT SERVICES

> Severance charges resulted from the consolidation of certain
domestic sales and support functions and the elimination of
redundant positions in the merchant acquiring and check veri-
fication and guarantee business.

> Severance charges were also incurred to integrate interna-
tional support functions between the Merchant Services and
Card Issuing Services segments. As part of the integration,

lease termination losses were recognized due to the closure
of a TeleCheck facility. These actions were done to support
the Company’s move towards obtaining operating efficiencies
and consolidation of areas of expertise.

> The domestic and international restructuring plans were
completed in the third quarter of 2003.

CARD ISSUING SERVICES

> Severance charges resulted from the streamlining of the
domestic operations and realignment of operating expenses
to address declining segment revenues. This restructuring
plan was completed in the third quarter 2003.

> Charges were also incurred related to the integration of inter-
national support functions with Merchant Services as noted
above. As part of this effort, a lease termination loss was
recognized in the combination of facilities into one location in
Australia. This international plan was completed in fourth
quarter 2003.

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

> Charges related to the consolidation of certain human
resource and payroll functions to the Denver and Omaha
locations. The restructuring plan was completed in the third
quarter of 2003.
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> Severance charges resulted from the consolidation of Encorus
operations, which resulted in the closure of the Leipzig,
Germany facility. This consolidation was done in an effort to
reduce fixed operating costs and to outsource software
development activities. This portion of the restructuring plan
was completed in the fourth quarter of 2003.

> Charges also were incurred related to the combination of the
BillingZone and Taxware operations under the Velosant struc-
ture. This portion of the restructuring plan was completed in
the third quarter of 2008. Additional restructuring activities
occurred in the first quarter of 2004 for these businesses.

REVERSAL OF RESTRUCTURING ACCRUALS

The Company reversed $2.5 million of prior period restructuring
accruals. The change in estimate was due to the favorable resolution
of a customer contract related to the discontinuance of the

Payment Card Soluticns operations in the second quarter 2001,
favorable terminations of lease agreements related to the third
quarter 2000 Card Issuing Services segment restructuring and
an adjustment of severance costs related to the first quarter
2002 eONE restructuring.

IMPAIRMENTS

The Company recognized $6.2 million of asset impairment
charges, the majority of which related to the lack of sufficient
demand to support the Company’s investment in its domestic
micro-chip smart card product.

LITIGATION AND REGULATORY SETTLEMENTS
A litigation charge of $5.0 million was recorded related to a
lawsuit associated with the Merchant Services segment.

2002 Activities
Pretax Benefit (Charge)
Payment Merchant Card Issuing All Other and

Year ended December 31, 2002 Services Services Services Corporate Totals
(o millons )

Restructuring charges $ - $(6.0) $ (0.3) $ (27) $ (00
Restructuring accrual reversals - 0.5 32 0.2 39
Impairments - - (16.5) (11.3) (27.8)
Litigation and regulatory settlements (41.0) - - -~ (41.0)
Total pretax charges, net of reversals $(41.0) $(b.5) $(13.6) $(13.8) $(73.9)

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES
The restructuring charges were comprised of severance totaling
$8.5 million and $0.5 million related to lease termination losses.
Severance charges resulted from the termination of 281
emplayees, representing all levels of employees and less than
1% of the Company's workforce. The following describes the
nature and timing of the restructuring plans by segment:

MERCHANT SERVICES

> Charges related to streamlining the span of management
control and elimination of job redundancies across many
departments at most employee levels within the merchant
acquiring business. The restructuring plans were completed
in the second quarter of 2002.

CARD ISSUING SERVICES

> Restructuring charges related to severance associated with
consolidating Tulsa data center operations and the elimina-
tion of duplicate positions. The restructuring plans were
completed in the first quarter of 2002.

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

> Charges related to the elimination of duplicative positions due to
the integration of the Achex, Inc. acquisition. The restructuring
plans were completed in the first quarter of 2002.

> Charges related to a reduction in force and closure of a leased
facility for the SurePay business to adjust its employee base
to match the slower than expected participation in the business-
to-business exchange marketplace. The restructuring plans
were completed in the first quarter of 2002,
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REVERSAL OF RESTRUCTURING ACCRUALS

The Company reversed prior period restructuring accruals resulting
from changes in estimates totaling $3.9 million, The majority of
these reversals related to the third quarter 2000 restructuring
charge related to the United Kingdom-based operations of the
Card Issuing Services segment. The change in estimate resulted
primarily from pension obligations associated with severed
employees being less than anticipated.

IMPAIRMENTS

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

> An $11.3 million charge related to capitalized software devel-
opment costs. The impairment resulted from the second
quarter 2002 decision to cease SurePay business-to-business
platform development efforts. During 2003, the SurePay
operations were ceased and its remaining assets were trans-
ferred to the Merchant Services segment.

CARD ISSUING SERVICES

> A $16.5 million charge related to capitalized contract costs
associated with a customer that announced that it would no
longer accept its private-label credit cards at its merchant
businesses as a result of the customer’s financial difficulties
that resulted in its bankruptcy.

LITIGATION AND REGULATORY SETTLEMENTS
The Company recorded $41.0 million in litigation and regulatory
settlement charges in its Payment Services segment. Of these
charges $30.0 million related to the anticipated settlements of
various class action lawsuits pertaining to the Company's money
transfer business, including plaintiffs' legal fees and other outside




administrative costs. The remaining $11.0 million related to an
$8.0 million setflement with the New York State Banking
Department and a $3.0 million settlement with the U.S. Department
of Treasury over alleged infractions of certain regulations related
to Western Union's money transfer business.

Interest income

Interest income increased in 2004 due to earnings on the cash
and investments acquired in the Concord merger. 2003 increases
resulted from increased cash balances in the Card Issuing
Services segment.

Interest expense

Interest expense increased as a result of higher average debt
levels and interest rates for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to 2003, and the recognition of the unamortized
discount associated with the 2% Senior Convertible Contingent
Debt Securities called in the first quarter 2004. Interest expense
decreased for the year ended December 31, 2003 when
compared to 2002 due to a decline in the average interest rate
partially offset by an increase in average debt balances.

Investment gains and losses, net

The Company recognized a net investment gain for the year
ended December 31, 2004 resulting from the sale in the third
quarter of a minority investment in VIPS Healthcare Information
Systems (*VIPS") having sold the majority interest in 1998. The
sale of its remaining minority interest in VIPS was made pursuant
to the 1998 sale agreement which required First Data to sell its
retained interest upon the occurrence of specified events.
Partially offsetting this gain were the write-down of investments
related to e-commerce businesses, the dissolution of a joint
venture and losses on the sale of other investments. For the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, net investment losses
were recorded primarily related to e-commerce businesses and
strategic investments.

Divestitures, net

In March 2004 the Company sold its 67% ownership interest in
GCA, which resulted in net proceeds of $435.6 million and a pretax
gain of $263.8 million. During the year ended December 31,
2004, the Company reversed divestiture accruals of $1.4 million
due to the expiration of certain exposures.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company
reversed $6.8 million of divestiture accruals primarily related to
the divestitures of certain companies acquired as part of the
1995 merger with First Financial Management Corporation
(*FFMC"). The reversal related to the passage of time related to
certain exposures. Additionally, the Company paid approximately
$7.5 million in connection with the resolution of the issues
involved in the investigation by the Office of Inspector General
of the District of Columbia of alleged overpayments to Medicaid
recipients by a former FFMC subsidiary. The payment was applied
against the corresponding divestiture accrual,

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company
reversed $4.2 million of divestiture accruals related primarily to
Investor Services Group and TransPoint LLC (*TransPoint™), due to
the passage of certain contractual indemnification provisions and
the release of amounts previously held in escrow. Investor Services
Group was divested in the fourth quarter of 1999 and TransPoint
was merged with CheckFree in the fourth quarter of 2000.

Income taxes

FDC's effective tax rates on pretax income from continuing
operations were 26.5%, 25.0% and 25.5% for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The calculation
of the effective tax rate includes equity earnings in affiliates and
minority interest in pretax income. The majority of minority
interest and equity earnings relate to entities that are considered
pass-through entities for income tax purposes.

Affecting the 2004 effective tax rate was the favorable
resolution of federal research and development credits and state
income tax issues totaling $29 million that were recognized in
the second quarter of 2004 and an expiration of a statutory
examination period for a prior tax year. Lower taxes on foreign
sourced income also lowered the tax rate in 2004. These bene-
fits partially were offset by FDC's tax-exempt investment income
representing a lesser portion of the Company's pretax income,
which was increased significantly by the inclusion of Concord,
and the gain on the sale of GCA, which was taxed at a higher
rate than the effective tax rate. The Company anticipates its
effective tax rate from continuing operations to be approximately
27% for the full year 2005. The reduction of the effective tax
rate for 2003 compared to 2002 resulted primarily from the
expiration of a statutory examination period for a prior tax year.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 {“the Act") was signed into law. Key provisions of the Act
include a temporary incentive for U.S. multinational corporations
to repatriate foreign earnings, a domestic manufacturing deduc-
tion, and additional international tax reforms. The Company is
evaluating the effects of the repatriation provision; however, the
Company does not expect to complete the evaluation until later
in 2005. In accordance with FSP 109-2, ‘Accounting and
Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, the
Company will reflect the effects of the Act, if any, in 2005, as a
part of the income tax expense in the period action is taken. if
the Company takes full advantage of this provision, it would
increase the Company's 2005 effective tax rate from continuing
aperations by approximately 120 basis points.

To address certain tax aspects of a 2003 legal restruc-
turing of Western Union'’s international operations, the Company
initiated discussions with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS")
pursuant to the IRS' Advance Pricing Agreement (APA) Program.
If an APA is successfully negotiated, the Company generally will
avoid further examination, during the term of the APA, of the
transfer pricing methods applicable to, and valuations of, the
covered transactions. Any differences from the Company's posi-
tions as recorded in its financial statements upon resolution of
these issues will be reflected as a part of the income tax expense
in the period during which the resolution occurs.

For a more detailed analysis of taxes see Note 8 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Minority interest

The decrease in minority interest expense in 2004 over 2003 is
attributable to the absence of the minority interest expense
associated with GCA, which, as noted above, was sold in the first
quarter 2004; the purchase of the TASQ minority interestin June
2004; minority benefits recognized due to the restructuring and
impairment charges related to eONE businesses in the first
quarter of 2004 and minority interest benefits of $15.4 million
related to an anticipated settlement of a lawsuit recognized in
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the Merchant Services segment offset by increased income of
consolidated merchant alliances. The majority of the increase in
minority interest expense for 2003 is attributable to increased
income related o consolidated merchant alliances and less
minority benefit recognized due to lower impairment charges
refated to eONE businesses in All Other and Corporate.

Equity earnings in affiliates

The increases in equity earnings in affiliates for all periods presented
is attributable to increased revenue and profit as a result of
increased transaction volumes of certain merchant alliances.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share (‘EPS") from continuing operations
increased for the year ended December 31, 2004 when
compared to 2003, and 2003 increased over 2002. The increases
are attributable to increases in net income resulting from items
discussed above, most significantly the gain on sale of GCA in
2004. The buyback of 88.2 million, 36.8 million and 15.2 million
shares during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively, and the additional income from the 2004
Concord merger, had an offsetting effect on the dilutive impact
of the shares issued in connection with the merger.

SEGMENT RESULTS

Operating segments are defined by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (*SFAS" No. 131, “Disclosures About
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” (“SFAS
131") as components of an enterprise about which separate
financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by
the chief operating decision maker (‘CODM"), or decision-making
group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. FDC's CODM is its Executive Committee, which
consists of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Vice Presidents. FDC classifies its businesses into three segments:
Payment Services, Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services.
The operating segments are reviewed separately below because
each operating segment represents a strategic business unit that
generally offers different products and serves different markets.

As discussed above, NYCE's operations are being treated
as discontinued operations. All periods were adjusted for the
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Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services segments to properly
reflect these operations as discontinued. Additionally, as discussed
above in “Business Overview, data processing services previously
reported as part of the Payment Services segment were
realigned to the Card Issuing Services segment. Royalty income,
previously reported in the Merchant Services segment, was
realigned to All Other and Corporate. Additionally, the operations
of the previously reported Emerging Payments segment were
combined with All Other and Corporate. For segment reporting
purposes, GCA is presented as a divested business and excluded
from the Merchant Services segment revenue and operating
profit. Prior year segment results of operations were reclassified
to refiect these realignments and the impact of GCA.
The business segment measurements provided to, and
evaluated by, the Company's CODM are computed in accordance
with the following principles:
> The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies.

> Segment revenue includes interest income, equity earnings in
affiliates and intersegment revenue.

> Corporate overhead is allocated to the segments based on a
percentage of the segments' revenues.

> Segment operating profit includes interest income, minority
interest and equity earnings in affiliates net of related amorti-
zation expense.

> Segment operating profit excludes restructuring charges,
asset impairment charges, significant litigation and regulatory
settlement charges, other charges, interest expense, investment
gains and losses, business divestiture gains and losses and
income taxes since they are not allocated to the segments for
internal evaluation purposes. While these items are identifi-
able to the business segments, they are not included in the
measurement of segment operating profit provided to the
CODM for purposes of assessing segment performance and
decision making with respect to resource allocation.

> Revenues and operating profit of the Payment Services
segment are stated on a pretax equivalent basis (ie, as if
investment earnings on nontaxable investments were fully
taxable at FDC’s marginal tax rate).




Payment Services Segment Results

Percent Change

% of Total % of Total % of Total 2004 2003
2004 Revenue 2003  Revenue 2002  Revenue vs. 2003 vs. 2002
(0 millines )
REVENUES:
Transaction and processing service fees $3,735.3 92% $3,230.6 80% $2,8188 90% 16% 15%
Investment income, net @ 286.2 7 354.1 10 209.2 10 (19) 18
Other revenues 21.8 1 18.8 - 14.2 - 16 32
Total revenue $4,043.3 100% $3,6035 100% $3,132.2 100% 12% 15%
Operating profit @ $1,305.2 $1,228.1 $1,048.1 8% 17%
Operating margin 32% 34% 33% (2)pts 1pt
KEY INDICATORS:
Consumer-to-consumer money
transfer transactions ® 96.7 81.0 67.8 18% 19%
Consumer-to-business transactions @ 1461 1340 119.3 S% 12%

(a) For segment reporting purposes, Payment Services presents investment income and operating profit on a pretax equivalent basis (i.e., as if investment earnings on nontaxable settlement assets were fully
taxable at FDC's marginal tax rate). The revenue and aperating profit impact of this presentation is eliminated in consolidation.
(6) Comsumer-to-consumer money transfer transactions include North America and international consumer money transfer services.

(c) Ce to-b tr

ions include Quick Collect, EasyPay, PhonePay, Paymap's Just-in-Time and Equity Accelerator services, and E Commerce Group's SpeedPay transactions directly processed

by £ Commerce Group. Amounts include transactions for E Commerce Group and Paymap as if they were consolidated subsidiaries as of January 1, 2002 to provide a more meaningful comparison,

Summary

Payment Services segment revenue growth in 2004 over 2003
was positively impacted by increased consumer-to-consumer
transaction and processing services fee revenue driven by the
increased transactions.

TRANSACTION AND PROCESSING SERVICE FEE REVENUE

MONEY TRANSFER / BILL PAYMENT

Money transfer and bill payment transactions, classified as either
consumer-to-consumer or consumer-to-business, generated
approximately $3,381 million, or 91%; $2,966 million, or 92%,
and $2,552 million, or 91% of the Payment Services segment's
transaction and processing service fee revenues for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
remaining 9%, 8% and 9%, respectively, of Payment Services'
transaction and processing service fee revenues include prepaid
services, fee-based component of official check, money order,
remittance processing, Convenience Pay and transportation-related
payment services business.

The following table illustrates the different components
of consumer-to-consumer and consumer-to-business revenues
as a percentage of the combined total for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Consumer-to-consumer
International @ 60% 56% 52%
Domestic ® 18 19 21
Mexico © 6 7 7
Consumer-to-business 16 18 20
Total 100% 100% 100%

(a) Represents transactions between foreign countries including transactions originated in the
U.S. destined for foreign countries and foreign country transactions destined for the U.S.
Excludes U.S. transactions sent to Mexico and Canada.

(b) Represents all transactions within the U.S. and Canada.

(c) Represents U.S. outbound transactions destined for Mexico.

CONSUMER-TO-CONSUMER—The table below illustrates perfor-
mance indicators for the consumer-to-consumer money transfer
business for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002,

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Consumer-to-consumer
money transfer

transaction growth 19% 19% 22%

Consumer-to-consumer
money transfer

revenue growth 17% 18% 16%

Agent locations

(end of period) 219,000 182,000 151,000

The main driver of Western Union consumer-to-consumer
money transfer revenue growth is international transactions.
Revenue growth remained strong during 2004 and 2003 due to
sustained international growth and stronger domestic growth.
Western Union U.S. same store sales transaction growth, including
U.S. outbound transactions, grew 15% in 2004, 14% in 2003 and
13% in 2002. The euro-adjusted consumer-to-consumer revenue
per transaction trend was relatively consistent; declining slightly
from prior periods. Consumer-to-consumer revenue growth
benefited from changes in foreign exchange rates. For the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the exchange rates
between the euro and the U.S, dollar resulted in a year-over-year
benefit of $86.3 million, $103.4 million and $6.0 million, respec-
tively, assuming a constant exchange ratio between the euro
and the U.S. dollar. Foreign exchange rates impact revenue in
several ways; fluctuations in the exchange rates from one period
to another may increase or decrease U.S. dollar denominated
revenue when foreign-derived revenue is being translated into
U.S. dollars; and, depending upon fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates between two currencies, a sender may need to transfer
more or less cash to meet the recipient’s financial commitments
in the receive country.
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The majority of transaction growth is derived from more
mature agent locations as new agent locations contribute only
marginally to revenue growth in the first few years of their operation.
The Company has added more than 137,000 agent locations over
the last five years, with more than 70% of these locations having
been added in the last three years. Increased productivity,
measured by transactions per location, often is experienced as
locations mature, with agents becoming very producti\)e after
five years. The Company believes that new agent locations will
help drive growth by increasing the number of locations available
to send and receive money. However, the number of send and
pay transactions at an agent location can vary significantly due
to such factors as customer demographics around the location,
immigration patterns, the location's class of trade and hours of
operation, length of time the location has been offering Western
Union services, regulatory limitations and competition,

Contributing to the increase in consumer-to-consumer
money transfer revenue and transaction growth is the number of
agent locations, the maturing of existing agent locations, and
targeted marketing campaigns promoting Western Union services.
In line with the Company's strategic objective of building the
Western Union brand, increased marketing expenditures on
television, radio, print media, and internet advertising, as well as
other forms of media were incurred during 2004. These
marketing efforts support both short-term initiatives such as
promotions in mature markets, as well as long-term initiatives
like building brand awareness in China and India and other
countries. The expected impact on transactions related to
increased marketing may be immediate, or may develop over
time as distribution expands and brand awareness increases.
Annual marketing investment is expected to remain between 7%
and 8% of Western Union revenues.

Consumer-to-Consumer—INTERNATIONAL—The table below
iliustrates performance indicators for the Western Union inter-
national consumer-to-consumer money transfer business for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Western Union international
money transfer

fransaction growth 24% 25% 32%

Western Union international
money transfer

revenue growth 22% 24% 25%

International money transfer revenue growth rates
adjusted for the euro (assuming a constant exchange ratio
between the eurc and the U.S. dollar) have remained consistent
for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 2003, and
declined when comparing 2003 to 2002. Although, the 2004
international transaction growth rates declined slightly, the actual
number of transactions increased. The growth in transaction
volume is driven by continued strength in the US. outbound
business and the performance of the international business
outside the U.S. The growth from new international locations and
the maturing of other locations noted above also have contrib-
uted to the sustained growth.
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In 2004, international revenue and transaction growth
rates were negatively impacted, although not significantly, by
political events, economic conditions and compliance related
activity when compared to the same period in 2003, The 2003
revenues and transaction growth were negatively impacted,
although not significantly, by political and economic climates in
certain South America and Middle East countries as well as the
closure of Western Union's agent in South Africa. The Company's
compliance initiatives also had a slight impact on international
growth. As the Company continues to implement and enhance
its regulatory and legal compliance initiatives worldwide, revenue
and transactions in certain markets could be impacted.

Consumer-to-Consumer—DOMESTIC (INCLUDING CANADA )~
The table below illustrates performance indicators for the Western
Union domestic consumer-to-consumer money transfer business
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Western Union domestic
money transfer
transaction growth 7% 5% 5%
Western Union domestic
money transfer
revenue growth 7% 2% 6%

Domestic money transfer transaction and revenue growth
were driven by increased marketing and a strong consumer
base. Revenue per transaction remains relatively constant in
comparison to the same prior-year periods.

Consumer-to-Consumer—MEXICO  (WESTERN UNION  AND
ORLANDI VALUTA SERVICES)—The table below illustrates
performance indicators for the Mexico consumer-to-consumer
money transfer business for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002.

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Mexico money transfer

transaction growth 16% 22% 14%
Mexico money transfer

revenue growth 5% 16% (9)%

Transaction growth for the year ended December 31,
2004 has remained relatively constant with the fourth quarter
2003 growth rate of approximately 15%. The Company has been
able to maintain this growth rate in this highly competitive market
by implementing next day service offerings, executing marketing
programs, and offering payment services at over 7,000 Western
Union and Orlandi Valuta locations in Mexico. Western Union
branded transaction growth to Mexico, primarily driven by both
the ‘In Minutes Service” and “Next Day Service, was 24% and
32%, with related revenue growth at 13% and 22% in 2004
compared to 2003 and in 2003 compared to 2002, respectively.
The increase in usage of the lower price consumer “Next Day
Service” money transfers has caused the revenue per transac-
tion to decrease resulting in the disparity between revenue and
transaction growth rates.




CONSUMER-TO-BUSINESS—The table below illustrates perfor-
mance indicators for the consumer-to-business bill payment
business for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002.

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Consumer-to-business

transaction growth 9% 12% 21%
Consumer-to-business

revenue growth % 9% 28%

Demand for the Company's consumer-to-business bill
payment services is currently shifting from the traditional cash
payment services, such as Quick Collect, to electronic bill payment
services offered by E Commerce Group and Paymap; however
transaction growth trends are stabilizing. Quick Collect continues
to be negatively impacted by the electronic payment options,
while the electronic bill payment services are experiencing
strong transaction growth. The shift from cash to electronic bill
payment is expected to continue in 2005. Consumer-to-busi-
ness revenue growth increased 1% in the fourth quarter of 2004
when compared to the fourth quarter of 2003, and similar growth
is expected to continue in 2005.

INVESTMENT INCOME

For segment reporting purposes, Payment Services presents
investment income and operating profit on a pretax equivalent
basis (i.e, as if investment earnings on nontaxable settlement
assets were fully taxable at FDC's marginal tax rate). The revenue
and operating profit impact of this presentation is eliminated in
consolidation, The decrease in investment income in 2004 as
compared to 2003 is attributable to higher short-term interest
rates which resulted in higher commissions paid to selling
agents, lower yields on certain investments along with a decrease
in average investable balances, and a reduction of realized gains
on the liquidation of certain portfolio investments. The increase
in investment income in 2003 over 2002 is due to investment
revenue growing marginally as lower yields on certain invest-
ments were more than offset by higher investable balances,
lower commissions paid to selling agents due to lower interest
rates, and an increase in realized gains on the liquidation of
certain portfolio investments. Realized gains on the liquidation of

Merchant Services Segment Results

certain portfolio investments were $110.4 million, $138.2 million,
and $65.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. The investment portfolio balance is
driven largely from sales of official checks by selling agents. The
average investment portfolio balance decreased 4% for the year
ended December 31, 2004 compared to 2003 and increased
13% comparing 2003 to 2002. These fluctuations primarity were
due to mortgage origination activity. Partially offsetting the
decrease in investment income in 2004 were lower realized
losses on derivative instruments used to hedge commissions
paid to selling agents while the opposite occurred in 2003 with
the increase in investment income being partially offset by
increases in realized losses on the hedges. Investment income is
expected to continue to decline in 2005. This expected decrease
is due to an anticipated decline in the amount of gains to be
recognized on the liquidation of portfolio investments from the
amount recognized in 2004, lower yields on certain investments,
and, to a lesser extent, an increase in commissions paid to
selling agents, which will increase as a result of an expected rise
in short-term interest rates. As noted above in the Consolidated
Results of Operations discussion, investment income at the
Company consolidated level will be negative in 2005.

OPERATING PROFIT

Payment Services' operating profit (on a pretax equivalent basis)
increased for the year ended December 31, 2004 over the
corresponding 2003 period primarily due to the growth in
consumer-to-consumer money transfer revenue as described
above. These improvements were partially offset in 2004 by
lower investment income, increased Western Union agent
commissions proportionate with revenue growth and increased
investment in advertising and marketing expenses. QOperating
margins decreased two percentage points for the year ended
December 31, 2004 compared to the prior period primarily as a
result of decreased investment income. Payment Services' oper-
ating profit (on a pretax equivalent basis) increased 17% when
comparing 2003 to 2002 due to the transaction and processing
service fee and investment income growth described above.
These improvements were partially offset by increased agent
commissions commensurate with revenue growth, increased
spending on regulatory compliance, and increased investment in
advertising and marketing expenses.

Percent Change

% of Total % of Total % of Total 2004 2003

2004 Revenue 2003  Revenue 2002  Revenue vs, 2003  vs. 2002
(or midllons )
Revenues: @
Transaction and processing service fees $ 2,7242 7% $ 17304 65% $1,532.2 66% 57% 13%
Check verification and guarantee services 405.4 11 388.2 15 3756 18 4 4
Product sales and other 4411 11 341.3 13 231.9 10 29 47
Equity earnings in affiliates 194.9 1702 6 1418 6 15 20
Other revenues 78.7 46.4 1 49.3 2 70 )
Total revenue $ 3,844.3 100% $ 26775 100% $2,330.8 100% 44% 15%
Operating profit @ $ 9903 $ 7232 $ 6390 37% 13%
Operating margin @ 26% 27% 27% (Mpt -
Key indicators: @
North America merchant transactions ® 19,8294 12,269.3 9,893.8 62% 24%

(a) Amounts exclude the discontinued operations of NYCE and the divested business of GCA.

(b) North America merchant transactions include acquired VISA and MasterCard credit and signature debit, PIN-debit, electronic bengfits transactions (“EBT”), and processed-only or gateway customer

transactions at the POS. North America merchant transactions also include acquired ATM transactions, gateway transactions at ATMs, and STAR PIN-debit POS transactions (2004 only) received from

other acquirers. Prior year historical FDC amounts have been adjusted to conform to the current year presentation to include EBT.
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Summary
Merchant Services segment 2004 revenues were positively
impacted by the inclusion of Concord operations, increased
transactions and the incremental gain recognized on the sale of
a merchant portfolio in 2004 compared to 2003. The increases
were partially offset by declines in the TeleCheck business. The
2003 segment revenue increase over 2002 was attributed to
increased transactions, the acquisition of TeleCash in March 2003,
the acquisition of PayPoint in August of 2002 and the incre-
mental gains recognized on the sales of merchant portfolios.
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
domestic Merchant Services segment revenues were approximately
92%, 94% and 87%, respectively, with international operations
comprising the remaining amount. Driving the international
growth are the acquisitions of Cashcard and First Data Hellas in
2004, and TeleCash in 2003,

TRANSACTION AND PROCESSING SERVICE FEE REVENUE
Transaction and processing revenue grew largely by the inclusion
of Concord’s merchant acquiring and STAR ATM processing,
network access and acquired debit card transaction processing
services and other acquisitions. Excluding the impact of busi-
ness acquisitions less than a year old, the majority of which is
attributed to Concord, and merchant portfolio dispositions, transaction
and processing service fee revenue grew approximately 129% for
the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 2003 and 7%
for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to 2002.
Excluding acquisitions less than a year old, North America
merchant transactions grew approximately 12%, 17% and 11%,
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively. The segment continues to experience price compression
of approximately 3% to 5% annually. Also favorably impacting
the revenue growth were FDC's historic businesses experiencing
increases in overall card usage, regional sales forces, sales
force productivity, the addition of nine bank alliance relation-
ships, new merchant signings, debit card enabling of existing
merchants and debit network fees. The increase in card usage is
driven by increases in number of locations and transaction
growth at existing merchants,

Network fees related to PIN-debit transactions are recog-
nized in transaction and processing service fee revenue and
cost of services. The network fees are generally invoiced by the
networks and paid directly by the Company. Debit network fees
totaled $515.4 million, $162.6 million and $74.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The increase in the dollar amaount of debit network fees, as well
as the percentage of revenue, was attributable to the former
Concord businesses and an increase in PIN-debit transactions.

PIN-debit transactions, including acquired and network,
have been the fastest growing type of transaction, accounting
for approximately 23% of total North America merchant transac-
tions in 2004, versus 13% in 2003 and 9% in 2002. The Company
continues to see a shift to the use of PIN-debit cards from credit,
signature debit, checks and cash. These trends will continue with
the inclusion of PIN-debit transactions processed by the STAR
debit network and the continued implementation of PIN-debit
capabilities at the Company’s large national merchant clients.

CHECK VERIFICATION AND GUARANTEE SERVICES REVENUE

increases in check verification and guarantee services revenue
were attributable to the former Concord PPS business, which
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contributed approximately $39.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, The addition of the PPS revenue and the
growth in the Electronic Check Acceptance® (‘ECA®") service
revenue, which also benefited 2003, were offset by a general
decline in the paper check verification and guarantee volumes
and from the loss of a major retailer in 2003. The continued
decline in paper check guarantee and verification volumes is a
direct result cf the increased trend by consumers to utilize debit
cards at the POS as discussed above. This trend is expected to
continue in 2008. Also benefiting the 2004 annual growth rate
was the reduction in the first quarter 2003 revenues of $5.2 million
due to the initial adoption of Financial Accounting Standards
Board (‘FASB") Interpretation No. 45 “Guarantor's Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (*FIN 45). The adoption
of FIN 45 negatively impacted the 2003 annual growth rate,

PRODUCT SALES AND OTHER REVENUE

The increase for the year ended December 31, 2004 in product
sales and other revenues was attributable to sales of merchant
POS terminals, a $101 million gain on the sale of a merchant
portfolio {an incremental $30 million in gains over 2008) an
additional three months of revenue from the acquisition of
TeleCash, which was acquired in March 2003, and the February
2004 Concord merger. The increase in product sales and other
revenues in 2003 was attributable to the TeleCash acquisition,
as well as $71 million in gains from the sale of merchant portfo-
lios. During 2002, a similar gain on the sale of a merchant port-
folio of $15 million was recorded, as well as contract termination
fees of $5 million. The purchase and sale of merchant contracts
is an ordinary element of the Company's Merchant Services
business as is the movement of merchant contracts between
the Company and its merchant alliances. The Company or a
merchant alliance may purchase or sell a portfolio of contracts
outright. Other times a partner may purchase the Company's
interest in a merchant alliance. This gives the partner 100%
ownership in the underlying merchant contracts as compared to
a partial interest in a joint venture alliance that owns the
contracts, Other times the formation of a merchant alliance
involves the sale of an interest in a portfolio of the Company's
merchant contracts to the joint venture partner for cash.
Management considers these transactions to be in the ordinary
course of managing the Company's business, and therefore, the
gains from selling these revenue-generating assets are included
within the product sales and other component of revenues.

EQUITY EARNINGS IN AFFILIATES

The increase in equity eamings in affiliates for all periods
presented is attributable to increased revenue and profit as a
result of increased transaction volumes of certain merchant alli-
ances, for similar reasons as discussed above for domestic
transaction and processing revenues.

OPERATING PROFIT

Merchant Services segment operating profit increased 37% in
2004 and 13% in 2003, due to the growth in transaction and
processing service fee and product sales and other revenue as
described above. These 2004 and 2003 increases were partially
offset by a decrease in operating profit related to TeleCheck,
integration of international acquisitions, certain directed resources
and other expenses related to the integration of Concord, including
amortization and depreciation related to intangibles from the




Concord merger of approximately $129.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004. The Company expects that the
TeleCheck business will stabilize in 2005.

During 2004, the Company recorded $32.4 million of
pretax charges, offset by $15.4 million of minority interest
benefit, related to the proposed settlement of a Merchant
Services lawsuit, In the first quarter 2004, the Company recorded

Card Issuing Services Segment Results

a $25.0 million pretax charge related to TeleCheck accounting
entries originating primarily in 2002 and 2003. These charges
were excluded from the Merchant Services segment operating
profit and the related growth rates discussed above. These amounts
were reported as “Litigation and regulatory settlements” and
“Other” operating expenses, respectively, on the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

Percent Change

% of Total % of Total % of Total 2004 2003

2004 Revenue 2003  Revenue 2002  Revenue vs, 2003  vs. 2002
(2 milioms )
REVENUES: @
Transaction and processing service fees $1,7234 72%  $13922 87% $1,354.4 69% 24% 3%
Professional services 50.2 2 50,1 2 64.8 3 - (23)
Reimbursable postage and other 570.0 24 617.2 30 5214 27 8 18
Other revenues 40.1 2 3C.1 1 263 1 33 14
Total revenue $2,383.7 100% $2,089.6 100% $1966.9 100% 14% 6%
Operating profit @ $ 5081 $ 3099 $ 3720 64%  (17)%
Operating margin® 21% 15% 19% 6pts (4)pts
Key indicators:
Card accounts on file (end of period) ®
Domestic 369.9 3166 298.0 17% 6%
International 36.1 312 27.2 16 15
Total 406.0 3478 32562 17% 7%
North America issuer transactions © 6,818.9 2,605.9 22655 162% 16%

(a) Amounts exclude the discontinued operations of the NYCE business.
() Card accounts on file at December 31, 2004 include 20.5 million accounts processed by the former Concord.

(c) North America issuer transactions include VISA and MasterCard signature debit, STAR ATM, STAR PIN-debit POS, and ATM and PIN-debit POS gateway transactions for 2004 amounts, as a result of the

Concord acquisition.

Summary
The Card Issuing Services segment experienced positive revenue
and operating profit growth driven by the addition of the former
Concord businesses, card account conversions, international
acquisitions and internal growth, partially offset by previously
discussed lost business. The Company expects a slight increase
in revenue in 2005 after considering account conversions and
other new business in 2005 offset by account deconversions.
Domestic Card Issuing Services segment revenues were
approximately 81%, 83% and 84%, respectively, for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, while international
operations comprised the remaining amount. Total Card Issuing
Services revenues were benefited from movements in the British
pound and Australian dollar by $35.3 million, $27.3 million and
$11.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively, while operating profit benefited $3.9 million,
$4.5 miliion and $2.9 million for the corresponding years.

TRANSACTION AND PROCESSING SERVICE FEE REVENUE

Credit, retail and debit based revenue account for 85% of the
segment’s domestic transaction and processing revenue. The
remaining 15% of domestic transaction and processing reverue
includes printing and embossing services for clients that do not
process accounts on the Company's system, as well as other data
processing services provided to non-card issuing customers.
Transaction and processing service fee revenue grew approxi-
mately 2% in 2004 compared to 2003 and 1% in 2003 compared
to 2002, excluding the impact of acquisitions less than a year old.

CREDIT AND RETAIL BASED REVENUE

Credit and retail based revenue is derived primarily from the card
processing services offered to financial institutions and other
issuers of cards. Revenue from these markets is driven primarity
by accounts on file, with active accounts having a larger impact
on revenue.

Revenue growth in 2004 was positively impacted by the
international acquisition of First Data Hellas, new accounts on
file, growth from existing clients, increased signing of interna-
tional business, and the benefit of foreign currency translation;
partially offset by deconversions including Bank One card
accounts on file in the third and fourth quarters of 2004, and
pricing pressures experienced during the year and declines in
the subprime business. 2003 growth rates were positively
impacted by account conversions, product penetration with
existing customers, the Active Resources acquisition in the
United Kingdom, and increased signing of international busi-
ness; partially offset by declines in revenue and accounts on file
in the subprime business, the Citi bankcard deconversion, and
the loss of First Consumers National Bank.

The trend towards retail cards, as shown below, is
expected to continue in the future as the majority of the account
pipeline are retail accounts. Also contributing to this trend is the
deconversion of Bank One’s bankcard accounts, and the sched-
uled deconversion of JPMorgan Chase'’s 34 million accounts in
the third quarter 2006. The Company expects approximately
80% of accounts on file to be retail accounts by the end of 2005.
Retail account portfolios typically have a lower proportionate
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share of active accounts than bankcard account portfolics. In
addition, contract pricing is dependent upon volume of accounts
and transactions.

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Bankcard 30% 48% 58%
Retail 48% 34% 25%
Debit 22% 18% 17%

The Company converted 58 million accounts in 2004,
most of which were retail. The merger with Concord resulted in
the addition of 20.5 million debit accounts. At December 31,
2004, the Company had approximately 50 million accounts in
the pipeline, which are primarily retail. Approximately 31 million
of those accounts were converted in January 2005. After taking
into consideration the conversion of the pipeline and anticipated
deconversions, accounts on file at the end of 2005 are expected
to be approximately 430 million.

DEBIT BASED PROCESSING REVENUE

Debit based processing revenue is driven primarily by transactions,
including the STAR ftransactions noted in the North America
issuer transactions above. The transaction growth rates for the
year ended December 31, 2004 correlate with the increased
debit processing revenue as a result of the Concord merger.
Price compression upon renewal of contracts and the client mix
will result in different growth rates in revenue and transactions,
As noted above in the Merchant Services segment discussion
the Company continues to see a shift to the use of PIN-debit cards
from credit, signature debit, checks and cash. These trends will
continue with the inclusion of PIN-debit transactions processed
by the STAR debit network. PIN-debit transactions have been
the fastest growing type of transaction.

REIMBURSABLE POSTAGE AND OTHER REVENUE

The decrease in reimbursable postage and other revenue in
2004 as compared to 2003 is attributable to deconverted clients
and volume declines in the subprime market, partially offset by new

business. The Company expects a slight increase in reimbursable
postage and other revenue in 2005 after considering account
conversions and other new business in 2005 partially offset by
account deconversions. 2003 experienced an increase over
2002 in reimbursable postage and other revenue as a result of
a June 2002 increase in postage rates and increased mailing
volumes. There were no postage rate increases during 2004 and
the Company does not expect any increases in 2005.

OPERATING PROFIT

The 2004 operating profit increased when compared to 2003
due to inclusion of the former Concord businesses, which included
amortization and depreciation related to Concord of $32.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. Expense management,
in addition to the items impacting revenue as noted above, also
contributed to the increased operating profit. Operating margins
were favorably impacted for the year ended December 31, 2004
as a result of the addition of Concord, expense savings as a
result of prior restructurings, and fees related to deconversions.
As the Company completes the retail card conversions and
credit card deconversions, margins are anticipated to be closer
to high teens, including reimbursables. During 2004, the Card
Issuing Services segment completed domestic and international
restructurings to streamline its international operations and
realign its operating expenses to address declines in segment
revenues, Cost savings associated with these restructurings will
be approximately $29 million on an annual basis.

The 2003 operating profit when compared to 2002 was
adversely impacted by pricing pressures, deterioration of subprime
issuers and account deconversions. Additional decreases resulted
from lost business related to the First Consumers National Bank
bankruptcy, favorable resolution of a contract issue in 2002 and
certain investments in the business, Offsetting these items were
internal growth from existing clients, new print/mail and plastics
business and account conversions. Additionally, investments in
the business, including the resulting amortization from the rede-
sign of the North American card processing system completed
early in 2003, and the increase in reimbursable postage and
other revenue at a zero margin caused decreases in margins.

All Other and Corporate
Percent Change
2004 2003
2004 2003 2002 vs. 2003 vs. 2002
(or millions )
Revenues $249.2 $276.9 $281.3 (10)% (2%
Operating loss $(85.1) $(77.3) $(47.1) (23)%

REVENUES

The decrease in revenues for 2004 resulted from reduced
pricing on certain contracts, which went into effect on April 1,
2004, and a full year decrease of $12.9 million in royalty income,
which historically has experienced fluctuations. 2003 revenues
declined due to decreased volume with existing clients at
Teleservices and First Data Voice Services. Also contributing to
this decrease was a decrease in software and licensing mainte-
nance revenue in 2003 due to a decrease in software sales at
Encorus from its existing product line as Encorus focused on
development of a new software product. This decrease was
offset by an increase in transaction and processing service fees
for 2003 resulting from increased transaction volume at FDGS
and the acquisition of GovConnect in April 2002,
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OPERATING PROFIT

The 2004 operating loss increased due to decreased royalty
income, and lower operating margins were due to reduced
pricing terms noted above. This offset the benefits of the cost
containment measures implemented at eONE during the third
and fourth quarters of 2003 and throughout 2004. The 2003
operating loss increased when compared to 2002 due to the
decline in revenue and profitability at Teleservices and First Data
Voice Services, an increase in spending for certain corporate
initiatives, pension expense and legal fees. Operating losses also
increased in 2003 due to the effort of developing the former
Taxware and Encorus product offerings and related operations.

(84)%



CAPITAL RESOURCES
AND LIQUIDITY

The Company's sources of liquidity during 2004 were cash
generated from operating activities, the cash acquired in connec-
tion with the Concord merger, the liquidation of Concord’s
marketable securities, proceeds received from the sales of GCA
and NYCE and proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt.
The Company believes its current level of cash and short-term
financing capabilities along with future cash flows from operations
are sufficient to meet the needs of its existing businesses
including servicing of debt obligations, reinvesting in the busi-
ness, acquisitions and stock repurchases. The Company may,
from time to time, seek longer-term financing, as it did when it
issued $1.0 billion of five and 10 year notes in the third quarter
of 2004, to support additional cash needs or to reduce short-term
borrowings. The following discussion highlights the Company’s
cash flow activities from continuing operations during the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Highly liquid investments (other than those included in settiement
assets) with original maturities of three months or less (that are

readily convertible to cash) are considered to be cash equiva-
lents and are stated at cost, which approximates market value. At
December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company held $895.4 million
and $839.8 million in cash and cash equivalents, respectively.

The Company acquired $546.0 million in cash in connec-
tion with the Concord merger. Excluded from cash and cash
equivalents at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $598.4 million
and $422.4 million, respectively. Such excluded amounts at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of $455.3 million and
$283.0 million, respectively, of regulatory required investments
in connection with the money transfer operations and client
covenants associated with the official check business; $100.0
million of required investments in connection with the Company's
First Financial Bank for both periods; as well as $43.1 million
and $39.4 million, respectively, of escrowed funds and other. The
escrowed funds primarily relate to instaliment payments on
acquisitions. Amounts excluded from cash and cash equivalents
are included in “other assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Cash and cash equivalents held outside of the U.S. at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $268.1 million and $121.7 mil-
ion, respectively.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities from Continuing Operations

Year ended December 31,

Source/(use) 2004 2003 2002
( it milions)
Net income from continuing operations $1,867.8 $1,394.0 $1,232.2
Depreciation and amortization 738.2 569.3 5232
Other non-cash items and charges, net (247.3) (32.2) 6.3
Increase (decrease) in cash, excluding the effects
of acquisitions and dispositions, resulting from changes in:
Accounts receivable (118.8) (70.5) (146.3)
Other assets 481 7.9 54.4
Accounts payable and other liabilities (3.4) 52.1 (99.4)
Income tax accounts 424 370 3183
Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations $2,327.0 $1,957.6 $1,8887

Increases in depreciation and amortization from 2004 to
2003 and 2003 to 2002 are attributable to acquisitions and
increases in capitalized property, plant and equipment and capi-
talized payments to secure customer contracts and systems
development costs. The increase in 2004 was partially offset by
the disposition of GCA.

Other non-cash items and charges include restructuring,
impairments, litigation and regulatory settlements, other, invest-
ment gains and losses and divestitures, as well as undistributed
earnings in affiliates and gains on the sale of merchant portfolios
as the proceeds are recognized in investing activities. The sale
of the Company's 67% interest in GCA in March 2004 resulted

in net proceeds of $435.6 million as presented in investing activities
and a pretax gain of $263.8 million included in other non-cash
items and charges, net.

The change in accounts receivable between years is the
result of the timing of collections compared to billings. The
change in accounts payable and other liabilities between years
results from timing of payments for vendor invoices, payments to
minority interest holders and pension contributions. Payments to
minority interest holders for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 were $120.4 million, $119.2 million and
$85.6 million, respectively. Pension contributions included in
accounts payable and other fiabilities for the years ended
December 31,2004 and 2003 were $56.2 million and $24.7 million,
respectively. The change in activity in income tax accounts
between years is due to the provisions accrued in each respective
year and the timing of tax payments.
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities from Continuing Operations

Year Ended December 31,

Source/(use) 2004 2003 2002
(o midtions )
Current year acquisitions, net of cash acquired $ (62.4) $(130.9) $ (6249)
Payments related to other businesses previously acquired (68.9) (44.6) (208.1)
Proceeds from dispositions, net of expenses paid 826.1 - -
Additions to property and equipment, net (177.4) (161.6) (206.5)
Payments to secure customer service contracts, including outlays

for conversion, and capitalized systems development costs (254.4) (228.6) 193.7)
Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities 815.7 449 121.7
Dividend received from discontinued operations 25.5 - -
Other investing activities (233.8) (106.4) (40.2)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing operations $ 8704 $(627.2) $(1,161.7)

The Company finances acquisitions through a combination
of internally generated funds, long-term borrowings and equity.
The Company believes that its cash flow from operations
together with other available sources of funds will be adequate
to meet its funding requirements as it relates to future acquisitions.
The Company continues to pursue opportunities that strategically
fit into the business and make investments overseas to help
build the Company's presence internationally. Additionally, the
Company continues to manage its portfolio of businesses and
evaluate the possible divestiture of businesses that do not match
its long-term growth objectives.

The Company acquired $548.0 million of cash in connection
with the 2004 Concord merger, as well as $802.1 million of
marketable securities. As of December 31, 2004, $656.4 million
of the marketable securities were liquidated and included in the
proceeds from the sale of marketable securities noted above.
The Concord cash acquired was offset by the acquisition of
Cashcard for $206 million, net of cash and debt acquired, the
acquisition of First Data Hellas for $311.7 million net of cash
acquired, the buyout of the TASQ and FDGS minority interests,
the purchase of two joint ventures in the money transfer business

and purchases of merchant portfolios. During 2003, the Company
acquired TeleCash for $104.3 million net of cash acquired and
other acquisitions for $26.6 million. Acquisitions made during
2002 include PayPoint for $260.8 million, merchant alliances
and portfolio acquisitions of $114.0 million, net of cash acquired,
Paymap for $79.5 million, net of cash acquired, E Commerce
Group for $67.6 million, net of cash acquired and other acquisitions
for $113.0 million, net of cash acquired.

During 2004, payments related to other businesses previ-
ously acquired pertained to contingent consideration. During
2003, the amount related to contingent consideration was offset
by the receipt of escrow cash related to a 2001 acquisition.

The 2002 payments for prior year acquisitions primarily
included $123.8 million payment of a promissory note associated
with the December 2001 acquisition of Cardservice International,
a merchant alliance investment as a result of a merchant portfolio
purchase and contingent consideration payments.

The following table discloses capitalized expenditures
related to customer contracts, conversion costs, systems devel-
opment, other intangible assets and property and equipment.

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(0 millions )
Customer contracts $117.2 $100.4 $ 428
Conversion costs 50.8 52.5 362
Systems development 85.4 68.6 114.2
Other intangible assets 1.0 7.1 05
Subtotal 254.4 228.6 183.7
Property and equipment 1774 161.6 2065
Total amount capitalized $431.8 $390.2 $400.2
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The amounts capitalized for customer contracts relate to
initial contract payments. The increase in conversion costs
between 2003 and 2002 relates to the Card Issuing Services
segment. The increase in capitalized systems development costs
between 2004 and 2003 relates primarily to enhancements to
the debit and historical FDC merchant platforms as part of the
Concord integration. The decrease in systems development
expenditures between 2003 and 2002 results from amounts
capitalized in 2002 related to the redesign of the North American
card processing system, which was completed in the first quarter
of 2003. Amounts capitalized for property and equipment relate
to the purchase of electronic data processing equipment,
building and improvements and other equipment, including
terminals and production equipment. Capital expenditures are
funded through cash flows from operating activities.

Overall, FDC's operating cash flow from continuing opera-
tions exceeded capital expenditures noted above by $1,895.2 million,
$1,667.4 milion and $1,4885 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These cash
sources contributed to funds utilized for payments related to
business acquisitions, businesses previously acquired and treasury
stock purchases.

Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities in 2004
include the $656.4 million liquidation of Concord securities,
$108.1 million resulting from the maturity of investments held by
the Company's First Financial Bank, $37.6 million in proceeds
from the sale of CheckFree shares due to the costless collars
maturing and $13.6 million from the sale of other corporate
investments. The source of cash for 2003 relates to the sale of

various corporate investments. The source of cash for 2002 relates
to sale of CheckFree shares and various corporate investments.

The Company received $25.5 million for their propor-
tionate share of the NYCE dividend paid in 2004, The payment
of the dividend had no impact from a consolidated perspective
but does from a continuing operations perspective as the offset
to this amount is included in the discontinued operations line of
cash flows from investing activities.

The use of cash for other investing activities for 2004
relates to a $153.6 million change in regulatory, restricted and
escrow cash balances noted above in the Cash and Cash
Equivalents discussion, the purchase of $122.3 million of investments
related to the Company’s First Financial Bank, the payment of
$68.1 million of Concord related merger costs, and $19.8 million use
related to other investing activity, partially offset by $130.0 million
in proceeds from the sale of a merchant portfolio.

The use of cash for other investing activities in 2003 resuits
from a $1582 million increase in regulatory, restricted and
escrow cash balances, $32.6 million of Concord merger expenses,
and $6.7 million use related to other investing activity offset by
$80.8 million in proceeds from the sale of merchant portfolios,
and $10.3 million in proceeds from the sale of a portion of the
Company's interest in the Nihon joint venture.

The use of cash in 2002 from other investing activities
includes an increase in regulatory/restricted cash balances of
$45.0 million, $15.6 million related to other investing activities
partially offset by $20.4 million of proceeds from the sale of a
merchant portfolio,

Cash Flows from Financing Activities from Continuing Operations

Year Ended December 31,

Source/(use) 2004 2003 2002
(o0 milions )

Short-term borrowings, net $ 6648 $ (349.8) $ 788
Principal payments on long-term debt (668.5) (236.9) (14.7)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 8985.5 992.6 -
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 491.0 197.4 206.4
Purchase of treasury shares (4,559.0) (1,825.0) (849.1)
Cash dividends (65.6) (59.3) (45.4)
Net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations $(3,141.8) $(1,281.0) $(626.2)

The Company’s financing activities include net proceeds
and cash outlays related to the issuance and paydown of
commercial paper, as well as other long-term debt and capital
leases. The commercial paper balance was $664.8 million as of
December 31, 2004 compared to no outstanding balance as of
December 31, 2003, Commercial paper was used to meet short-
term liquidity needs.

FDC had remaining available short-term borrowing autho-
rization of approximately $1.1 billion at December 31, 2004
under the Company’s credit facility backed $1.5 billion commer-
cial paper program and $300 million extendable commercial
note program.

A change in one of the Company's credit ratings could
resultin higher borrowing rates for its commercial paper program
and any future debt issuances. The Company closely monitors
the factors that influence such ratings and works with the
respective credit rating agencies to maintain its credit ratings.
The Company's credit ratings remain at A1 for Moody's and A+

for Standard and Poor's. The Company also has entered into
debt agreements that require the Company to maintain a
minimum interest coverage ratio of 2.6 to 1 and satisfy certain
other restrictive covenants. The Company's current interest
coverage ratio is approximately 19.6 fo 1. The Company expects
to continue to comply with all of its debt covenants.

As part of the Concord merger, the Company assumed
the outstanding Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB") loan payable
balance of $131.6 million, which was paid in full in March 2004.
As part of the acquisition of Cashcard in April 2004, the Company
assumed $42.0 million of debt under a $122 million bank credit
line, which was paid in full as of December 31, 2004, Additionally,
the Company assumed capital lease obligations of $11.9 million.

The Company called the $542 milion 2% Senior
Convertible Contingent Debt Securities due 2008 (“CODES”) on
March 3, 2004. Bondholders had the option of taking cash or
common stock of which $358.3 million was redeemed at face
value for cash and 4.5 million shares were issued. The Company
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paid down the $:00 millicn floating rate note upon its maturity
during the first quarter of 2004, Payments for capital leases
were $29.9 miliion for the year ended December 31, 2004,

In April 2003, the Company's $200 million 6.625%
medium-term note reached maturity and the Company repaid
the principal balance. The remaining principal payments relate to
payments on capital leases and other notes payable.

On September 16, 2004, the Company issued $450
million of 3.90% senior notes due October 1, 2009 and $550
million of 4,85% senior notes due October 1, 2014. The Company
received net proceeds of $447.8 million and $547.6 million,
respectively, which were used to repay outstanding commercial
paper and for general corporate purposes. In conjunction with
the debt offering, the Company entered into two five-year and
one 10-year interest rate swaps with notional amounts totaling
$450 million and $550 million, respectively, to receive interest at
the coupon rate of the debt and to pay interest at a variable rate
equal to LIBOR plus 0.0875% and 0.2500%, respectively. The
weighted-average interest rates on the five and 10-year notes on
December 31, 2004 were 2.1% and 2.2%, respectively. This
borrowing utilized the remaining shelf registrations.

On November 12, 2004 the Company filed a $2 billion
shelf registration which were fully available at December 31, 2004,

On July 30, 2003, the Company issued $500 million of
3.375% senior notes due August 1, 2008 and $500 million of
4.7% senior notes due August 1,2013. The $992.6 million of net
proceeds from this offering were used to repay a portion of
outstanding commercial paper, repurchase the Company’s common
stock and for general corporate purposes. In conjunction with
the debt offering, the Company entered into five and 10-year
interest rate swaps with notional amounts of $250 million each
to receive interest at the coupon rate of the debt and to pay
interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 0.03% and 0.20%
respectively. The weighted average interest rate on the five and 10
year notes on December 31, 2004 was 2.9% and 3.6%, respectively.

Proceeds from the issuance of common stock result from
stock option exercises and purchases under the Company’s
employee stock purchase plan.

The following table presents stock repurchase programs
authorized by the Board of Directors from 2001 through 2004,
disclosing total shares purchased under each program and the
associated cost (in millions):

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Treasury Treasury Treasury
Shares Cost Shares Cost Shares (@) Cost
Share repurchase programs:
$700 million, authorized September 2001 - - — - 141 $512.8
$500 million, authorized May 2002 - - 1.5 $ 4619 1.1 383 .
$1.145 billion, authorized May 2003 3.4 $ 1458 253 999.5 - -
$1.0 billion, authorized February 2004 23.3 1,000.3 - — - -
$2.0 billion, authorized May 2004 47.4 2,000.6 - - - ~
$1.5 billion, authorized October 2004 141 594.7 - - - -
88.2 $3,741.4 36.8 $1461.4 15.2 $651.1
Treasury stock purchases
related to employee benefit plans 18.0 776.3 Q7 3636 7.7 298.0
Total stock repurchases 106.2 $4,517.7 465 $1,825.0 22.9 $849.1

(a) Share amounts have been retroactively restated for all periods to reflect the impact of the June 2002 stock split.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had $905.5 million
remaining under board authorized stock repurchase programs,
In February 2005, the Company increased the share repurchase
program by $2 billion. The difference between the cost of shares
repurchased noted in the table above and the amount reflected
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is due to timing
of trade settlements.

The 2004 increase in dividends is due to an increase in
the number of shares outstanding related to the Concord merger,
The 2003 increase in dividend payments results from the stock
split that occurred in June 2002. The Company maintained the
same per share dividend amount after the split, which resulted in
the doubling of the aggregate dividends paid.

The Company has $42.2 million in outstanding letters of
credit at December 31, 2004, of which nearly all expire in 2005,
with a one-year renewal option. The letters of credit are held in
connection with certain business combinations, lease arrange-
ments, bankcard association agreements and agent settlement
agreements. The Company expects to renew the letters of credit
prior to expiratior.
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Significant non-cash transactions during 2004 included
the issuance of 169.8 million shares of FDC common stock to
the Concord shareholders and the conversion of outstanding
Concord options to options to purchase 20.5 million shares of
FDC common stock as consideration in the merger. The Company
also awarded 480,000 shares of restricted stock to officers
during 2004. The Company called the $542 million CODES on
March 3, 2004 and issued 4.5 million common shares to certain
of the bondholders who elected shares versus a cash payment.
In addition, the Company entered into $43.7 million in capital lease
agreements to finance the purchase of equipment and software.

Significant non-cash transactions during 2003 include a
$16.7 million convertible debenture that was converted into 081 miflion
shares of common stock, as well as the exercise of a customer’s
1996 warrant to purchase 4.0 million shares, which resulted in the
Company issuing 0.6 million shares under a cashless exercise
provision for the incremental fair value between the exercise price
and the market price. In addition, the Company entered into
$18.8 million in capital lease agreements to finance the purchase
of equipment and software.




Significant non-cash transactions in 2002 included a
$33.3 million note that was converted into 1.83 million shares. In
addition, the Company entered into $33.2 million of capital lease
agreements in 2002 to finance the purchase of equipment and
software,

As an integral part of FDC's payment instrument services,
FDC receives funds from instruments sold in advance of settle-
ment with payment recipients. These funds (referred to as
“settlement assets” on FDC's Consolidated Balance Sheets) are
not utilized to support the Company's operations. However, the
Company does have the opportunity to earn income from investing
these funds. The Company maintains a portion of its settlement
assets in highly liquid investments (classified as cash equivalents
within settlement assets) to fund settlement obligations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than facility and equipment leasing arrangements, the
Company does not engage in off-balance sheet financing activities.
During the second quarter of 2003, the Company restructured
its synthetic operating lease arrangements (the “Restructured
Leases"). The lessor in the Restructured Leases is an unaffiliated
entity, which has as its sole member a publicly traded corporation.
The Company does not believe the lessor is a variable interest
entity, as defined in revised FASB Interpretation No. 46R
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R"), In addition,
the Company has verified that even if the lessor was determined
o be a variable interest entity, the Company would not have to
consolidate the lessor nor the assets and liabilities associated with
assets leased to the Company. This is because the Company’s
assets do not exceed 50% of the total fair value of the lessor's
assets, excluding any assets that should be excluded from such

Contractual Obligations

calculation under FIN 46R, nor did the lessor finance 95% or more
of the leased balance with non-recourse debt, target equity or
similar funding. Rent expense related to the synthetic operating
leases was $1.7 million, $2.0 million and $2.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

During the second quarter of 2003, Concord entered into
amended and restated agreements for the financing, construc-
tion and leasing of a new corporate headquarters in Memphis,
Tennessee and to include two other facilities which were previ-
ously under synthetic lease, as described below. Construction
was completed on the Memphis facility in the first quarter of
2004, and the associated rent payments will be recorded as an
assumed liability pursuant to EITF No. 95-3, “Recognition of
Liabilities In Connection with a Purchase Business Combination,
as it is the Company's intention to sell the Memphis facility prior
to occupying. The minimum annual lease payments under these
agreements are not material to the Company. The renewals,
including economic terms of the leases during the renewal term,
are subject to the consent of the lessor and lenders. In addition
to the renewal option, the Company also has the option of
purchasing the related property for the lease balance or remar-
keting the property for the lessor at the end of the initial and any
renewal term. The Company has guaranteed the value realizable
from the sale of the property at the end of the lease term. The
Company is responsible for the difference between the assumed
net sale proceeds for the Memphis facility and the total costs
financed, which exceeds the guarantee value of approximately
$50.5 million. At December 31, 2004, the Company had a
$47.0 million liability assumed in the purchase business combi-
nation related to the excess of the total cost financed and other
carrying costs over the assumed net sale proceeds.

The Company's contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004 are as follows:

Payments Due by Period

Less than After
Total 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years 5 years
(o2 millons )

Debt $ 8647 $ 8991 $1,049.1 $1,7002
Capital lease obligations 903 386 486 3.1 -
Operating leases * 3108 81.2 127.4 64.2 380

Purchase obligations @:
Technology and telecommunications ® 716.2 534.8 1739 58 1.7
All other © 4189 3148 77.2 26.7 0.2
Other long-term liabilities 1414 59.4 489 331 -
$6,190.7 $1,8935 $13756.1 $1,1820 $1,740.1

(@

Does not include guaranteed residual value of $191.9 million associated with synthetic operating leases.

Many of the Company's contracts contain clauses that allow the Company to terminate the contract with notice, and with or without a termination penalty. Termination penalties are generally an amount

less than the original obligation. Certain contracts also have an automatic renewal clause if the Company does not provide written notification of its intent to terminate the contract. Obligations under
certain contracts are usage-based and are, therefore, estimated in the above amounts. Historically, the Company has not had any significant defaults of its contractual obligations or incurred significant

penalties for termination of its contractual obligations,
(b

nications services.

{c

s

Technology and telecommunications includes obligations related to hardware purchases, software licenses, h

and soft i and support, technical consulting services and telecommu-

Other includes obligations related to materials and data used in the Card Issuing Services segment, non-technical contract services, facility security and maintenance and marketing promotions.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reserve for Merchant Credit

Losses and Check Guarantees

With respect to the merchant acquiring business, the Company’s
merchant customers (or those of its unconsolidated alliances)
have the liability for any charges properly reversed by the card-
holder. In the event, however, that the Company is not able to
collect such amounts from the merchants, due to merchant
fraud, insolvency, bankruptcy or another reason, the Company
may be liable for any such reversed charges. The Company's risk
in this area primarily relates {o situations where the cardholder
has purchased goods or services to be delivered in the future
such as airline tickets.

The Company's obligation to stand ready to perform is
minimal. The Company requires cash deposits, guarantees, letters
of credit or other types of collateral by certain merchants to
minimize its obligation. Collateral held by the Company is classi-
fied within “settlement obligations” on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The amounts of collateral held by the Company
and its unconsolidated alliances are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003
(o2 millirus )

Cash collateral $673.0 $5037
Collateral in the form of letters of credit 157.3 1938
Total collateral $830.3 $6975

The Company alsc utilizes a number of systems and
procedures to manage merchant risk. Despite these efforts, the
Company historically has experienced some level of losses due
to merchant defaults.

The Company’s contingent obligation relates to imprecision
in its estimates of required collateral. A provision for this obligation
is recorded based primarily on historical experience of credit
losses and other relevant factors such as economic downturns
or increases in merchant fraud, Merchant credit losses are
included in “cost of services” in the Company's Consclidated
Statements of Income. The following table presents the aggre-
gate merchant credit losses incurred compared to total dollar
volumes processed:

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

FDC and unconsolidated

alliances credit losses

(o2 midlions ) $ 521 $ 407 $ 398
FDC and consolidated

alliances credit losses

(wﬂzz%m!) $ 40.0 $ 321 $ 281
Total dollar volume
processed (o Aiions) $1,020.6 $662.7 $5448

The reserve recorded on the Company's Consolidated
Balance Sheets only relates to the husiness conducted by its
consolidated subsidiaries. The reserve for unconsolidated alli-
ances is recorded only in the alliances' financial statements. The
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Company has not recorded any reserve for estimated losses in
excess of reserves recorded by the unconsolidated alliances nor
has the Company identified needs to do so. At December 31,
2004 and 2003, the Company and its consolidated and uncon-
solidated alliances had aggregate merchant credit loss reserves
of $34.8 million and $27.3 million, respectively. The foregoing
disclosure presents merchant credit loss reserves in the aggre-
gate without regard to whether the reserves relate to merchant
contracts held by entities consolidated by the Company or alli-
ances accounted for under the equity method. The amount of
reserves attributable to entities consolidated by the Company
were $24.5 million and $19.4 million at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively, The Company believes the recorded reserve
approximates the fair value of the contingent obligation.

The credit loss reserves, both for the unconsalidated afli-
ances and the Company, are comprised of amounts for known
losses and a provision for losses incurred but not reported
(“BNR"). These reserves are primarily determined by performing
a historical analysis of chargeback loss experience. Other factors
are considered that could affect that experience in the future.
Such items include the general economy and economic chal-
lenges in a specific industry or those affecting certain types of
clients. Once these factors are considered, the Company or the
unconsolidated alliance establishes a rate (percentage) that is
calculated by dividing the expected chargeback {(credit) losses
by dollar volume processed. This rate is then applied against the
dollar volume processed each month and charged against earnings.
The resuiting reserve balance is then compared to requirements
for known losses and estimates for IBNR items. Historically, this
estimation process has proven to be materially accurate and the
Company believes the recorded reserve approximates the fair
value of the contingent obligation.

The majority of the TeleCheck business involves the
guarantee of checks received by merchants. If the check is
returned, TeleCheck is required to purchase the check from the
merchant at its face value and pursue collection from the check
writer. A provision for estimated check returns, net of anticipated
recoveries, is recorded at the transaction inception based on
recent history. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company
had accrued warranty balances of $19.5 million and $18.8 million,
and accrued recovery balances of $50.4 million and $59.5 million,
respectively. Accrued warranties are included in “accounts
payable and other liabilities” and accrued recoveries are included
in “accounts receivable” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During 2003, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation
No. 45, “Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of indebtedness
of Others” (“FIN 45"). Under FIN 45, the Company established an
incremental liability (and deferred revenue) for the fair value of
the check guarantee. The liability is relieved and revenue is
recognized when the check clears, is presented to TeleCheck, or
the guarantee period expires. The majority of the guarantees are
settled within 30 days. An incremental liability of $56.2 million
was recorded during the first quarter of 2003 and its balance
was approximately $4.7 million and $4.2 million at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The aggregate face value of all
checks guaranteed during the years ended December 31, 2004,




2003 and 2002 was $24.0 billion, $24.5 billion and $23.7 billion,
of which $323.0 million, $297.9 million and $287.7 million,
respectively, were returned to merchants and presented to
TeleCheck. The net impact on operating income from warranty
losses, net of recoveries from check writers was $79.0 million,
$74.3 million and $88.9 million for the years ended December
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The maximum potential
future payments under the guarantees was estimated by the
Company to be approximately $1.3 billion at December 31, 2004.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivative instruments to hedge the risk
associated with fluctuations in the short-term variable rate based
commissions payable to official check agents primarily tied to
the three month T-Bill, Federal Funds, three month and one
month LIBOR rates. In 2004 the Company entered into swap
agreements to hedge the changes in fair value associated with
certain of its long-term investments. The Company also uses
derivative instruments to hedge foreign exchange rate risk
related to foreign currency denominated revenues and interest
rate risk relating to certain fixed rate debt As required, such
instruments are reflected in the Company's Consolidated
Balance Sheets. These derivatives qualify for hedge accounting.
The Company does not participate in speculative derivative
trading. While the Company expects that its derivative instru-
ments will continue to meet the conditions for hedge accounting,
if hedges did not qualify as highly effective or if the Company did
not believe that forecasted transactions would occur, the
changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedging
would be reflected in earnings. The Company does not believe it
is exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit risk in its
hedging activities, as the counter parties are established, well-
capitalized financial institutions.

Capitalized Costs

FDC capitalizes initial payments for new contracts, contract
renewals and conversion costs associated with customer
contracts and system development costs. Capitalization of such
costs is subject to strict accounting policy criteria and requires
management judgment as to the appropriate time to initiate
capitalization. Capitalization of initial payments for contracts and
conversion costs only occurs when management is satisfied that
such costs are recoverable through future operations, contrac-
tual minimums and/or penalties in case of early termination.
Capitalization of internally developed software, primarily associ-
ated with operating platforms, occurs only upon management's
estimation that the likelihood of successful development and
implementation reaches a probable level. Currently unforeseen
circumstances in software development could require the
Company to implement alternative plans with respect to a partic-
ular effort, which could result in the impairment of previously
capitalized software development costs.

The Company's accounting policy is to limit the amount of
capitalized costs for a given contract to the lesser of the estimated
ongoing future cash flows from the contract or the termination
fees the Company would receive in the event of early termina-
tion of the contract by the customer. The Company's entitlement
to termination fees may, however, be subject to challenge if a
customer were to allege that the Company was in breach of
contract. This entitlement is also subject to the customer’s ability
to pay.

The Company had aggregate net book values for initial
payments for contracts, conversion costs and software development
of $312.7 million, $189.9 million and $171.4 million, respectively,
at December 31, 2004 and $227.8 million, $181.6 million and
$184.5 million, respectively, at December 31, 2003.

Investment Securities

The Company has investments in the equity securities of both
public and private companies where it does not have the ability
to exercise significant influence over the investee's business.
Investments in public companies and certain investment part-
nerships are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices
with changes in fair value recorded through the “other compre-
hensive income” component of stockholders' equity or for investment
partnerships through investment income. Investments in private
companies are recorded at cost.

In the case of either investment type, declines in the fair
value of the investments are reviewed to determine whether
they are other than temporary in nature. Declines in value that
are judged to be other than temporary in nature are recognized
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. For public company
investments, absent any other indications of a decline in value
being other than temporary in nature, the Company’s policy is to
treat a decline in the investment's quoted market value that has
lasted for more than six months as an other than temporary
decline in value. The Company’s policy is the same for private
company investments, however, their fair values are estimated.
In estimating fair value, the Company considers market condi-
tions, offering prices, trends of earnings/losses, price multiples,
financial position, new financing and other key measures. The
Company believes its estimates result in a reasonable reflection
of the fair values of these investments.

The Company had investments in equity securities classi-
fied as available-for-sale and carried at fair market value of
$270.8 million and $119.1 million at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively. The Company also had investments in equity
securities and other investments that were carried at cost of
$49.5 million and $51.3 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. These investments are reflected in “other assets”
on the Consclidated Balance Sheets. Gains and losses are
classified within the “investment gains and (losses)” caption
in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Transactions with Related

Parties as defined by SFAS No. 57

A substantial portion of the Company's business within the
Merchant Services segment is conducted through merchant alli-
ances. Certain merchant alliances, as it pertains to investments
accounted for under the equity method, are joint ventures
between the Company and financial institutions. No directors or
officers of the Company have ownership interests in any of the
alliances. The formation of each of these alliances generally
involves the Company and the bank contributing contractual
merchant relationships to the alliance and a cash payment from
one owner to the other to achieve the desired ownership
percentage for each. The Company and the bank contract a long-
term processing service agreement as part of the negotiation
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process. This agreement governs the Company's provision of
transaction processing services to the alliance. Therefore, the
Company has two income streams from these alliances: its
share of the alliance’s net income (classified as “equity earnings
in affiliates”) and the processing fees it charges to the alliance
(classified as “transaction processing and service fees”). The
processing fees are based on transaction volumes and unit
pricing as contained in the processing services agreement
negotiated with the alliance partner.

If the Company has majority ownership and management
control over an alliance, then the alliance’s financial statements
are consolidated with those of the Company and the related
processing fees are treated as an intercompany transaction and
eliminated upon consolidation. If the Company does not have a
controlling ownership interest in an alliance, it uses the equity
method of accounting to account for its investment in the alli-
ance. As a result, the Company's consolidated revenues include
processing fees charged to alliances accounted for under the
equity method.

The Company negotiated all agreements with the alli-
ance banks. Therefore, all transactions between the Company
and its alliances were conducted at arm’s length. However, SFAS
No. 57, ‘Related Party Disclosures' defines a transaction
between the Company and an entity for which investments are
accounted for under the equity method by the Company as a
related party transaction requiring separate disclosure in the
financial statements provided by the Company. The revenue
associated with these related party transactions are presented
on the face of the Consolidated Statements of Income,

The Company and iFormation Group formed the eONE
business in November 2000. iFormation Group is a partnership
of The Boston Consulting Group, General Atlantic Partners, LLC
and the Goldman Sachs Group. At the time eONE was formed,
the Company contributed assets having a fair value of approxi-
mately $360 million, iFormation Group contributed $120 million
in cash, and the Company and iFormation also committed
approximately $100 million in cash, proportionate to their owner-
ship levels, for future business development. This commitment
expired on November 15, 2003. The Company owns the majority
of the outstanding equity of eONE. Charles T. Fote, James D.
Robinson il and Charles T. Russell, directors of the Company,
are members of the Board of Directors of eONE. Garen K,
Staglin, a directcr of the Company until his resignation on March
8, 2002, was also a director and Chief Executive Officer of eONE
and the owner of 4,221,657 Class B Common Limited Partnership
Interests in eONE until his separation from the Company on
March 31, 2004. The Company and its subsidiaries are involved
from time to time in transactions with eONE and its subsidiaries.
The Oversight Committee of the Board of Directors has established
policies and procedures for the review of these transactions.
These policies and procedures are intended to ensure that the
transactions are commercially reasonable and fair to the Company.
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The Company has investments in investment funds
managed by a member of the Board of Directors. The Company
also pays an annual management fee to the fund. Such invest-
ment was made with the approval of the Board and is of such
amount that is not considered material to the Company. The
funds, managed by a member of the Board of Directors noted
above, held a 22% ownership interest in a company that was
acquired by FDC during 2001, The fund received the same per
share rate as other nonaffiliated shareholders. Additionally, one
of the investment funds and the Company both hold minority
equity interests in e-Duction Inc. and Bitpass.

NEW ACCOUNTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS

On December 16,2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, "Share-
Based Payment! (*SFAS 123R") which is a revision of SFAS No.
123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation® (*SFAS 123").
Statement 123R supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, ‘Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees’ and amends SFAS No. 98,
“Statement of Cash Flows” Generally, the approach in SFAS 123R
is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123. SFAS 123R
requires all share-based payments to employees to be recognized
in the income statement based on their grant date fair values
over the corresponding service period and also requires an esti-
mation of forfeitures when calculating compensation expense.
The Company must adopt SFAS 123R no later than July 1, 2005,
SFAS 123R permits public companies to adopt its requirements
using one of three methads: the "modified prospective” method,
the “maodified retrospective’ method to January 1, 2005, or the
“modified retrospective” method to all prior years for which SFAS
123 was effective. The Company has not vet determined which
adoption method it will utilize. The Company has not yet decided
whether it will adopt the provisions of this standard on July 1,
2005 as required, or earlier, as allowed.

As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company currently follows
APB Opinion No. 25 which accounts for share-based payments
to employees using the intrinsic value method and, as such,
generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock
options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS 123R fair value
method will have a significant impact on the Company's results
of operations, although it will have no impact on its overall finan-
cial position. The exact impact of the adoption of SFAS 123R
cannot be determined at this time because it will depend on
levels of share-based payments granted in the future, the timing
of adoption, the method of adoption and the valuation method,
However, had the Company adopted SFAS 123, the impact on
diluted EPS for 2004, 2003 and 2002 would have been $0.14,
$0.15 and $0.15, respectively. Adopting SFAS 123R in 2005 is
expected to have a similar impact on diluted EPS if the standard
were adopted prospectively from or retroactively to January 1,
2005. If the standard is adopted prospectively from July 1, 2005,
the expected impact on dituted EPS would be approximately half
of the full year 2004 amount noted under SFAS 123.

During September 2004, the EITF issued EITF Issue No.
04-8 “The Effect of Contingently Convertible Instruments on
Diluted Earnings per Share" (“EITF 04-8"). The pronouncement
pertains to all issued securities that have embedded market
price contingent conversion features and therefore, applies to




contingently convertible debt, contingently convertible preferred
stock, and convertible bonds with issuer option to settle for cash
upon conversion. EITF 04-8 addresses when the diluted effect of
these securities with a market price trigger should be included
in diluted earnings per share. The pronouncement is effective
for all periods ending after December 15, 2004 and must be
applied by retroactively restating previously reported EPS. The
Company has determined EITF 04-8 is applicable to the 2%
Senior Convertible Contingent Debt Securities due 2008, which
were called in the first quarter of 2004. Certain of the bond-
holders elected to receive 4.5 million shares, while the remainder
received cash. The impact on the computation of EPS is less
than $0.01 for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002. Due to the immaterial effect, the Company did not
restate previously reported EPS,

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP 108-2
‘Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings
Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004” (“FSP 109-2"). The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
(*the Act”) provides for a special one-time tax deduction of 85%
of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated as defined in the
Act. FASB Statement 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (*SFAS
109") requires adjustments of deferred tax liabilities and assets
for the effects of a change in tax laws or rates in the period that
includes the enactment date. FSP 109-2 provides an exception
to allow an enterprise time beyond the financial reporting period
of enactment to evaluate the effect of the Act on its plan for
reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings for purposes of
SFAS 109. The Company is evaluating the effects of the repa-
triation provision; however, the Company does not expect to
complete the evaluation until later in 2005. f the Company takes
full advantage of this provision, it could increase the Company's
2005 effective tax rate from continuing operations by approxi-
mately 120 basis points. The Company will reflect the effects of
the Act, if any, in 2005, as a part of the income tax expense in
the period action is taken.

FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS

The Company has a long-term objective to achieve growth of 14%-
17% in earnings per share and double-digit growth in revenues.
Acquisitions are an important part of the Company’s growth
strategy and are included in the Company's long-term objectives.

The Company expects to achieve earnings per share in
the range of $2.23 to $2.32 in 2005, which includes an esti-
mated $0.11 of integration expenses and an assumed effective
tax rate of 27%. This range does not include any impact from
expensing stock options as a result of the adoption of SFAS
123R. In connection with the Company's earnings per share
projection for 2005, management of the Company undertakes to
update the projection at any fime management has determined
that the projection is materially inaccurate. The Company does
not undertake to update, and does not intend to comment on,
segment-level projections during the year.

All forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain
as they are based on various expectations and assumptions
concerning future events and they are subject to numerous
known and unknown risks and uncertainties which could cause
actual events or results to differ materially from those projected.
Important factors upon which the Company's forward-looking
statements are premised include: (a) no unanticipated develop-
ments that delay or negatively impact the integration of Concord
EFS, Inc. according to the Company's integration plans, including
its plans to integrate IT systems, eliminate duplicative overhead
and costs, and retain customers and critical employees; (b)
continued growth at rates approximating recent levels for card-
based payment transactions, consumer money transfer transac-
tions and other product markets; (c) successful conversions
under service contracts with major clients; (d) renewal of mate-
rial contracts in the Company's business units consistent with
past experience; (e) timely, successful and cost-effective imple-
mentation of processing systems to provide new products,
improved functionality and increased efficiencies; (f) successful
and timely integration of significant businesses and technolo-
gies acquired by the Company and realization of anticipated
synergies; (@) continuing development and maintenance of
appropriate business continuity plans for the Company's
processing systems based on the needs and risks relative to
each such system; (h) absence of further consolidation among
client financial institutions or other client groups which has a
significant impact on FDC client refationships and no material
loss of business from significant customers of the Company; (i)
achieving planned revenue growth throughout the Company,
including in the merchant alliance program which involves
several joint ventures not under the sole control of the Company
and each of which acts independently of the others, and
successful management of pricing pressures through cost effi-
ciencies and other cost management initiatives; () successfully
managing the credit and fraud risks in the Company’s business
units and the merchant alliances, particutarly in the context of
the developing e-commerce markets; (k) anticipation of and
response to technological changes, particularly with respect to
e-commerce; (1) attracting and retaining qualified key employees;
{m) no unanticipated changes in laws, regulations, credit card
association rules or other industry standards affecting the
Company's businesses which require significant product rede-
velopment efforts, reduce the market for or value of its products
or render products obsolete; (n) continuation of the existing
interest rate environment so as to avoid increases in agent fees
related to Payment Services’ products and increases in interest
on the Company's borrowings; (o) absence of significant
changes in foreign exchange spreads on retail money transfer
transactions, particularty in high-volume corridars, without a
corresponding increase in volume or consumer fees; {(p)
continued political stability in countries in which Western Union
has material operations; (q) implementation of Western Union
agent agreements with governmental entities according to
schedule and no interruption of relations with countries in which
Western Union has or is implementing material agent agree-
ments; (1) no unanticipated developments relating to previously
disclosed lawsuits, investigations or similar matters; (s) no cata-
strophic events that could impact the Company’s or its major
customer's operating facilities, communication systems and
technology or that has a material negative impact on current

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS



52

economic conditions or levels of consumer spending; (t) no
material breach of security of any of our systems; and (u)
successfully managing the potential both for patent protection
and patent liability in the context of rapidly developing legal
framework for exoansive software patent protection.

Variations from these assumptions or failure to achieve
these objectives could cause actual results {o differ from those
projected in the forward-looking statements, Due to the uncer-
tainties inherent in forward-looking statements, readers are
urged not to place undue reliance on these statements, Except
for the undertaking to update the 2005 earnings per share
projection discussed above, FDC undertakes no obligation to
update or revise forward-fooking statements to reflect changed
assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events, or changes
to projections over time.

QUALITATIVE AND
QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest
rates. The Company's assets include both fixed and floating rate
interest-bearing securities. These investments arise primarily
from the Company's sale of payment instruments {principally
official checks and money orders). The Company invests the
proceeds from the sale of these instruments, pending the settle~
ment of the payment instrument obligation. The Company has
classified these investments as available-for-sale. Accordingly,
they are carried on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets
at fair market value. A portion of the Company’s Payment
Services business involves the payment of commissions to selling
agents that are computed based on short-term variable rates.

To the extent the Company does not pay commissions to
its selling agents, or to the extent it invests the proceeds from
the sale of payment instruments in floating rate investments,
interest rate risk is nonexistent or minimal providing the invest-
ments are held to maturity. The unmatched position that is not
hedged through interest rate swap derivatives, which is the
amount of fixed income investments upon which the Company
also pays the selling agent a commission based on short-term
interest rates, is the amount that subjects the Company to interest
rate risk arising from changes in short-term interest rates.

The Company's objective in managing interest rate risk is
to mitigate the risk that earnings and the market value of the
investments could be adversely impacted by changes in interest
rates. The Company has developed a risk management program
to quantify this risk utilizing advanced portfolio modeling techniques.
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The Company has hedged a majority of this risk through the use
of interest rate swap agreements, which converts the variable
rate commission payments to a fixed rate and to a lesser extent
the impact of market valuation of certain long-term investments.

The Company's interest rate-sensitive liabilities are its
debt instruments consisting of commercial paper, fixed rate
medium-term notes and long-term debt securities.

A 10% proportionate increase in interest rates in 2005, as
compared with the average level of interest rates in 2004, would
result in a decrease to pretax income of approximately $7.9 million.
Of this decrease, $2.6 million relates to expected investment
positions, commissions paid to selling agents, growth in new
business and the effects of swap agreements. The remaining
$8.3 million decrease primarily relates to the Company's expected
balance of short-term variable rate commercial paper and variable
interest rate debt. Conversely, a corresponding decrease in
interest rates would result in a comparable improvement to
pretax earnings. The 10% proportionate increase in interest
rates discussed above is used to show the relative impact to a
change in interest rates. Actual interest rates could change
significantly more than 10%.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company is exposed to changes in currency rates as a result
of its investments in foreign operations and from revenues gener-
ated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. A risk management
program is in place to manage these risks, the majority of which is
related to Western Union’s foreign currency denominated revenue.

Western Union provides money transfer services in more
than 195 countries and territories. Foreign exchange risk is
managed through the structure of the business and an active
risk management process. Western Union settles with its agents
in US. dollars or euros and in certain circumstances in the
agents’ respective local currencies, and requires the agent to
obtain settlement currency to provide to recipients. Thus,
Western Union is generally not refiant on international currency
markets to obtain and pay illiquid currencies. The foreign
currency exposure that does exist is limited by the fact that the
majority of transactions are paid shortly after they are initiated.
In addition, in money transfer transactions involving different
send and receive currencies, Wastern Union generates revenue
by receiving a foreign currency spread based on the difference
between buying currency at wholesale exchange rates and
providing the currency to consumers at retail exchange rates.
This spread provides some protection against currency fluctua-
tions, Western Union's policy is not to speculate in foreign
currencies and it promptly buys and sells foreign currencies as
necessary to cover its net payables and receivables, which are
denominated in foreign currencies.

The Company utilizes foreign currency options, forward
exchange contracts and currency swaps, which qualify as cash
flow hedges to mitigate the cash flow or market value risks
associated with foreign currency denominated transactions
primarily due to the euro, Canadian dollar and Australian dollar.
These are intended to offset the effect of exchange rate fluctua-
tions on forecasted sales expected to occur over the next six




years. Gains and losses on the derivatives are intended to offset
losses and gains on the hedged transactions in an effort to
reduce the earnings volatility resulting from fluctuating foreign
currency exchange rates.

Since the critical terms of the options, forward and swap
contracts, and the hedged transactions are the same, the hedges
are highly effective. Changes in the fair value of the options and
forward contracts designated as hedging instruments of the
variability of cash flows associated with foreign currency risk are
generally reported in the “other comprehensive income” compo-
nent of stockholders’ equity. These amounts subsequently are
reclassified into revenue or expense in the same period in which
the foreign currency transactions occur. Changes in the fair
value of forward contracts designated as fair value hedges are
recorded in earnings as are changes in fair value of the hedged
item. As of December 31, 2004, the maximum length of time
over which the Company is hedging its exposure to the vari-
ability in future cash flows associated with foreign currency risk
is six years for revenues, although over 979% of the aggregate
derivative notional amount expires within one year.

A hypothetical uniform 10% strengthening or weakening
in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to all the currencies in
which the Company's revenues and profits are denominated
would result in a decrease/increase to pretax income of approx-
imately $20 million,

Regulatory
Western Union's international agents have the responsibility to
maintain all licenses necessary to provide money transfer

services in their countries and to comply with all local rules,
regulations and licensing requirements. The Company's money
transfer business is subject to some form of regulation in each of
the 195 countries and territories in which such services are offered.
In some countries, only fully licensed banks and the national post
office are permitted to provide cross-border money transfer
service to the general public.

State, federal and foreign jurisdictions may impose regu-
lations that could impact Western Union's foreign exchange risk
by, among other possibilities, imposing regulations that limit
Western Union’s ability to obtain the benefit of the exchange
rate spread between wholesale and retail currency rates or
imposing banking moratoriums or other actions that could affect
currency liquidity. Western Union has successfully managed the
risks outlined above in the past and believes that the breadth
and scope of its network makes it unlikely that these risks will
have a material adverse impact on its business.

In those few countries with significant foreign currency
controls, Western Union offers “inbound only” service and does
not accept funds in these countries for remittance abroad.

Banking moratoriums have been very rare and, to date, they
have not had an appreciable impact on Western Union's business.
When such a moratorium is imposed by a country, the Company
may temporarily discontinue its services in that country.

Through its merchant alliances, FDMS holds an ownership
interest in several competing merchant acquiring businesses
while serving as the electronic processor for those businesses.
In order to satisfy state and federal antitrust requirements, the
Company actively maintains an antitrust compliance program.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

53




54

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
{ e mdllions, ﬂz:;t//yd&mafwmff )
REVENUES:
Transaction and processing service fees:
Payment Services $ 3,7204 $ 32128 $ 27970
Merchant Services * 2,776.0 1,8980 1,7900
Check verification and guarantee services 405.4 389.2 3756
Card Issuing Services 1,677.3 1,362.1 13266
All Other 1275 1441 166.9
Investment income, net 91.2 1438 97.3
Professional services 89.9 1029 118656
Software licensing and maintenance 63.4 53.4 629
Product sales and other 4783 3855 2753
Reimbursable postage and other 583.8 6083 506.5
10,013.2 84002 7,602.6
EXPENSES:
Cost of services 5,140.6 4,235.1 3,7288
Cost of products sold 2231 204.4 1895
Selling, general and administrative 1,610.5 1,375.0 12705
Reimbursable postage and other 583.8 608.3 506.5
Other operating expenses:
Restructuring, net 63.5 27.9 5.1
Impairments 0.5 6.2 27.8
Litigation and regulatory settlements 324 50 410
Other 25.0 - -
7,679.4 6,4619 5,769.2
Operating profit 2,333.8 1,0383 1,733.4
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest income 251 7.5 50
Interest expense (136.8) (107.1) (1108)
Investment gains and (losses) 5.8 67) 0.7
Divestitures, net 265.2 88 42
159.4 (99.5) (100.8)
Income before income taxes, minority interest, equity earnings in affiliates
and discontinued operations 2,493.2 1,8388 1,632.5
Income taxes 674.7 4639 4223
Minority interest (114.6) (1196) (96.6)
Equity earnings in affiliates 163.9 1387 1186
Income from continuing operations 1,867.8 1,394.0 1,232.2
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes of $21.3,$17.6 and $9.9, respectively 74 147 57
Netincome $ 1,875.2 $ 1,4087 $ 12379
EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS:
Basic $ 226 $ 189 $ 163
Diluted 222 1.86 1.60
EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Basic $ 227 $ 1 $ 163
Diluted 223 1.88 1.61
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING:
Basic 827.0 739.1 7575
Diluted 840.2 749.2 771.8

December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Stat "
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Includes processing fees, administrative service fees and other fees charged to merchant alliances accounted for under the equity method of $203.8 million, $181.8 million and $199.6 million for the years ended




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2004 2003
(r milions )
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8954 $ 8398
Settlement assets 15,697.3 15,1193
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for
doubtful accounts of $48.0 (2004) and $43.8 (2003) 1,804.4 15249
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of
$1,782.0 (2004) and $1,555.8 (2003) 854.8 692.3
Goodwill 8,470.1 3,731.0
Other intangibles, less accumulated amortization of
$1,525.1 (2004) and $1,250.6 (2003) 2,897.4 1,394.0
Investment in affiliates 800.7 7745
Other assets 1,208.7 1,006.4
Assets held for sale - 503.3
Total Assets $32,718.8 $25,585.6
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Liabilities:
Settlement obligations $15,590.9 $14,833.2
Accounts payable and other liabilities 3,635.5 29938
Borrowings 4,606.3 35750
Liabilities related to assets held for sale - 1365
Total Liabilities 23,832.7 215383
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 12)
Stockholders' Equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value; authorized 2,000.0 shares,
issued 1,067.7 shares (2004) and 887.9 shares (2003) 10.7 9.0
Additional paid-in capital 8,506.1 25768
Paid-in capital 9,516.8 2,585.9
Retained earnings 8,136.1 6,588.3
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (176.8) (1002
Less treasury stock at cost, 263.7 shares (2004) and 181.4 shares (2003) (8,520.0) (5,027.7)
Total Stockholders' Equity 8,886.1 4,047.3
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $32,718.8 $25,585.6

See Notes to Consolidated Financial State 5.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
(2 miblions)
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1, attributable to continuing operations $ 83398 $ 7904 $ 6796
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1, attributable to discontinued operations 67.8 280 24.8
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income from continuing operations 1,867.8 1,384.0 12322
Net income from discentinued operations 74 14,7 57
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 738.2 569.3 523.2
Non-cash portion of charges (gains) related to restructuring, impairments, litigation and
regulatory settlements, other, investment {gains) and losses and divestitures, net (148.8) 380 61.0
Other non-cash items, net (97.5) (71.9) (64.7)
Increase (decrease) in cash, excluding the effects of acquisitions and dispositions,
resulting from changes in:
Accounts receivable (119.8) (70.8) (146.3)
Other assets 49.1 79 54.4
Accounts payable and other liabilities (3.4) 52.1 (99.4)
Income tax accounts 424 37.0 3183
Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations 2,327.0 1,957.6 18887
Net cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations 109 384 241
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,337.9 1.996.0 1,9128
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Current year acquisitions, net of cash acquired (62.4) (1309) (624.9)
Payments related to other businesses previously acquired (68.9) (44.6) (208.1)
Proceeds from dispositions, net of expenses paid 826.1 - -
Additions to property and equipment, net (177.4) (161.6) (206.5)
Payments to secure customer service contracts, including outlays for conversion,
and capitalized systems development costs ‘ (254.4) (228.6) (193.7)
Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities 815.7 449 121.7
Dividend received from discontinued operations 255 - -
Other investing activities (233.8) (106.4) (40.92)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing operations 870.4 (627.2) (1,181.7)
Net cash (used in) investing activities from discontinued operations (78.5) (0.8) (14.8)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 791.9 (627.8) (1,166.5)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Short-term borrowings, net 664.8 (3498) 76.6
Principal payments on long-term debt (668.5) (236.9) (14.7)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 9955 8826 -
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 491.0 197.4 206.4
Purchase of treasury shares (4,559.0) (1,825.0) (849.1)
Cash dividends (65.6) (59.3) (45.4)
Net cash (used in) financing activities from continuing operations (3,141.8) (1281.0) (626.2)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities from discontinued operations 0.2) 1.0 (GRY
Net cash (used in) financing activities (3,142.0) (1,280.0) (631.3)
Change in cash and cash equivalents—continuing operations 55.6 494 1108
Change in cash and cash equivalents—discontinued operations (67.8) 388 42
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, attributable to continuing operations $ 8954 $ 8308 $ 7904
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, attributable to discontinued operations $ - 3 678 $ 290

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated

.
Comprehensive  Retained Comg‘ehheensive Common Paidin  __ TreasuryStock
Total Income Earnings Income Shares Capital Shares Cost
( 2 edlions )
Balance, December 31,2001 $3,5139 $4,3656.2 $(1433) 8979  $24920.1 (1368) $(3,122.1)
Comprehensive income
Net income 1,2379 $1.2379 1,2379
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gains on securities 196.1 196.1
Unrealized losses on hedging activities (212.5) (212.5)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 340 340
Minimum pension liability adjustment (71.9) (71.9)
Other comprehensive loss (54.3) (64.3)
Comprehensive income $1,1836
Purchase of treasury shares (849.1) (22.9) (849.1)
Stock issued for compensation and benefit plans 3215 (195.5) 1143 12.8 4027
Stock issued for conversion of debt 333 79 1.8 254
Cash dividends declared ($0.07 per share) (52.9) (52.9)
Balance, December 31,2002 415683 53628 (1978) 8979 25344 (1451)  {(3,543.1)
Comprehensive income
Net income 1,408.7 $1,408.7 1,408.7
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized losses on securities (36.1) (36.1)
Unrealized gains on hedging activities 723 72.3
Foreign currency translation adjustment 87.9 879
Minimum pension liability adjustment 26.7) 26.7)
Other comprehensive income 97.4 97.4
Comprehensive income $1,506.1
Purchase of treasury shares (1,825.0) (46.5) (1,825.0)
Stock issued for compensation and benefit plans 2483 (121.4) 51.7 87 3180
Stock issued for conversion of debt 16.7 40 09 12.7
Stock issued for conversion of warrants 26 59) 02) 06 8.7
Cash dividends declared ($0.08 per share) (58.7) (68.7)
Balance, December 31,2003 40473 65833 (100.2) 8978 2,5859 (1814) (5,027.7)
Comprehensive income
Net income 1,875.2 $18752 1875.2
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized losses on securities (107.9) (107.9)
Unrealized gains on hedging activities 16.0 16.0
Foreign currency translation adjustment 47.3 473
Minimum pension liability adjustment (32.0) (32.0)
Other comprehensive income (76.6) (76.8)
Comprehensive income $1,7986
Stock issued related to merger 6,858.5 169.8 6,858.5
Purchase of treasury shares (45177) (1062)  (4517.7)
Stock issued for compensation and benefit plans  574.0 (314.9) 63.3 19.4 825.6
Stock issued for conversion of debt 182.1 539 1.8) 45 129.8
Other 10.7 107
Cash dividends declared ($0.08 per share) (67.4) (87.4)
Balance, December 31, 2004 $8,886.1 $8,136.1 $(176.8) 1,067.7 $9,516.8 (263.7) $(8,590.0)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTE 1:sUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of First
Data Corporation (‘FDC" or the *Company”) include the accounts
of FDC and its controlled subsidiaries. All significant intercom-
pany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Investmentsinunconsolidated affiliated companies are accounted
for under the equity method and are included in “investment in
affiliates” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Company generally utilizes the equity method of accounting
when it has an ownership interest of between 20% and 50% in an
entity, providing the Company is able to exercise significant influ-
ence over the investee's operations.

The Company consolidates an entity’s financial state-
ments when the Company either will absorb a majority of the
entity's expected losses or residual returns, in the case of a vari-
able interest entity (“VIE"), or has the ability to exert control over
a subsidiary. Control is normally established when ownership
interests exceed 50% in an entity. However, when the Company
does not exercise control over a majority-owned entity as a
result of other investors having rights over the management and
operations of the entity, the Company accounts for the entity
under the equity method. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
there were no greater-than-50%-owned affiliates whose finan~
cial statements were not consolidated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial
Statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Presentation
The Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet presentation is
unclassified due to the short-term nature of its settlement obli-
gations, contrasted with the Company's ability to invest cash
awaiting settlement in long-term investment securities.

On February 26, 2004, FDC completed the Concord EFS,
Inc. (“Concord”) merger. The Company agreed with the US.
Department of Justice (*DOJ") to divest its 64% ownership of
NYCE Corporation (“NYCE"), an electronic funds transfer
network, so that the Company could complete its merger with
Concord. The Company completed the sale of NYCE on July 30,
2004. The Company's financial statements reflect NYCE as a
discontinued operation with the assets and liabilities of NYCE
classified under the captions "Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities
related to assets held for sale” on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The results of operations are treated as income from
discontinued operations, net of tax, and separately stated on the
Consolidated Statements of Income, below income from
continuing operations.

Business Description

FDC provides a variety of transaction processing services and
money transfer and payment services to financial institutions,
commercial establishments and consumers. The Company clas-
sifies its operations into three reportable segments: Payment
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Services, Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services (see
Note 16).

FDC's facilities in the United States provide the data
center infrastructure that processes the majority of the
Company's transactions. FDC's operations in the United
Kingdom, Germany, Greece and Australia represent the
Company’s most significant foreign transaction processing loca-
tions. The United Kingdom, Greece and Australia operations
process transactions for Card Issuing Services clients located
outside of North America. In the Merchant Services segment the
Germany operations sell and service POS devices throughout
Europe and the Australia operations process transactions
outside the United States. Payment Services domestic and inter-
national transactions are processed through the data centers
located in the United States. Other than the electronic routing of
transactions through these data centers, the Payment Services
international operations are managed and operate outside the
United States. Each of the Company’s three business segments
has an international presence through various regional or
country offices where sales, customer service and/or adminis-
trative personnel are based. These international operations
generate revenues from customers and consumers located and
operating outside of the United States. The following table pres-
ents revenues generated from processing transactions at loca-
tions within the United States (domestic} and outside of the
United States (international) as percentages of FDC's consoli-
dated revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
Domestic 93% 94% 97%
International 7% 6% 3%

The following table presents long-lived assets attribut-
able to operations with processing locations based within the
United States (domestic) and outside of the United States
(international) as percentages of FDC's total long-lived assets
as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
Domestic 90% S1% 95%
International 10% 9% 5%

No individual foreign country is material to the Company's
total revenues or long-lived assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Highly liquid investments (other than those included in settle-
ment assets) with original maturities of three months or less
(that are readily convertible to cash) are considered to be cash
equivalents and are stated at cost, which approximates market
value. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company held
$895.4 million and $839.8 million in cash and cash equivalents,
respectively.

Excluded from cash and cash equivalents at December
31, 2004 and 2003 was $598.4 million and $422.4 million,
respectively. Such excluded amounts at December 31, 2004 and
2003 consist of $4586.3 million and $283.0 million, respectively,
of regulatory required investments in connection with the money
transfer operations and client covenants associated with the
official check business; $100.0 million of required investments in
connection with the Company's First Financial Bank for both




periods; as well as $43.1 million and $39.4 million, respectively,
of escrowed funds and other. The escrowed funds relate
primarily to installment payments on acquisitions. Amounts
excluded from cash and cash equivalents are included in “other
assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Investment Securities

A majority of the Company's settlement assets represent invest-
ments, which are primarily comprised of state and municipal
government obligations. Additionally, the Company has invest-
ments in publicly-traded corporate equity securities, which are
primarily held in the Company's name and in the custody of a
major financial institution. The Company also has investments in
investment partnerships, for which the equity method of
accounting is utilized. The specific identification method is used
to determine the cost basis of securities sold. At December 31,
2004 and 2003, all of the Company's investments were classi-
fied as available-for-sale. Unrealized gains and losses on these
investments are included as a separate component of “accumu-
lated other comprehensive income” (*OCI"), net of any related
tax effect. The Company also has equity securities of private
companies for strategic purposes, which are included in “other
assets” in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets and are
carried at cost.

Declines in value that are judged to be other than tempo-
rary in nature are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
Income. For public company investments, the Company’s policy
is to treat a decline in the investment's quoted market value that
has lasted for more than six months as an other than temporary
decline in value, The Company also considers other qualitative
and quantitative indicators in judging whether a decline in value
is other than temporary in nature. The Company's policy is the
same for private company investments; however, their fair values
are estimated. In estimating fair value, market conditions, offering
prices, trends of earnings/losses, price multiples, financial posi-
tion, new financing and other key measures are considered. The
Company believes the estimates result in a reasonable reflec-
tion of the fair values of these investments.

Realized gains and losses resulting from other than
temporary declines in value relating to investments held in the
Company’s Payment Services investment portfolio are included
in the “investment income, net” component of revenues in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. These gains and losses are
classified as such because they are recurring in nature as they
are part of the Company's investment portfolio management
process and the management of this portfolio is a core compo-
nent of the Payment Services business. Realized gains and
losses resulting from other than temporary declines in value
relating to the Company's other investments are classified within
the “investment gains and (losses)” caption on the Consolidated
Statements of income.

Reserve for Merchant Credit Losses and

Check Guarantees

With respect to the merchant acquiring business, the Company's
merchant customers {or those of its unconsolidated alliances)
have the liability for any charges properly reversed by the card-
holder. In the event, however, that the Company is not able to
collect such amounts from the merchants, due to merchant
fraud, insolvency, bankruptcy or another reason, the Company
may be liable for any such reversed charges. The Company's risk
in this area primarily relates to situations where the cardholder

has purchased goods or services to be delivered in the future
such as airline tickets.

The Company's cbligation to stand ready to perform is
minimal. The Company requires cash deposits, guarantees,
letters of credit or other types of collateral by certain merchants
to minimize its obligation. Collateral held by the Company is clas-
sified within  “settlement obligations” on the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amounts of collateral held by
the Company and its unconsolidated alliances are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003
(o2 millions )

Cash collateral $673.0 $503.7
Collateral in the form of letters of credit 157.3 1938
Total collateral $830.3 $697.5

The Company also utilizes a number of systems and
procedures to manage merchant risk. Despite these efforts, the
Company historically has experienced some level of losses due
to merchant defaults.

The Company's contingent obligation relates to the
imprecision in its estimates of required collateral. A provision for
this obligation is recorded based primarily on historical experi-
ence of creditlosses and other relevant factors such as economic
downturns or increases in merchant fraud. Merchant credit
losses are included in ‘cost of services” in the Company's
Consolidated Statements of Income. The foilowing table pres-
ents the aggregate merchant credit losses incurred compared to
total dollar volumes processed:

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
FDC and unconsolidated

alliances credit losses

(or milons) $ 521 $ 407 $ 398
FDC and consclidated

alliances credit losses

(on mithons ) $ 400 $ 32.1 $ 28.1
Total dollar volume
processed (o Alins) $1,020.6 $662.7 $544.6

The reserve recorded on the Company's Consolidated
Balance Sheets only relates to the business conducted by its
consolidated subsidiaries. The reserve for unconsolidated alli-
ances is recorded only in the alliances’ financial statements. The
Company has not recorded any reserve for estimated losses in
excess of reserves recorded by the unconsolidated alliances nor
has the Company identified needs to do so. At December 31,
2004 and 2003, the Company and its consolidated and uncon-
solidated alliances had aggregate merchant credit loss reserves
of $34.8 million and $27.3 million, respectively. The foregoing
disclosure presents merchant credit loss reserves in the aggre-
gate without regard to whether the reserves relate to merchant
contracts held by entities consolidated by the Company or alli-

" ances accounted for under the equity method. The amount of

reserves attributable to entities consolidated by the Company
were $24.5 million and $19.4 million at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively. The Company believes the recorded reserve
approximates the fair value of the contingent obligation.

The credit loss reserves, both for the unconsolidated alli-
ances and the Company, are comprised of amounts for known
losses and a provision for losses incurred but not reported
(“IBNR"). These reserves are primarily determined by performing

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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a historical analysis of chargeback loss experience. Other factors
are considered that could affect that experience in the future.
Such items include the general economy and economic chal-
lenges in a specific industry or those affecting certain types of
clients. Once these factors are considered, the Company or the
unconsolidated alliance establishes a rate (percentage) that is
calculated by dividing the expected chargeback (credit) losses
by dollar volume processed. This rate is then applied against the
dollar volume processed each month and charged against earn-
ings. The resulting reserve balance is then compared to require-
ments for known losses and estimates for IBNR items.
Historically, this estimation process has proven to be materially
accurate and the Company believes the recorded reserve
approximates the fair value of the contingent obligation.

The majority of the TeleCheck Services, Inc. (‘TeleCheck”)
business involves the guarantee of checks received by merchants.
If the check is returned, TeleCheck is required to purchase the
check from the merchant at its face value and pursue collection
from the check writer. A provision for estimated check returns,
net of anticipated recoveries, is recorded at the transaction
inception basec on recent history. At December 31, 2004
and 2003, the Company had accrued warranty balances of
$19.5 million and $18.8 million, and accrued recovery balances
of $560.4 million and $59.5 million, respectively. Accrued warran-~
ties are included in "accounts payable and other liabilities” and
accrued recoveries are included in “accounts receivable” in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During 2003, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation
No. 45, “Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others” (*FIN 45"). Under FIN 45, the Company established
an incremental liability (and deferred revenue) for the fair value
of the check guarantee. The liability is relieved and revenue is
recognized when the check clears, is presented to TeleCheck,
or the guarantee period expires. The majority of the guarantees
are settled within 30 days. An incremental liability of
$8.2 million was recorded during the first quarter of 2003 and
its balance was approximately $4.7 million and $4.2 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The aggregate face
value of all checks guaranteed during the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $24.0 billion,
$24.5 billion and $23.7 billion, of which $323.0 million,
$297.9 million and $287.7 million, respectively, were returned to
merchants and presented to TeleCheck. The net impact on
operating income from warranty losses, net of recoveries from
check writers was $79.0 million, $74.3 million and $88.9 million
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The maximum potential future payments under the
guarantees was estimated by the Company to be approximately
$1.3 billion at December 31, 2004.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company utilizes derivative instruments primarily to mitigate
interest rate risk. In 2004 the Company entered into swap
agreements to hedge the changes in fair value asscciated with
certain of its long-term investments. To a lesser extent, deriva-
tive instruments are utilized to mitigate market and foreign
currency risk. The Company recognizes all derivative financial
instruments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as assets or
liabilities at fair value. Such amounts are recorded in either the
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“other assets” or “accounts payable and other liabilities” captions
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Generally, changes in fair
value are recognized immediately in earnings, unless the deriva-
tive qualifies as a hedge of future cash flows. For derivatives that
qualify as hedges of future cash flows, the effective portion of
changes in fair value is recorded temporarily in stockholders’
equity as a component of “OCI” and then recognized in earnings
in the period or periods the hedged item affects earnings.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable balances are stated net of allowance for
doubtful accounts. Historically, the Company has not encoun-
tered significant write-offs. The Company records allowances
for doubtful accounts when it is probable that the accounts
receivable balance will not be collected.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation, which is computed using the straight-line method
over the iesser of the estimated useful fife of the related assets
(generally three to 10 years for equipment, furniture and lease-
hold improvements, and 30 years for buildings) or the lease

" term. Maintenance and repairs which do riot extend the useful

life of the respective assets are charged to expense as incurred.
Amounts charged to expense for the depreciation and amortiza-
tion of property and equipment, including equipment under
capital lease, were $246.4 million in 2004, $214.0 million in
2003 and $202.1 million in 2002.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Gooduwill represents the excess of purchase price over tangible
and other intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed
arising from business combinations. The Company’s annual
goodwill impairment test did not identify any impairments in
2004, 2003 or 2002.

FDC capitalizes initial payments for new contracts,
contract renewals and conversion costs associated with
customer processing relationships to the extent recoverable
through future operations, contractual minimums and/or penal-
ties in the case of early termination. The Company's accounting
policy is to limit the amount of capitalized costs for a given
contract to the lesser of the estimated ongoing future cash
flows from the contract or the termination fees the Company
would receive in the event of early termination of the contract by
the customer.

The Company develops software that is used in providing
processing services to customers. To a lesser extent, the
Company also develops software to be sold or licensed to
customers. Software development costs are capitalized once
technological feasibility of the software has been established.
Costs incurred prior to establishing technological feasibility are
expensed as incurred. Technological feasibility is established
when the Company has completed all planning, designing,
coding and testing activities that are necessary to determine
that a product can be produced to meet its design specifica-
tions, including functions, features and technical performance
requirements. Capitalization of costs ceases when the product is
available for general use. Software development costs are amor-
tized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
life of the software, which is generally five years.




in addition to capitalized contract and software develop-
ment costs, other intangibles include copyrights, patents,
acquired software, trademarks and noncompete agreements
acquired in business combinations, Other intangibles are amor-

benefit period, which generally ranges from three to 25 years.
Other intangible amortization expense totaled $491.8 million,
$355.3 million and $321.1 million for the years ended December
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

tized on a straight-line basis over the length of the contract or

The following table provides the components of other intangibles:

Weighted- 2004 2003

Average Net of Net of

Amortization 2004 Accumulated 2003 Accumulated

Year Ended December 31, Period Cost Amortization Cost Amortization
(ezgeers ) (o2 mdllons)

Acquired contracts 120 $2284.9 $1,727.9 $ 8830 $ 4829

Conversion costs 9.0 399.7 189.9 377.0 1816

Contract costs 70 487.4 312.7 414.0 297.8

Developed software 50 408.2 171.4 389.2 1845

Purchased or acquired software 40 4258 196.4 2869 1202

Other 416.5 299.1 294.5 187.0

Total other intangibles $4,422.5 $2,897.4 $2644.6 $1,394.0

The estimated future aggregate amortization expense for
existing other intangibles as of December 31, 2004 is $508.8
million in 2005, $448.0 million in 2006, $383.3 million in 2007,
$269.5 million in 2008 and $236.5 million in 2009.

Certain long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment on
an annual basis or whenever events indicate that their carrying
amount may not be recoverable. In such reviews, estimated
undiscounted future cash flows associated with these assets or
operations are compared with their carrying value to determine
if a write—down to fair value (normally measured by the expected
present value technigue) is required.

[nventory

Inventories are stated at lower of cost or market and consist
primarily of POS terminals, forms and blank financial paper. The
cost of inventory is determined using average cost for POS
terminals and blank financial paper, and first-in first-out (“FIFQ")
for forms.

Minority Interest

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries repre-
sent the minority shareholders’ share of the equity and after-tax
net income or loss of consolidated subsidiaries. Minority interest
is presented pretax in the Consclidated Statements of Income
since the substantial majority of the Company's non-wholly
owned consolidated subsidiaries are flow through entities for
tax purposes. The minority interest included in “accounts payable
and other liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets reflects
the original investments by these minority shareholders in the
consolidated subsidiaries, along with their proportionate share
of the earnings or losses of the subsidiaries, net of dividends.

Treasury Stock

The Company records treasury stock purchases under the cost
method whereby the entire cost of the acquired stock is recarded
as treasury stock. The FIFO method is used on the subsequent
reissuance of shares and any resulting gains or losses are cred-
ited or charged to retained earnings.

Revenue Recognition

The majority of the Company's revenues are comprised of trans-
action-based fees, which typically constitute a percentage of
dollar volume processed, per transaction processed, accounts
on file or some combination thereof. “Product sales and other” in
the Consclidated Statements of Income includes sales of the
Company's products (which are generally ancillary to service
revenues and primarily relate to POS devices in the Merchant
Services segment), gains considered part of normal operations
and other items that generally recur but that fluctuate as to
amount and timing. Revenue is allocated to the separate units of
accounting in a multiple element transaction based on relative
fair values, provided each element has stand alone value to the
customer, the fair value of any undelivered items can be readily
determined, and delivery of any undelivered items is probable
and substantially within the Company’s control. A description of
the major components of revenue, by business segment, is as
follows:

PAYMENT SERVICES—Revenue is primarily derived from three
sources; transaction fees charged to money transfer consumers,
income earned on the investment of funds received from the
sale of payment instruments (primarily official checks and money
orders), and to a lesser extent, in certain money transfer transac-
tions involving different send and receive currencies, Western
Union generates revenue by acquiring currency at wholesale
exchange rates and providing the currency to consumers at
retail exchange rates.

Fees from a typical money transfer are generally based
on the principal amount of the transaction and the location
where the funds are to be transferred. This transaction fee is set
by the Company and is recorded as revenue at the time of sale.
There are generally two agent locations involved in a money
transfer transaction, the agent initiating the transaction (the
“send agent’) and the agent disbursing funds (the “receive
agent”). The send and receive agents each earn a commission
generally based on a percentage of the fee charged to the
customer. These commissions are included in “cost of services”
in the Consolidated Statements of Income and are recorded at
the time of sale.
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The Company offers several bill payment services,
including payments from consumers to utility companies, collec-
tion agencies, finance companies, morigage lenders, and other
billers; facilitating e-commerce bill payments through multiple
sources; and facilitating mortgage payments from a customer's
account directly to their mortgage lender, Revenues on these
services are primarily derived from transaction fees.

The Company also earns transaction revenues in connec-
tion with its prepaid stored-value card programs (i.e. gift cards)
with brick and mortar, Internet and international applications for
national, regional and local retailers. The full-service stored-value/
gift card program offers transaction processing services, card
acquisition and customer service for over 200 national brands.

The Company's money order and official check services
generate revenue primarily through the Company's ability to
invest funds pending settlement. The Company invests a majority
of these funds in high quality investments issued by municipali-
ties to minimize its exposure to credit risks. In a money order
transaction, a consumer purchases a money order from an
agent. The agent selling the money order generally remits the
funds collected from the consumer to the Company within a
matter of days of the transaction date. An agent generally does
not receive a commission on the sale of a money order, but is
compensated by charging a fee to the consumer. In an official
check transaction, a consumer will procure an official check
from one of the Company's agents, typically a financial institu-
tion. The official check agent is generally required to remit the
funds collected from the consumer to the Company the following
day. The Company pays its official check agents commissions
based on short-termvariable rates and the balance of outstanding
official checks (the “commissionable balance”). The Company
nets the commissions paid to official check agents against the
revenue it earns from its investments.

MERCHANT SERVICES—In the case of merchant contracts that
the Company owns and manages, revenue is primarily comprised
of fees charged to the merchant, net of interchange and assess-
ments charged by the credit card associations, and is recognized
at the time of sale. The Company has no control over inter-
change fees and assessments charged by credit card associa-
tions and believes its presentation of revenue, net of these fees
and assessments, more accurately depicts the revenue earned
by the Company. The fees charged to the merchant are a
percentage of the credit card and signature based debit card
transaction’s dollar value, a fixed amount or a combination of the
twao. Personal identification number based debit (“PiN-debit")
network fees are recognized in “transaction and processing
service fee” revenues and “cost of services” in the Consolidated
Statements of Income, as the fees are generally invoiced by the
networks and paid directly by the Company, versus credit card
associations interchange fees and assessments, which are
settled on a net basis. STAR network access fees charged to
merchants are charged on a per transactions basis as part of an
acquiring activity.

FIRST DATA CORPORATION 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

Interchange fees and assessments charged by credit
card associations to the Company's consolidated subsidiaries
and network fees related to PIN-debit transactions charged by
debit networks are as follows (in millions).

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Interchange fees

and assessments $4,960.9 $3,6827 $3,217.7
Debit network fees 515.4 163.4 74.7

The Company charges processing fees to its merchant
alliance joint ventures. In situations where an alliance is
accounted for under the equity method, the Company's consoli-
dated revenues include the processing fees charged to the alli-
ance, as presented on the face of the Consolidated Statements
of income.

Revenue from check verification and guarantee services
is recognized at the time of sale less the fair value of the guar-
antee as discussed above in *Reserve for merchant credit losses
and check guarantees” The fair value of the guarantee is
deferred until the later of the Company being called upon to
honor the guarantee or the expiration of the guarantee. Check
verification fees generally are a fixed amount per transaction
while check guarantee fees generally are a percentage of the
check amount.

CARD ISSUING SERVICES—Revenue is primarily comprised of
fees based on cardholder accounts on file, both active and inac~
tive, and to a lesser extent, transaction volumes processed
including STAR's network operations responsible for providing
issuer-related services. Reimbursements received for “out-of-
pocket” expenses such as telecommunication and postage are
also recognized as revenue. Revenue is recognized at the time
an account on file amount is earned or at the time a transaction
is processed. “Professional services” revenuesin the Consolidated
Statements of Income are comprised of custom programming
services and are recorded as work is performed.

Licensing revenue for the Company's VisionPLUS soft-
ware is not recognized until each of the following four criteria
are met: evidence of an agreement exists, delivery and accep-
tance has occurred or services have been rendered, the selling
price is fixed or determinable, and collection of the selling price
is reasonably assured.

ALL OTHER & CORPORATE—Revenue is primarily comprised of
fees based on transactions processed, professional services
provided and software licensing and maintenance contracts.
Transaction based fees are recognized at the time the transac-
tions are processed. Professional service revenues are recog-
nized as the work is performed on the proportional performance
method. Software revenues are recognized in accordance with
the requirements as outlined above.




Earnings Per Common Share

Earnings per common share amounts are computed by dividing
net income by weighted-average common stock and common
stock equivalent shares (when dilutive) outstanding during the
period. Amounts utilized in earnings per share computations are
as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
(o2 millons )
Weighted-average shares
outstanding:
Basic weighted-

average shares 827.0 739.1 7575
Common stock equivalents 132 96 114
Convertible debentures - 05 29

840.2 7492 7718

Earnings add back related to
convertible debentures $ - $ 02 $ 1.7

Diluted earnings per common share are calculated using
weighted-average shares outstanding, adjusted for the dilutive
effect of shares issuable upon the assumed conversion of the
Company's convertible debt and common stock eqguivalents,
which consist of outstanding stock options and warrants. The
after-tax interest expense and issue cost amortization on
convertible debt is added back to net income when the related
common stock equivalents are included in computing diluted
earnings per common share. The “if converted” method is utilized
in calculating diluted earnings per common share only when
conversion is not conditional upon the occurrence of certain
events. The convertible debt that was outstanding and convert-
ible in previous periods was converted in the second quarter
2003. The ‘if converted” method was not utilized for the
Company's 2% Senior Convertible Contingent Debt Securities
due 2008 (“CODES"), as conversion into 13.2 million shares was
conditional upon certain events that had not yet occurred.

During September 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force
(*EITF") issued EITF [ssue No. 04-8 ‘The Effect of Contingently
Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings per Share” (‘EITF
04-8"). The pronouncement pertains to all issued securities that
have embedded market price contingent conversion features
and therefore, applies to contingently convertible debt, contin-
gently convertible preferred stock, and convertible bonds with
issuer option to settle for cash upon conversion, The EITF 04-8
addresses when the dilutive effect of these securities with a
market price trigger should be included in diluted earnings per
share (“EPS"). The pronouncement is effective for all periods
ending after December 15, 2004 and must be applied by retro-
actively restating previously reported EPS. The Company has
determined that EITF 04-8 is applicable to the CODES, which
were called in the first quarter 2004. Certain of the bondholders
elected to receive 4.5 million shares, while the remainder
received cash. The impact on the computation of EPS is less
than $0.01 for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002. Due to the immaterial effect, the Company did not
restate previously reported EPS.

The diluted earnings per share calculation excludes stock
options, warrants and convertible debt that are convertible into
4.9 million common shares, 31.1 million common shares and
34.5 million common shares for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The exclusion occurs

because the exercise price of these instruments was greater
than the average market price of the Company's common stock
and their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive or conversion is
conditional upon the occurrence of certain events.

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations
for the three years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
was $0.01, $0.02 and $0.01, respectively.

In March 2002, the Company's Board of Directors
declared a 2-for-1 stock split of the Company’s common stock
to be effected in the form of a stock dividend. Shareholders of
record on May 20, 2002 received one share of the Company’s
common stock for each share owned. The distribution of the
shares occurred after the close of business on June 4, 2002. All
share and per share amounts have been retroactively restated
for all periods to reflect the impact of the stock split.

Foreign Currency Translation
The US. dollar is the functional currency for most of the
Company's businesses, Significant operations with a local
currency as its functional currency include operations in the
United Kingdom, Australia, Germany and Greece. Foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities for these units and
other less significant operations are translated into U.S. dollars
based on exchange rates prevailing at the end of the period, and
revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates during the period. The effects of foreign exchange gains
and losses arising from the translation of assets and liabilities of
those entities where the functional currency is not the U.S. dollar
are included as a component of OCL

Losses attributable to foreign currency hedging included
in “transaction and processing service fees” in the Consolidated
Statements of Income amounted to $23.2 million, $30.7 million
and $20.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. Other foreign currency transaction gains
and losses were immaterial for each of the periods since the
Company settles maost of its foreign currency denominated
transactions daily.

Stock Based Compensation

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R,
“Share-Based Payment, (“SFAS 123R”) which is a revision of
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(“SFAS 123"). Statement 123R supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and amends SFAS
No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows” Generally, the approach in
SFAS 123R is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123.
SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees to
be recognized in the income statement based on their grant
date fair values over the corresponding service period and
also requires an estimation of forfeitures when calculating
compensation expense. The Company must adopt SFAS 123R
no later than July 1, 2005. SFAS 123R permits public companies
to adopt its requirements using one of three methods: the
"modified prospective” method, the *modified retrospective’
method to January 1, 2005, or the ‘modified retrospective”
method to all prior years for which SFAS 123 was effective. The
Company has not yet determined which adoption method it will
utilize. The Company has not yet decided whether it will adopt
the provisions of this standard on July 1, 2005 as required, or
earlier, as allowed.
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As permitied by SFAS 123, the Company currently follows
APB Opinion No. 25 which accounts for share-based payments
to employees using the intrinsic value method and, as such,
generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock
options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS 123R fair value
method will have a significant impact on the Company’s results
of operations, although it will have no impact on its overall finan-
cial position. The exact impact of the adoption of SFAS 123R
cannot be determined at this time because it will depend on
levels of share-based payments granted in the future, the timing

of adoption, the method of adoption and the valuation method.
However, had the Company adopted SFAS 123, the impact on
diluted EPS for 2004, 2003 and 2002 would have been $0.14,
$0.15 and $0.15, respectively. Adopting SFAS 123R in 2005 is
expected to have a similar impact on diluted EPS if the standard
were adopted prospectively from or retroactively to January 1,
2005. If the standard is adopted prospectively from July 1, 2005
the expected impact on diluted EPS would be approximately half
of the full year 2004 amount noted under SFAS 123.

The Company's pro forma information, amortizing the fair value of the options over their vesting period and including the stock

purchase plan rights, is as follows:

2004 2003 2002
(e reillions, my//ef.//dmwzw )
Reported net income $1,875.2 $1,408.7 $1,237.8
Restricted stock expense included in reported net income, net of related tax 2.0 - -
SFAS 123 expense, net of tax (118.2) (114.0) (109.5)
Pro forma net income $1,759.0 $12947 $1,128.4
Reported earnings per share - basic $ 227 $ 1.91 $ 1863
Reported earnings per share - diluted 2.23 1.88 1.61
Pro forma earnings per share — basic $ 213 $ 175 $ 149
Pro forma earnings per share — diluted 2.09 1.73 1.46

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, included in “selling, general and administra-
tive” expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income, are
expensed as incurred or at the first time the advertising takes
place. Advertising expense for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $249.3
million, $205.2 million and $199.8 million, respectively.

Gains on Issuance of Stock by Subsidiaries

At the time a subsidiary sells its stock to unrelated parties at a
price in excess of its book value, the Company’s net investment
in that subsidiary increases, If at that time, the subsidiary is not
a newly formed, non-operating entity, nor a research and devel-
opment, start-up or development stage company, nor is there a
question as to the subsidiary’s ability to continue in existence,
the Company records the increase in its Consolidated Statements
of Income. Otherwise, the increase is reflected in “additional
paid-in capital” in the Company's Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders' Equity.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Supplemental cash flow information for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are summarized as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Income taxes paid $601.0 $416.0 $ 980
Interest paid 1220 1045 118.0

Significant non-cash transactions during 2004 include
the issuance of 169.8 million shares of FDC common stock to
the Concord stockholders and the conversion of outstanding
Concord options to options to purchase 20.5 million shares of
FDC common stock as consideration in the merger. In addition,
the Company entered into $43.7 million in capital lease agree-
ments to finance the purchase of equipment and software.

The Company also awarded 480,000 shares of restricted
stock to officers during 2004.
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The Company called the $542 million CODES on March
3, 2004. The Company issued 4.5 million common shares to
certain of the bondholders who elected shares versus a cash
payment.

Significant non-cash transactions during 2003 include a
$16.7 million convertible debenture that was converted into
0.91 million shares of common stock, as well as the exercise of
a customer’s 1996 warrant to purchase 4.0 million shares, which
resulted in the Company issuing 0.6 million shares under a cash-
less exercise provision for the incremental fair value between
the exercise price and the market price. In addition, the Company
entered into $18.8 million in capital lease agreements to finance
the purchase of equipment and software,

Significant non-cash transactions in 2002 included a
$33.3 million note that was converted into 1.83 million shares.
In addition, the Company entered into $33.2 million in capital
lease agreements to finance the purchase of equipment
and software,

NOTE 2: RESTRUCTURING, IMPAIRMENTS,
LITIGATION AND REGULATORY SETTLEMENTS,
OTHER, INVESTMENT GAINS AND LOSSES
AND DIVESTITURES

The Company recorded restructuring charges, impairment
charges, litigation and regulatory settlements, other, investment
gains and losses and divestiture related gains net during the
three years ended December 31, 2004, Restructuring and
divestiture accruals are reviewed each period and balances in
excess of anticipated requirements are reversed through the
same Consolidated Statements of Income caption in which
they were originally recorded. Such reversals resulted from the
favorable resolution of contingencies and changes in facts
and circumstances.




2004 Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company
incurred net pretax benefits of $149.7 million related to restruc-
turing charges, impairments, litigation and regulatory settle-
ments, other, investment gains and losses, and divestiture gains.

Restructuring and divestiture accrual reversals were also recog-
nized in 2004. A summary of net pretax benefits (charges),
incurred by segment, for the year ended December 31, 2004 is
as follows:

Pretax Benefit (Charge)

Payment Merchant Card Issuing All Other and

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Services Services Services Corporate Totals
(r miliirns)

Restructuring charges $(3.1) $ (8.9 $(29.4) $(24.2) $ (65.6)
Restructuring accrual reversals 0.7 0.1 1.1 0.2 21

Impairments 0.8) 2.3 8.1 (5.5) (0.5)
Litigation and regulatory settlements - (32.4) - - (32.4)
Other - (25.0) - - (25.0)
Net investment gains (losses) - (1.3) 0.4 6.8 5.9

Divestiture gain - 263.8 - - 263.8
Divestiture accrual reversals - - - 1.4 14
Total pretax benefit (charge), net of reversals $(3.2) $194.0 $(19.8) $(21.3) $149.7

Restructuring charges

The restructuring charges were comprised of severance totaling
$56.8 million and facility closures totaling $8.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004. Severance charges resutted
from the termination of approximately 910 employees across
the organization for the year ended December 31, 2004 repre-
senting all levels of employees and approximately 3% of the
Company's workforce. The following describes the nature and
timing of the restructuring plans by segment:

PAYMENT SERVICES

> Severance costs resulted from the consolidation of various
international functions into Dublin, Ireland. The restructuring
plan was completed in the first quarter of 2004.

> Charges were incurred related to the lease termination of a
facility that was restructured and combined with another FDC
facility. This restructuring plan was completed in the second
quarter of 2004.

MERCHANT SERVICES

> Severance charges resulted from the planned closure of
certain FDC operations and locations, including a Cardservice
International, Inc. (“CSI") call center operation, a TeleCheck
Services, Inc. (“TeleCheck”) data center and a PayPoint
Electronic Payment Systems (‘PayPoint”) debit processing
center and elimination of certain positions as a result of the
Company's reorganization done in conjunction with the
Concord integration. All of the above noted restructuring
plans were completed in 2004.

> Severance charges were also incurred related to the continued
integration of international support functions between the
Merchant Services and Card Issuing Services segments that
began in 2003. This restructuring plan was completed in the
first quarter of 2004.

> In connection with the dissolution of a joint venture, the
Company paid for the severance of joint venture employees.

> Severance charges were also incurred related to the restruc-
turing of the Company's TeleCash Kommunikations-Serivce
GmbH (“TeleCash") Germany operations in an effort to create
ope‘rational efficiencies. The plan was completed in the fourth
quarter of 2004,

CARD ISSUING SERVICES

> Severance charges resulted from the integration of interna-
tional support functions with Merchant Services, as noted
above. This plan was completed in the first quarter of 2004,

> Charges were also incurred related to the lease buyout of a
facility in the United Kingdom after it was determined that the
facility could not fulfill the Company's needs. The plan was
completed in the first quarter of 2004.

> Charges were also recognized related to the integration of
international operations, including the Cashcard Australia
Limited (“Cashcard") acquisition, and the associated effort to
create operational efficiencies, which were completed in the
third quarter of 2004,

> Severance charges were recognized during 2004 as part of
the ongoing initiative to streamline operations both domesti-
cally and internationally. The plans were completed by the
fourth quarter of 2004,

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

> Charges related to severance resulting from the consolida-
tion of certain existing FDC administrative operations with
Concord and the restructuring of the purchasing and human
resources departments were recorded. These plans were
completed through the first three quarters of 2004.

> There were a number of restructuring actions within eONE
Global LP. (*eONE") in 2004. eONE severance charges were
a result of eONE's decision to slow the rate of investment in
certain product offerings due to market immaturity, controlling
costs, the sale of an eONE business and reductions of the
overall management structure at eONE. Part of these sever-
ance charges included the elimination of several senior
management positions. A charge of $10.9 million related to
cerfain of these senior managers also was incurred due to
their right upon termination under certain circumstances to
sell shares purchased at the time of eONE's formation to
eONE at the original purchase price. Some of the restruc-
turing plans were completed in the second quarter of 2004
with the remaining completed in the third quarter of 2004,

> Charges were incurred in the second quarter of 2004 related
to a Corporate facility lease in Georgia, as it was determined
that the current facility could no longer fulfill the Company's
needs. The restructuring ptan was completed in the second
quarter of 2004.
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Reversal of restructuring accruals
The Company reversed $2.1 million of prior period restructuring
accruals. Reversals related to changes in estimates regarding
severance costs and lease terminations from restructuring activ-
ities in 2008, 2001 and 2000.

The following table summarizes the Company's utilization
of restructuring accruals for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2004 (in millions):

Employee Facility

Severance Closure

Remaining accrual at January 1, 2003 $ 15 $4.4
Expense provision 30.1 0.3
Cash payments and other (12.8) (1.2)
Changes in estimates 0.9) (1.8)
Remaining accrual at December 31, 2003 $1789 $19
Expense provision 56.8 88
Cash payments and other (487) (7.4)
Changes in estimates (1.3) ©8)
Remaining accrual at December 31, 2004 $23.7 $258

Impairments

> The Payment Services and Merchant Services segment
charges related to the write-down of leasehold improvements
associated with certain domestic restructuring activities and
an impairment of software that is no longer being fully utilized
due to system decisions influenced by the integration of
Concord.

> The Card Issuing Services segment includes a $12.0 million
recovery of costs associated with a 2002 impairment of capi-
talized customer contract costs related to a customer bank-
ruptcy. Also in this segment are charges related to the
impairment of software that is no longer being utilized.

> The All Other and Corporate charges include the write-down
of fixed assets and goodwill associated with facility closures
which were part of the restructuring actions noted above of
$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and an
impairment of Encorus software due to diminished demand
for a product offering in the first quarter of 2004 of
$3.3 million.

2003 Activities

Litigation and regulatory settlements

Litigation charges of $32.4 million were recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2004, related to a lawsuit associated with
a consolidated merchant alliance in the Merchant Services
segment. Minority interest benefits of $15.4 million related to
these charges were recognized in the minority interest line in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Other

During the first quarter of 2004, the Company recognized a
$25.0 million pretax charge related to adjustments for TeleCheck
accounting entries that originated primarily during 2002 and
2003. The Company is undertaking a comprehensive review of
this business, and assessing the overall strategic fit of the
collections business in TeleCheck,

Investment gains and losses, net

The Company recognized a net investment gain for the year
ended December 31, 2004 resulting from the sale in the third
quarter of a minority investment in VIPS Healthcare Information
Systems (*VIPS") having sold the majority interest in 1998. The
sale of its remaining minority interest in VIPS was made pursuant
to the 1998 sale agreement which required First Data to sell its
retained interest upon the occurrence of specified events.
Partially offsetting this gain were the write-down of investments
related to e-commerce businesses, the dissolution of a joint
venture and the losses on the sale of other investments.

Divestitures, net

In March 2004 the Company sold its 67% ownership interest
in GCA Holdings, LLC, the parent holding company of Global
Cash Access LLC (*GCA"), which resulted in net proceeds of
$435.8 million and a pretax gain of $263.8 million. During
the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company reversed
divestiture accruals of $1.4 million due to the expiration of
certain exposures.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company incurred net pretax charges of $39.0 million related to restructuring charges,
impairments, litigation and regulatory settlements and investment gains and losses, partially offset by prior period restructuring and dives-
titure accrual reversals. A summary of net pretax charges, incurred by segment, for the year ended December 31, 2003 Is as follows:

Pretax Benefit (Charge)

Payment Merchant Card Issuing All Other and

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Services Services Services Corporate Totals
(o reidlions )

Restructuring charges $(35) $ (87 $(16.2) $(4.0) $(30.4)
Restructuring accrual reversals 0.5 0.7 1.0 0.3 25
Impairments - - (5.0) (1.2 6.2
Litigation and regulatory settlements - (5.0) - - (5.0)
Net investment gains (losses) - - 0.1 (6.8) 67
Divestiture accrual reversals - - - 6.8 6.8
Total pretax benefit (charge), net of reversals $(3.0) $(11.0) $(20.1) $(4.9) $(39.0)
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Restructuring Charges

The restructuring charges were comprised of severance totaling
$30.1 million and $0.3 million related to lease termination losses.
Severance charges resulted from the termination of approxi-
mately 740 employees across the organization, representing all
levels of employees and less than 3% of the Company's work-
force. The following describes the nature and timing of the
restructuring plans by segment:

PAYMENT SERVICES

> Charges related to severance costs associated with the rebal-
ancing of resources from domestic operations to international
operations, This rebalancing was necessary to support the
Company's focus and success in international expansion of
agents and increase its international transactions. The
restructuring plan was completed in the third quarter of
2003.

MERCHANT SERVICES

> Severance charges resulted from the consolidation of certain
domestic sales and support functions and the elimination of
redundant positions in the merchant acquiring and check veri-
fication and guarantee business.

> Severance charges were also incurred to integrate interna-
tional support functions between the Merchant Services and
Card Issuing Services segments. As part of the integration,
lease termination losses were recognized due to the closure
of a TeleCheck facility. These actions were done to support
the Company's move towards obtaining operating efficiencies
and consolidation of areas of expertise.

> The domestic and international restructuring plans were
completed in the third quarter of 2003.

CARD ISSUING SERVICES

> Severance charges resulted from the streamlining of the
domestic operations and realignment of operating expenses
to address declining segment revenues. This restructuring
plan was completed in the third quarter 2003.

> Charges were also incurred related to the integration of inter-
-national support functions with Merchant Services as noted
above. As part of this effort, a lease termination loss was
recognized in the combination of facilities into one ltocation in
Australia. This international plan was completed in fourth
quarter 2003.

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

> Charges related to the consolidation of certain human
resource and payroll functions to the Denver and Omaha
locations. The restructuring plan was completed in the third
quarter of 2003.

> Severance charges resulted from the consolidation of Encorus
operations, which resulted in the closure of the Leipzig,
Germany facility. This consolidation was done in an effort to
reduce fixed operating costs and to outsource software
development activities. This portion of the restructuring plan
was completed in the fourth quarter of 2003.

> Charges also were incurred related to the combination of the
BillingZone, LLC (“BillingZone™) and Taxware international Inc.
(“Taxware™ operations under the Velosant structure. This
portion of the restructuring plan was completed in the third
quarter of 2003. Additional restructuring activities occurred in
the first quarter of 2004 for these businesses.

Reversal of restructuring accruals

The Company reversed $2.5 million of prior period restructuring
accruals. The change in estimate was due to the favorable reso-
lution of a customer contract related to the discontinuance of
the Payment Card Solutions operations in second quarter 2001,
favorable terminations of lease agreements related to the third
quarter 2000 Card {ssuing Services segment restructuring and
an adjustment of severance costs related to the first quarter
2002 eONE restructuring,

Impairments

The Company recognized $6.2 million of asset impairment
charges, the majority of which related to the lack of sufficient
demand to support the Company's investment in its domestic
micro-chip smart card product.

Litigation and regulatory settlements
A litigation charge of $5.0 million was recorded related to a
tawsuit associated with the Merchant Services segment.

Investment gains and losses, net
The Company recognized a net investment loss resulting from the
write-down of invesiments refated to e-commerce businesses.

Divestitures, net

The Company reversed $6.8 million of divestiture accruals
related to the divestitures of certain companies acquired as part
of the 1895 merger with First Financial Management Corporation
("FFMC"). The reversal related to the passage of time related to
certain exposures. Additionally, the Company paid approximately
$7.5 million in connection with the resolution of the issues
involved in the investigation by the Office of inspector General
of the District of Columbia of alleged overpayments to Medicaid
recipients by a former FFMC subsidiary. The payment was
applied against the corresponding divestiture accrual.
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2002 Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company
incurred net pretax charges of $68.0 million related to restruc-
turing charges, impairments, litigation and regulatory settle-
ments and investment gains and losses, offset by prior period

Year Ended December 31, 2002

restructuring and divestiture accrual reversals. A summary of net
pretax benefit (charge), incurred by segment, for the year ended
December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Pretax Benefit (Charge)

Payment Merchant Card Issuing Al Other and
Services Services Services Corporate Totals

(i millions )

Restructuring charges - $(6.0) $ (03) $ @7 $ (9.0)
Restructuring accrual reversals - 0.5 3.2 0.2 39
Impairments - — (16.5) {11.3) (27.8)
Litigation and regulatory settlements (41.0) — - — (41.0)
Net investment gains (losses) - - (2.5) 32 0.7
Divestiture accrual reversals - - - 42 42
Total pretax benefit (charge), net of reversals $(41.0) $(5.5) $(16.1) $ (6.4) $(69.0)
Restructuring charges Impairments

The restructuring charges were comprised of severance totaling
$8.5 million and $0.5 million related to lease termination losses.
Severance charges resulted from the termination of 281
employees, representing all levels of employees and less than
1% of the Company’s warkforce. The following describes the
nature and timing of the restructuring plans by segment:

MERCHANT SERVICES

> Charges related to streamlining the span of management
control and elimination of job redundancies across many
departments at most employee levels within the merchant
acquiring business. The restructuring plans were completed
in the second quarter of 2002.

CARD ISSUING SERVICES

> Restructuring charges related to severance associated with
consolidating Tulsa data center operations and the elimina-
tion of duplicate positions. The restructuring plans were
completed in the first quarter of 2002.

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

> Charges related to the elimination of duplicative positions
due to the integration of the Achex, Inc. (*Achex”) acquisition.
The restructuring plans were completed in the first quarter
of 2002.

> Charges related to a reduction in force and closure of a
leased facility for the SurePay business to adjust its employee
base to match the slower than expected participation in the
business-to-business exchange marketplace. The restruc-
turing plans were completed in the first quarter of 2002.

Reversal of restructuring accruals

The Company reversed prior period restructuring accruals
resulting from changes in estimates totaling $3.9 million. The
majority of these reversals related to the third quarter 2000
restructuring charge related to the United Kingdom-based oper-
ations of the Card Issuing Services segment. The change in esti-
mate resulted primarily from pension obligations associated with
severed employees being less than anticipated.
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ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

> An $11.3 million charge related to capitalized software
development costs, The impairment resulted from the second
quarter 2002 decision to cease SurePay business-to-busi-
ness platform development efforts. During 2003, the SurePay
operations were ceased and its remaining assets were
transferred to the Merchant Services segment.

CARD ISSUING SERVICES

> A $16.5 million charge related to capitalized contract costs
associated with a customer that announced that it would no
longer accept its private-label credit cards at its merchant
businesses as a result of the customer’s financial difficufties
that resulted in its bankruptcy.

Litigation and regulatory settlements

The Company recorded $41.0 million in litigation and regulatory
settlement charges in its Payment Services segment. Of these
charges $30.0 million related to the anticipated settlements of
various class action lawsuits pertaining to the Company's money
transfer business, including plaintiffs' legal fees and other
outside administrative costs. The remaining $11.0 million related
to an $8.0 million settlement with the New York State Banking
Department and a $3.0 millon settlement with the US.
Department of Treasury over alleged infractions of certain regu-
lations related to Western Union’s money transfer business.

Investment gains and losses, net

CARD ISSUING SERVICES
> Anetinvestment loss of $2.5 million was recognized resulting
from the write down of an investment.

ALL OTHER AND CORPORATE

> Anet investment loss of $6.4 million was recognized resulting
from the write down of investments related to e-commerce
business.

> A gain of $9.6 million was recognized on the sale of a portion
of the Company's investment in CheckFree Corporation.




Divestitures, net

The Company reversed $4.2 million of divestiture accruals during
the year ended December 31, 2002 related to Investor Services
Group and TransPoint LLC (“TransPoint”), due to the passage of
certain contractual indemnification provisions and the release of
amounts previously held in escrow. Investor Services Group was
divested in the fourth quarter of 18999 and TransPoint was
merged with CheckFree in the fourth quarter of 2000.

NOTE 3: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS,
ASSET ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

Initial Consideration

Businesses and Assets Acquired Month Total(® Cash
(e millions )
2004:
Concord EFS, Inc. February $6,909.1 $ -
Cashcard Australia, Ltd. April 206.5 206.5
Delta Singular Outsourcing

Services, SA.

(subsequently renamed

First Data Hellas) July 324.1 324.1
Six other acquisitions

and merchant

portfolio acquisitions 91.2 91.2

$7,530.9 $621.8

2003:
TeleCash Kommunikations-

Service GmbH March $ 1214 $1214
Four other acquisitions

and merchant

portfolio acquisitions 35.8 358

$ 1572 $157.2

2002:
Paymap Inc. April $ 820 $ 820
E Commerce Group

Products Inc. June 712 712
PayPoint Electronic

Payment Systems August 2509 2509
Merchant alliance and

portfolio acquisitions ® 146.1 1225
Eight other acquisitions 123.0 1214

$ 6732 $648.0

(a) Other consideration, not separately listed in the table above, consists of subsidiary equity,
promissory notes and other amounts payable of $25.2 million in 2002.

(b) The Company contributed merchant contracts with a net book value of $72.8 million to the
alliances as part of the consideration, which are not included in the above table,

2004 ACQUISITIONS

CONCORD EFS, INC.

On February 26, 2004, the Company completed its merger with
Concord. FDC and Concord each have distinct strengths in
product lines and markets that in combination provide financial
institutions, retailers, and consumers with a broader spectrum of
payment options, greater input into the future direction of the
electronic payments industry, and access to new technologies
and global markets. The results of Concord's operations are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Income since the
date of acquisition.

FDC issued 169.8 million shares of FDC common stock
to Concord shareholders, and the outstanding Concord options
were converted to options to purchase 20.5 million shares of
FDC common stock pursuant to the exchange ratio of 0.365
FDC common shares for every Concord common share. The
common shares issued and option conversion were based on
the actual number of shares of Concord common stock and
options outstanding on February 26, 2004. The average market
price per share of FDC's common stock of $38.82 is based on
an average of trading days (December 11, December 12,
December 16 and December 17) around the December 15,
2003 announcement date of the amended terms of the proposed
merger. In accordance with the terms of the merger, Concord's
outstanding options that were granted prior to February 26,
2004 vested upon completion of the merger. Options assumed
in conjunction with the acquisition had a weighted-average exer-
cise price of $36.11 and a fair market value of $268.5 million
based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The total
purchase price of the merger was $6.9 billion, including acquisi-
tion-related costs.

The preliminary allocation of the $6.9 billion purchase
price is as follows:

(o ralions)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 5460
Settlement assets 542.0
Accounts receivable 183.9
Property and equipment 1301
Goodwill 45236
Other intangibles 1,487.1
Investment in affiliates 3.1
Other assets 8583
Total assets $8,274.1
LIABILITIES

Settlement obligations $ 5420
Accounts payable and other liabilities 6914
Borrowings 1316
Total liabilities 1,365.0
Total purchase price $6,809.1

The final independent valuation of Concord's intangible
assets was completed during the third quarter of 2004 resulting
in a fair market value of $1,487.1 million representing
$1,318.3 million of customer contracts, $76.9 million related to
the STAR® trade name and $91.9 million of proprietary and third
party software. Customer contracts represent Concord's contrac-
tual relationships with merchants and financial institutions.
Certain of these contractual relationships are in various stages
of being renegotiated and were contemplated in the final valua-
tion. The estimated useful lives assigned to customer relation-
ships range from nine to 15 years (with a weighted average
amortization period of 12 years). The estimated useful lives
assigned to purchased software and proprietary software was
five years and the STAR trade name was 25 years. An indepen-
dent valuation of Concord's fixed assets was completed in the
second quarter 2004 resulting in a fair market value of
$130.1 million. Of the total purchase price, approximately
$4.5 billion has been allocated to goodwill; of which, $3.4 billion,
$1.1 billion and $40.0 million were reflected in the Merchant
Services, Card Issuing Services and Payment Services segments,
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respectively. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase
price for the acquired business over the fair value of the
underlying net tangible and Iidentifiable intangible assets.
The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes or amortized for
book purposes.

CONCORD MERGER-RELATED RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

A $18.7 million charge related to severance for 749 employees
and a charge for $48.1 million related to leased facilities were
recorded during the year ended December 31, 2004 in connec-
tion with the planned closure of certain Concord facilities due to
the consolidation of duplicative functions, including selected
operations located in Maitiand, Florida; Memphis, Tennessee and
Amarillo, Texas. The operations in these {ocations included
authorization, deployment, settlement and funding, customer
service and administrative support functions. Restructuring
plans were completed throughout 2004 with all remaining
restructuring plans expected to be completed by June 2005.
These costs were accounted for under EITF No. 95-3,
‘Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase
Business Combination” (“EITF 95-3"). These costs are recog-
nized as a liability assumed in the purchase business combina-
tion and included in the allocation of the cost to acquire Concord,
Other costs associated with Concord employees, such as
enhanced severance are expensed in operations. These costs
are reflected in the “Additional expense provision” line in the
table below. Restructuring charges related to FDC facilities and
employees were expensed as incurred as discussed in Note 2.

The Company is responsible for the difference between
the assumed net sale proceeds for the Memphis facility and the
total costs financed, which exceeds the guarantee value of
$50.5 million under a synthetic operating lease. At December
31, 2004, the Company had recorded a $47.0 million liability
assumed in the purchase business combination related to the
excess of the total cost financed and other carrying costs over
the assumed net sale proceeds.

The Company is working to finalize its integration plans,
which may result in additional severance and employee-related
costs, facility exit costs and contractual termination costs.

The following table summarizes the Company's utilization
of Concord-related accruals for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2004 (in millions):

Emplayee Facility
Severance Closure
Accrual established upon acquisition,
February 26, 2004 $11.1 $32.8
Additional charges recorded in
purchase accounting 3.2 15.3
Additional expense provision 2.4 ~
Cash payments (58) (1.1

Remaining accrual at December 31, 2004 $108 $47.0

OTHER ACQUISITIONS

In April 2004 the Company acquired Cashcard, a provider of ATM
services in the Australian marketplace, for approximately $260
million in cash and assumed debt. The transaction facilitated
FDC's entry into the Australian merchant ATM deployment
market The transaction creates opportunities for FDC and
Cashcard clients, expanding the delivery of services such as
credit and debit POS processing, deployment of merchant ATMs,
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check authorization and money transfer. A majority of Cashcard's
operations are assigned to the Merchant Services segment, with
the remainder assigned to the Card Issuing Services segment.
The final independent valuation of Cashcard's intangible assets
was completed during the fourth quarter of 2004 and resulted in
a fair market value of $113.2 million, representing $37.6 million
of customer contracts, $4.5 million of proprietary and third party
software and $71.1 million related to other intangibles and
tradenames. The estimated useful lives assigned to intangible
assets range from five to 15 years except for tradenames and
other intangibles which are being amortized over 25 years.
Of the total purchase price, $134.3 million has been allocated
to goodwill, of which $83.3 million and $41.0 million were
reflected in the Merchant Services and Card fssuing Services
segments, respectively.

In July 2004 the Company acquired Delta Singular
Outsourcing Services S.A. (subsequently renamed ‘First Data
Hellas"), the former payment processing and outsourcing divi-
sion of Delta Singular S.A, located in Greece, for approximately
$311.7 million, net of $12.4 miflion of cash acquired. First Data
Hellas provides payment processing and outsourcing services
including card processing, ATM and point of sale driving and call
center support. Through First Data Hellas, the Company will
provide payment processing and outsourcing services to existing
First Data Hellas clients, the largest being Alpha Bank. Alpha
Bank, which is a major issuer of VISA cards and the exclusive
issuer of American Express cards in Greece, is the second
largest private commercial bank in Greece. First Data Hellas
entered into a 10-year contract at the time of acquisition to
continue to provide payment processing services to Alpha Bank.
The Company anticipates the acquisition will create additional
payment services opportunities in the Greek, Middle Eastern
and European markets. The majority of First Data Hellas’ opera-
tions are assigned to the Card Issuing Services segment, with
the remainder assigned to the Merchant Services segment. The
preliminary purchase price allocation resulted in identifiable
intangible assets of $97.2 million, which are being amortized
over four to 10 years, and goodwill of $171.7 million.

Also in July 2004, the Company purchased a 30% equity
interest in Angelo Costa, Sp.A. ("Angelo Costa"), one of Western
Union’s money transfer agents in Italy, with a network of nearly
3,000 locations throughout the country. In addition to money
transfer services, the agent provides other financial services to
consumers, including prepaid telecom services and prepaid
debit cards. In December 2004, the Company purchased a 30%
equity interest in Finint Srl (*Finint"), another one of Western
Union's money transfer agents in ltaly, with a network of more
than 2,000 locations throughout the country.

Other acquisitions made during 2004 include the buyout
of the TASQ Technology, Inc. (“TASQ") and the First Data
Government Solutions, LP (*FDGS") minority interests, as well as
the purchase of merchant portfolios.

The aggregate consideration paid during 2004, net of
cash acquired of $13.4 million, was $608.4 million for acquisi-
tions other than Concord. The aggregate preliminary purchase
price allocation for these acquisitions, based partially on prelimi-
nary valuations, resulted in $218.3 million in identifiable intan-
gible assets, which are being amortized over four to 15 years,
except for tradenames and other intangibles of $71.1 million
which are being amortized over 25 years, and goodwill of
$316.56 milfion.




UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

The following Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined
Consolidated Statements of Income reflect the consolidated
results of operations of the Company as if the acquisitions of
Concord, Cashcard and First Data Hellas had occurred on
January 1, 2004 and 2003. The historical financial information
has been adjusted to give effect to events that are (1) directly
attributed to the merger, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with
respect to the income statement, expected to have a continuing
impact on the combined results. Such items include additional
amortization expense associated with the preliminary valuation
of intangible assets. The resulis of operations of NYCE are
treated as income from discontinued operations, net of tax, and
are excluded from the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
Combined Consolidated Statements of Income.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
Combined Consolidated Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003
(o medlions, cxapt por v ot )
REVENUES
Transaction and processing service fees $ 8,939.9  $8,427.8
Other non-transaction based revenue 245.1 3016
Product sales and other 491.9 4315
Reimbursable postage and other 588.8 6382
10,265.7 89,7991
EXPENSES
Cost of services 5,290.1 50083
Cost of products sold 2305 227.5
Selling, general and administrative 1,634.6 1,604.2
Reimbursable postage and other 588.8 638.2
Other operating expenses 121.4 38.3
7,865.4 7,41656

Operating profit 2,400.3 2,382.6
Other income (expense), net 304.0 76.1
Interest expense (138.4) (111.5)
Income before income taxes,

minority interest and equity

earnings in affiliates 2,565.9 23472
Income taxes 693.7 638.0
Minority interest (114.8) (120.7)
Equity earnings in affiliates 163.9 1387
Net income from

continuing operations $ 19213  $17272

Earnings per share:

Basic earnings per share from
continuing operations

Diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 853.0 9137
Diluted 867.2 927.5

$ 225 $ 189

$ 222 $ 188

DISPOSITIONS

The Company sold its 67% interest in GCA. GCA is a supplier of
cash access and customer relationship marketing technologies
to the gaming industry. The sale resuited in net proceeds of
$435.6 million and a pretax gain of $263.8 million.

On December 15, 2003, the Company announced an
agreement with the DOJ that allowed the Company to complete
its merger with Concord. The Company agreed to divest its 84%
ownership of NYCE, an electronic funds transfer network. The
Company completed the sale of NYCE on July 30, 2004 for the
purchase price of $610.0 million, of which $389.6 million was
the Company's share. These proceeds net of related expenses,
including taxes that became due upon the sale of NYCE, approx-
imate the Company’s carrying value of its investment in NYCE,
and are subject to potential adjustments contemplated in the
agreement, which will be determined at the end of 2005. The
Company's financial statements reflect NYCE as a discontinued
operation (see Note 18).

2003 ACQUISITIONS

On March 24, 2003, the Company acquired TeleCash for approx-
imately $104.3 million, net of cash acquired of $17.1 miltion.
TeleCash is a Germany-based seller and servicer of POS termi-
nals and an electronic payment network operator. This acquisi-
fion allows the Company to expand its commitment to meet the
international payment processing needs of banks and
merchants.

The purchase price allocation resulted in identifiable
intangible assets of $29.7 million, which are being amortized
over five to eight years, except for $8.2 million allocated to a
tradename which is amortized over 25 years, and goodwill of
$97.4 million.

Other acquisitions made during 2003 include:
the purchase of the assets of Frank Solutions Inc, a provider
of interactive voice response and web response systems and
professional services for state and local governments, in the
All Other and Corporate segment;
a 51% ownership interest in Eposs Limited (“Eposs”), a
Cambridge, UK-based seller of cellular prepaid products in
Europe and Asia, which is being accounted for as a consoli-
dated subsidiary in the Payment Services segment;
> an interest in a joint venture related to the money transfer
business in the Payment Services segment;
> the purchase of four merchant portfolios and a TeleCheck
franchise in the Merchant Services segment.

v

v

The aggregate consideration paid in 2003, net of $26.3
million cash acquired, for acquisitions completed during the year
ended December 31, 2003 was $130.9 million. The aggregate
purchase price allocation for these acquisitions resulted in $45.2
million in identifiable intangible assets, which are being amor-
tized over three to 10 years, except for a tradename of $8.2
million which is being amortized over 25 years, and goodwill of
$133.5 million.

The pro forma impact of all 2003 acquisitions on net
income was not material.
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2002 ACQUISITIONS

In April 2002, the Company acquired Paymap inc. (‘Paymap") for
an initial purchase price of approximately $82 million in cash.
Additional consideration of $19.4 million was paid in 2003 based
on certain operational targets being met and $5.0 million was
accrued at December 31, 2004. Paymap is a financial services
company that develops and markets innovative electronic
payment services such as a mortgage payment accelerator. The
purchase price allocation resulted in identifiable intangible
assets of $19.7 million, which are being amortized over three to
six years, and goodwill of $86.7 million. Additional consideration
of $18.4 million was paid during 2003,

In June 2002, the Company acquired E Commerce Group
Products Inc. (“E Commerce Group”) for an initial purchase price
of approximately $71 million in cash. Additional consideration of
$50.0 million was paid out during 2003 and 2004 as certain
targets were achieved. E Commerce Group provides e-commerce
offerings, including technology that allows companies to receive
electronic bill payments. The purchase price allocation resulted
in identifiable intangible assets of $21.3 million, which are being
amortized over one to five years, and goodwill of $102.2 million.

In August 2002, the Company acquired PayPoint for
approximately $251 million in cash. PayPoint provides electronic
commerce and payment services, processing credit and debit
transactions, and is one of the largest point-of-sale transaction
processors of personal identification number-based debit trans-
actions. The purchase price allocation resulted in identifiable
intangible assets of $54.8 million, which are being amortized
over five to 10 years, except for trademarks which are amortized
over 25 years, and goodwill of $182.5 million.

During 2002, the Company acquired interests in several
merchant alliances and portfolios: SunTrust Merchant Services,
LLC, a front-end authorization and capture business, Huntington
Merchant Services, Wachovia Merchant Services, Wells Fargo
Merchant Services, CU Electronic Transaction Services
(“CUETS"), Halifax Bank of Scotland (*HBQOS”) and two other
portfolics. The aggregate cash paid for the merchant alliance
and portfolio acquisitions was approximately $123 million. The
Company contributed merchant contracts to the alliances, with a
net book value of $72.8 million, as part of the consideration.
Descriptions of these acquisitions follow.

In March 2002, the Company and SunTrust Banks, Inc.
(“SunTrust”) formed a new alliance, SunTrust Merchant Services,
LLC. The Company and SunTrust each contributed a merchant
portfolio to the alliance. Following the contribution, the Company
acquired a portion of SunTrust's equity interest in the alliance for
cash. The payment to SunTrust has been treated as an acquired
contract cost and is being amortized over a 10-year period. FDC
has majority ownership of and management control over the alfi-
ance and is consolidating its financial results.

In July 2002, the Company paid cash to acquire substan-
tially all of the bank's 50% ownership interest in Huntington
Merchant Services (*Huntington”). As a result of the purchase,
FDC entered inio a new 10-year merchant referral agreement
with Huntington Bancshares Incorporated. In August 2002, the
Company paid cash to acquire the bank's 50% ownership
interest in Wachovia Merchant Services (“Wachovia”). The
payments to the alliance banks have been treated as acquired
contract costs and are being amortized over a 10-year period.
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In September 2002, the Company obtained an increased
ownership interest in its alliance with Wells Fargo Bank (*Wells
Fargo") by contributing merchants from its Unified Merchant
Services portfolio. Additionally, the alliance was restructured to
give the Company management control over the business.
Revenues and expenses were retroactively restated to the
beginning of 2002 to reflect the Huntington, Wachovia and Wells
Fargo alliances, which were previously accounted for under the
equity method of accounting, as consolidated subsidiaries for
the year ended December 31, 2002. As a result of the transac-
tions, the Company recorded acquired contracts of $54.7 million,
which are being amortized over 10 years. In addition, approxi-
mately $68.9 million was reclassified from investment in affili-
ates to acquired contracts.

Other acquisitions made during 2002 include:

> the assets of International Check Services, Inc., a provider of
both traditional and electronic check products;

> GovConnect, Inc, a provider of electronic service defivery,
consulting and technology solutions to the government
marketplace;

> a partnership with CUETS, a Canadian card processing
company, in which FDC has a controlling interest in a merchant
acquiring business that is consolidated and a 50% ownership
interestin a merchant precessing business which is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting;

> the Company entered into a contractual alliance with HBOS
under which the Company received a substantial majority of
HBOS' merchant processing revenues;

> BillingZone, a provider of outsourcing services for accounts
payable and accounts receivable;

> OMNIPAY, a Dublin, Ireland-based international payment
processor;

> Christopher C. Varvias & Associates S.A, an investment in a
money transfer agent accounted for under the equity method
of accounting;

> Active Resources, a provider of managed services and
outsourcing based in the United Kingdom; and

> TaxSolver, a provider of tax data and tax form integration
software,

The aggregate consideration paid in 2002, net of
$23.1 million cash acquired, for acquisitions completed during
the year ended December 31, 2002 was $624.9 million. The
aggregate purchase price allocation for these acquisitions
resulted in $247.3 million in identifiable intangible assets, which
are being amortized over three to 10 years, except for a trade-
name of $12.3 million which is being amortized over 25 years,
and goodwill of $428.6 million.

The pro forma impact of all 2002 acquisitions on net
income was not material.

All of the above business combinations and asset acqui-
sitions were accounted for as either purchases or investments in
affiliates accounted for using the equity method of accounting.




The following table outlines the net assets acquired to the net cash paid for acquisitions (at date of acquisition):

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
(e meiliions )
Fair value of net assets acquired $7,530.9 $157.2 $673.2
Less non-cash consideration (6,909.1) - (25.9)
Less cash acquired (559.4) (26.3) (23.1)
Net cash paid for acquisitions $ 624 $1309 $624.9
The following table presents changes to goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:
Payment Merchant Card Issuing All Other and
Services Services Services Corporate Totals

(cn millions )
December 31, 2002 balance $1,2727 $1,754.0 $ 4245 $ 978 $3,549.1
Acquisitions 16.3 106.3 - 38 126.4
Purchase price and allocation adjustments related

to prior year acquisitions 31.3 43 (109 5.2 29.9
Other adjustments 06 102 10.6 42 266
December 31, 2003 balance $1,3208 $1,874.8 $ 42492 1111 $3,731.0
Acquisitions 400 3,456.6 1,3435 - 4,840.1
Dispositions - (191.5) - — (191.5)
Purchase price and allocation adjustments related

to prior year acquisitions 45.4 62) - (4.0) 35.2
Other adjustments (2.0) 24.0 313 20 55.3
December 31, 2004 balance $1,404.3 $5,157.7 $1,799.0 $109.1 $8,470.1

FDC recorded exit liabilities associated with acquisitions
of $64.8 million, $1.2 million and $3.7 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, FDC had
total remaining acquisition reserves of $57.9 million and $5.0
million, respectively. Some of the purchase price aliocations are
preliminary.

The terms of certain of the Company’s acquisition agree-
ments provide for additional consideration to be paid if the
acquired entity's results of operations exceed certain targeted
levels or if certain other conditions are met, as well as other
payments or receipts of cash related to certain events that
transpired subsequent to the acquisition of certain companies.
Targeted levels are generally set substantially above the histor-
ical experience of the acquired entity at the time of acquisition.
Such additional consideration is paid in cash or with shares of
the Company's common stock or subsidiary equity, and is
recorded when earned as additional purchase price. Additional
consideration was paid totaling $68.5 million in 2004,
$44.6 million in 2003, and $42.4 million in 2002. The maximum
amount of remaining estimable contingent consideration
consists of potential cash payments of $12.7 million, of which
$5.0 million was earned and accrued at December 31, 2004.

NCOTE 4: INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES

Operating results include the Company's proportionate share of
income from affiliates, which consist of unconsclidated invest-
ments and joint ventures accounted for under the equity method
of accounting. The most significant of these affiliates are related
to the Company’s merchant bank alliance program.

A merchant bank alliance, as it pertains to investments
accounted for under the equity method, is a joint venture

between FDC and a financial institution that combines the
processing capabilities and management expertise of the
Company with the visibility and distribution channel of the bank.
The joint ventures acquire credit and debit card transactions
from merchants. The Company provides processing and other
services to the joint ventures and charge fees to the joint venture
primarily based con contractual pricing. These fees have been
separately identified on the face of the Consolidated Statements
of Income.

At December 31, 2004, there were 16 affiliates accounted
for under the equity method of accounting, comprised of five
merchant alliances and 11 strategic investments in companies
in related markets, including Western Union agents. During the
second quarter 2003, the Company sold a portion of its interest
in the Nihon Card Processing Co. Ltd. joint venture, decreasing
the Company's ownership from 35% to 9.5%. As a result, the joint
venture is no longer accounted for under the equity method.

The 2002 amounts reflect the retroactive consolidations
back to January 1, 2002, of the Huntington Merchant Services,
Wachovia Merchant Services and Wells Fargo Merchant Services
alliances based on the Company gaining a controlling interest in
each of these alliances in the third quarter of 2002, The presen-
tation below, therefore, excludes results and balances for these
three entities for 2002, In the fourth quarter of 2002, the
Company increased its investment in the Bank One merchant
alliance by $42.1 million as the Company funded its propor-
tionate share of the purchase of the Canadian merchant busi-
ness of the Bank of Nova Scotia (*ScotiaBank”) by Paymentech,
which is jointly owned by FDC and JPMorgan Chase. The addi-
tional investment is included in “payments related to other busi-
nesses previously acquired” in the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows.
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A summary of financial information for the merchant alli~
ances and other affiliates accounted for under the equity method
of accounting is as follows:

December 31, 2004 2003

( on milions )

Total assets $4,355.3 $3,602.1

Total liabilities 3,160.3 2,462.9

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
(20 millons )

Net operating revenues $1,669.7 $1,387.0 $1,254.9
Operating expenses 1,184.9 9659 873.4
Operating income 484.8 4211 3815
Net income 401.6 338.3 3113
FDC share of net income 184.2 166.6 143.4
Amortization expense 30.3 273 24.8

FDC equity earnings $ 1638 $ 1387 $ 1186

The primary components of assets and liabilities are
settlement-related accounts as described in Note 5.

The formation of a merchant joint venture alliance
accounted for under the equity method of accounting, generally
involves each of the Company and a financial institution contrib-
uting merchant contracts to the alliance and a cash payment
from one owner to the other to achieve the desired ownership
percentage for each. The asset amounts reflected above are
owned by the alliances and other equity method investees and
do not include ary of such payments made by the Company. The
amount by which the total of the Company's investments in its
joint ventures exceeded its proportionate share of the joint
ventures’ net assets totaled $534.9 million and $5630.6 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

NOTE 5: SETTLEMENT ASSETS
AND OBLIGATIONS

Settlement assets and obligations result from FDC's processing
services and associated settlement activities, including settle-
ment of payment transactions. Settlement assets are generated
principally from payment instrument sales (primarily official
checks and money orders) and merchant services transactions.
FDC records corresponding settlement obligations for amounts
payable to merchants and for payment instruments not yet
presented for settlement. The difference in the aggregate
amount of such assets and liabilities is primarily due to unreal-
ized net investment gains and losses, which are reported as OCl
in stockholders' equity. The principal components of FDC's
settlement assets and obligations are as follows:
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December 31, 2004 2003

(on midlions )

SETTLEMENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,193.2 $ 4,0955
Investment securities 11,451.5 10,212.3
Due from card associations 630.0 4382
Due from selling agents 422.6 3733

$15,687.3 $15,119.3

SETTLEMENT OBLIGATIONS:

Payment instruments outstanding $11,8035 $118706
Card settlements due to merchants 1,5660.3 974.7
Due to selling agents 2,127.1 2,1879

$15,590.8 $14,8332

Cash equivalents consist of short-term time deposits,
commercial paper and other highly liquid investments. See Note
6 for information concerning the Company's investment securi-
ties. Due from selling agents includes transactions with certain
non-consolidated affiliates of $105.0 million and $33.3 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

FDC generates revenues from its investment of certain
settlement assets, a substantial majority of which are cash
equivalents and investment securities within the Company's
Payment Services business. At December 31, 2004, 98% of the
Payment Services portfolio was invested in AA or above-rated
securities. Payment Services investment portfolio balances aver-
aged $13.0 billion in 2004, $135 billion in 2003, and
$12.0 billion in 2002. Investment revenues (before commissions
to certain selling agents and hedging gains and losses) from
Payment Services portfolios totaled $505.6 million in 2004,
$553.3 million in 2003, and $482.0 million in 2002 ($726.8 million,
$782.4 million, and $698.6 million, respectively, on a pretax
equivalent basis).

NOTE 6: INVESTMENT SECURITIES

fnvestment securities are a principal component of the
Company's settlement assets, and represent the investment of
funds received by FDC from the sale of payment instruments
(principally official checks and money orders) by authorized
agents. The Company also maintains various other investments,
primarily equity securities, which are classified as available-for-
sale and carried at fair market value of $270.9 million at
December 31, 2004 and $119.1 million at December 31, 2003,
In addition, the Company has investments in equity securities
and other investments that are carried at cost of $48.5 million
and $51.3 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
See Note 2 for additional discussion pertaining to the write-
down of investments.




Within settlement assets, virtually all of FDC's investment
securities are debt securities, most of which have maturities
greater than one year. At December 31, 2004, 38% of these
debt securities mature within five years, and 77% within 10
years. Realized pretax gains from the sale of these investment
securities were $110.4 million for 2004, $138.2 million for 2003,
and $65.4 million for 2002. The net of tax amount of the realized
gains that the Company reclassified out of OCl into investment

income for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
were $71.8 million, $89.8 million and $42.5 million, respectively.
The Company uses specific identification to determine the cost
of a security sold and the amount of gains and losses reclassi-
fied out of OCI The Company received proceeds from these
sales of $3,533.3 million, $3,977.3 million, and $1,961.3 million in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The principal components of investment securities, which are carried at fair value, are as follows:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Cost() Gain (Loss) Fair Value
{52 millions )
December 31, 2004
State and municipal obligations $11,229.7 $117.2 $(35.8) $11,3111
Mortgage-backed securities 85.3 0.1 (0.6) 84.8
Other securities:
Investment partnerships @ 87.9 - - 87.9
Cost-based investments 498.5 - - 49.5
CheckFree common stock 76.5 34.5 - 111.0
Preferred stock 133.3 - (5.7) 127.6
Total other 347.2 345 (5.7) 376.0
Totals $11,662.2 $151.8 $(42.1) $11,771.9
Cecember 31, 2003
State and municipal obligations $ 97420 $206.8 $ (8.7) $10,030.1
Mortgage-backed securities 81.1 0.2 ©.1) 61.2
Other securities:
Investment partnerships @ 82.4 - - 824
Cost-based investments 51.3 - - 51.3
CheckFree common stock 1141 - (5.8) 108.3
Preferred stock 55.4 04 6.4) 49.4
Total other 303.2 0.4 (12.2) 291.4
Totals $10,106.3 $297.4 $(21.0) $10,382.7

(1) Represents amortized cost for debt securities.
(2) Investments in investment partnerships are accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

The following table presents the gross unrealized losses
and fair value of the Company's investments with unrealized
losses that are not deemed to be other-than-temporarily

December 31,2004

Less than 12 months

impaired, aggregated by investment category and tength of time
that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized
loss position at December 31, 2004.

Mare than 12 months

Total
Unrealized Unrealized Total Fair Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Value Losses
{ oz midions )
State and municipal obligations $3,246.5 $(33.2) $139.3 $(2.6) $3,385.8 $(35.8)
Mortgage-backed securities 52.4 (0.6) - - 524 (0.6}
Preferred stock 18.0 “.n 39.0 (4.0) 57.0 6.7
December 31, 2003 Less than 12 months More than 12 months
Total
Unrealized Unrealized Total Fair Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Value Losses
(ﬁiﬂl&&/)
State and municipal obligations $770.4 $8.7) $ - $ - $770.4 $8.7)
Mortgage-backed securities 24.4 (0.1) - - 244 0.1)
CheckFree common stock - - 1083 (56.8) 108.3 (5.8)
Preferred stock - - 236 (6.4) 2386 6.4)
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As of December 31, 2004 the Company's unrealized
losses related to the following:

State and municipal obligations=The unrealized losses
on the Company’s investments in state and municipal obliga-
tions result from an increase in interest rates and are not related
to credit quality. The unrealized losses are deemed to be not
other-than-temporary because the Company has the ability and
intent to hold these investments until a recovery of fair value
occurs which may be upon maturity.

Mortgage-backed securities=The majority of the Company’s
investments in mortgage-backed securities are in government
sponsored mortgage entities. The unrealized losses on mort-
gage-backed securities result from changes in interest rates
and are not related to credit quality. The unrealized losses are
deemed to be not other-than-temporary because the Company
has the ability’and intent to hold the investments until a recovery
of fair value occurs which may be upon maturity.

Preferred stock—The majority of the Company's invest-
ments in preferred stock are in government sponsored mort-
gage entities. The unrealized losses on preferred stock result
from a decline in interest rates and are not related to credit
quality. An analysis of the unrealized losses performed in the
fourth quarter 2004 indicated an other-than-temporary impair-
ment on a portion of the Company's investments, resulting in a
$4.1 million impairment charge. Based on certain market
assumptions the Company expects the unrealized losses on
preferred stock to be recoverable within the next 12 months.,

CheckFree had an unrealized gain of $34.5 million and
an unrealized loss of $5.8 million for the years ended December
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Offsetting these unrealized
gains and losses are the unrealized losses and gains on the
costless collars the Company utilizes to hedge the exposure
(see Note 7). In February 2005, the Company exited the collars
and sold its CheckFree common stock.

NOTE 7: NONDERIVATIVE AND DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Nonderivative Financial Instruments

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

FDC maintains cash and cash equivalents, investment securities
and certain hedging arrangements (for specified purposes) with
various financial institutions. The Company limits its concentra-
tion of these financial instruments with any one institution, and
periodically reviews the credit standings of these institutions.
FDC has a large and diverse customer base across various
industries, thereby minimizing the credit risk of any one customer
to FDC's accounts receivable amounts. In addition, each of the
Company's business units perform ongoing credit evaluations of
their customers’ financial condition.

MANAGEMENT OF NONDERIVATIVE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS

FDC does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading
purposes. FDC encounters credit and market risks related to the
Company's financial instruments, principally its investment secu-
rities. The Company attempts to mitigate credit risk by making
high-quality investments. Substantially all of its long-term debt
investment securities have credit ratings of "AA” or better from a
major rating agency. FDC maintains a large portion of its settle-
ment assets in cash and cash equivalents, thereby mitigating
market risks (such as a reduction in the fair value of long-term
investment securities due to rising interest rates) that could
impact the Company's funding of its settlement obligations.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Carrying amounts for certain of FDC’s financial instruments
(cash and cash equivalents and short-term borrowings) approxi-
mate fair value due to their short maturities. These instruments
are not in the following table, which provides the estimated fair
values of other nonderivative financial insiruments and deriva-
tive financial instruments.

December 31, 2004 2003

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Value Value Value Value

(er millims )
NONDERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:
Long-term investment securities $11,771.9 $11,771.9 $10,382.7 $10,382.7
Long-term debt 3,703.0 3,803.4 28159 3,0457
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:
Interest rate swaps related to commissions payable, net $ (241.0) $ (241.0) $ (3135) $ (31385)
Interest rate swaps related to certain long-term investment securities, net (27.0) (27.0) - -
Interest rate and foreign currency swaps related to fixed rate debt 2.9 2.9 481 481
Foreign currency forward contracts (33.9) (33.3) (24.5) (245)
Costless collars used to hedge investment in certain equity securities (13.2) (13.2) 16.7 16.7
Foreign currency swaps related to net investments in foreign entities (56.1) (56.1) - -
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The estimated fair value of nonderivative financial instru-
ments is based primarily on market quotations whereas the esti-
mated fair value of derivative financial instruments is based on
market and dealer quotations. Accordingly, these estimated
values may not be representative of actual values that could
have been realized as of the year-end dates or that will be real-
ized in the future.

Derivative Financial Instruments

ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company utilizes certain derivative financial instruments to
enhance its ability to manage risks that exist as part of ongoing
business operations. The Company recognizes all derivatives in
the “other assets” and “accounts payable and other liabilities”
lines in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair value. The
estimated fair value of the derivatives is based on market and
dealer quotations. The Company presently uses derivatives to
mitigate cash flow risks with respect to forecasted transactions,
changes in interest rates and changes in equity prices and fair
value risk related to changes in interest rates. On the date the
derivative contract is entered into, the Company designates the
derivative as either a cash flow hedge or a fair value hedge
depending on the asset, liability or forecasted transaction being
hedged. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is desig-
nated and qualifies as a cash flow hedge are recorded in OCI
and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods the
hedged transaction affects earnings. Changes in the fair value
of a derivative that is designated and qualifies as a fair value
hedge are generally recorded immediately in earnings along
with the corresponding change in fair value of the hedged item.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had
foreign currency forward contracts relating to settlement activi-
ties for its money transfer business. These derivative instru-
ments are short-term, generally less than two weeks, and
mitigate the Company's foreign currency risk relating to the
receipt and payment of money transfers. The Company does not
designate these forward contracts as foreign currency hedges.
Accordingly, any changes in fair value are recognized immedi-
ately in the Consolidated Statements of income. Other than
these contracts, the Company does not have any derivative
instruments that were not designated and effective as a hedge
at December 31, 2004 or 2003.

The Company formally documents all relationships
between hedging instruments and the underlying hedged items,
as well as its risk management objective and strategy for under-
taking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking
all derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges to fore-
casted transactions or fair value hedges to the related under-
lying instrument. The Company also formally assesses, both at
the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows or fair value of the
hedged items. The Company also performs an assessment of
the probability of the forecasted transaction on an ongoing
basis. If it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective
as a hedge or if a derivative ceases to be a highly effective
hedge or if the forecasted transaction is no longer probable, the
Company will discontinue hedge accounting prospectively for
such derivative.

RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

The Company is exposed to various financial and market risks,
including those related to changes in interest rates, foreign
currency rates and equity prices that exist as part of its ongoing
business operations. The Company utilizes certain derivative
financial instruments to enhance its ability to manage these
risks. Derivative instruments are entered into for periods consis-
tent with related underlying exposures and do not constitute
positions independent of those exposures. The Company does
not enter into contracts for speculative purposes.

The Company's policy is to minimize its cash flow and fair
value exposure to adverse changes in interest rates and its cash
flow exposure to foreign currency exchange rates and equity
prices. The Company'’s objective is to engage in risk manage-
ment strategies that provide adequate downside protection.
Credit Risk
FDC does not believe that its derivative financial instruments
expose it to more than a nominal amount of credit risk, as the
counterparties are established, well-capitalized financial institu-
tions with a major rating agency credit rating of “A” or better. The
credit risk inherent in these agreements represents the possi-
bility that a loss may occur from the nonperformance of a coun-
terparty to the agreements. The Company monitors the credit
risk of these counterparties and the concentration of its contracts
with individual counterparties. FOC anticipates that the counter-
parties will be able to fully satisfy their obligations under the
agreements. FDC's exposures are in liquid currencies {primarily
in U.S. dollars, euros, British pounds and Canadian and Australian
dollars) and active equity markets, so there is minimal risk that
appropriate derivatives to maintain the hedging program would
not be available in the future. '

Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
During 2004 the Company acquired two international entities,
Cashcard in Australia and First Data Hellas in Greece. In
conjunction with the acquisitions the Company entered into
foreign currency swap agreements which effectively hedge its
net investments in these foreign entities. The aggregate notional
amounts of the Australian dollar foreign currency swaps was
230 million Australian dollars at December 31, 2004, The aggre-
gate notional amounts of the euro foreign currency swaps was
261 million euros at December 31, 2004, Changes in the fair
value of these foreign currency swaps are recognized in OCl,
The amount the Company realized in OC! for the year ended
December 31, 2004 offsetting the foreign currency translation
gains was $36.5 million.

Cash Flow Hedges

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

A portion of the Company's Payment Services business involves
the payment of commissions to selling agents that are computed
based aon short-term, one and three-manth, interest rates. The
portion of commissions to selling agents that are hedged are
primarily based on three month interest rates. These agreements
expose the Company to variabiiity in commission payments due
to changes in interest rates. The Company has interest rate
swap agreements, which serve to effectively convert the variable
rate commissions paid to agents to fixed rate amounts while the
Company receives payments principally based on three-month
variable rates. The aggregate notional amount of these interest
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rate swap agreements were $6.9 billion at December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively. The notional amount represents the
commissionable balance, on which agent commissions are paid,
hedged by these interest rate swaps.

The critical terms of the interest rate swap and the
hedged commission payment obligaton are the same,
Accordingly, no ineffectiveness arises relating to these cash flow
hedges. Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps desig-
nated as hedging instruments of the variability of cash flows
associated with floating rate commission payment obligations
are reported in OCl. These amounts subsequently are reclassi-
fied into revenue in the same period in which the commissions
are paid. As of December 31, 2004, the maximum length of time
over which the Company is hedging its exposure to the variability
in future cash flows associated with interest rate risk is 12 years.
More than 86% of these interest rate swaps expire in seven
years or less. During the year ending December 31, 2005,
approximately $91 million of losses in OCI related to the interest
rate swaps are expected to be reclassified into revenue,

FOREIGN CURRENCY DERIVATIVES

The Company's cash flows are exposed to foreign currency risk
from transactions denominated in foreign currencies, primarily
the euro, British pound (‘pounds”), Canadian and Australian
doltar. The Company utilizes foreign currency forward contracts,
which qualify as cash flow hedges to mitigate some of this risk.
The forward contracts are intended to offset the effect of
exchange rate fluctuations on forecasted sales for the next six
years. Gains and losses on the derivatives are intended to offset
losses and gains on the hedged transactions in an effort to
reduce the earnings volatility resulting from fluctuating foreign
currency exchange rates.

The aggregate notional amount of the euro foreign
currency forward sale contracts was 219.7 million euros and
171.0 million euros at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. The aggregate notional amount of the pound foreign
currency forward sale contracts was 26.7 million pounds and
22,0 million pounds at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. The aggregate notional amount of the Canadian dollar
foreign currency forward sale contracts was 486 million
Canadian dollars and 41.5 million Canadian dollars at December
31,2004 and 2008, respectively. The aggregate notional amount
of the Australian dollar foreign currency swaps was 158.4 million
Australian dollars at December 31, 2003. The Company did not
have any foreign currency swaps denominated in Australian
dollars and classified as foreign currency derivatives at December
31, 2004, The notional amount represents the portion of fore-
casted foreign currency denominated revenues hedged by
forward and swap contracts.

Since the critical terms of the forward contracts and the
hedged transactions are the same, the amount of ineffective-
ness relating to these cash flow hedges is immaterial. Changes
in the fair value of the forward contracts designated as hedging
instruments of the variability of cash flows associated with
foreign currency risk are reported in OCI. These amounts subse-
quently are reclassified into revenue or expense in the same
period in which the foreign currency transaction occurs. As of
December 31, 2004, the maximum length of time over which the
Company is hedging its exposure to the variability in future cash
flows associated with foreign currency risk is six years for reve-
nues, although over 95% of the aggregate notional amount
expires within one year. During the year ending December 31,
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2005, approximately $29.7 million of losses in OCl related to the
options and forward contracts are expected to be reclassified
into revenue,

OTHER CASH FLOW HEDGES

The Company holds investments in equity securities of
CheckFree Corporation and has hedged the anticipated future
cash flows related to certain of these investments through the
use of costless collars (the sale of a call option on the invest-
ment shares, combined with the purchase of a put option on the
same amount of shares). The fair value of the underlying shares
subject to the collars was $111.0 million and $108.3 million as
compared with the aggregate put value of $78.3 million and
$115.9 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Based upon the Company's intent to sell the underlying shares
upon the maturities of the collars, the collars qualified, and were
designated, as cash flow hedges. Since the critical terms of the
costless collars match the critical terms of the investment, any
mark-to-market changes in the underlying shares were recorded
as an adjustment to OCI. In February 2005 the company exited
the collars upon the sale of the CheckFree shares.

Fair Value Hedges

INTEREST RATE SWAPS
During 2004 and 2003, the Company entered into certain
interest rate swap agreements to hedge the exposure of
changes in fair value resulting from certain fixed rate debt,
Under these agreements, the Company swapped certain fixed
rate debt to floating rate debt. Changes in the fair value of the
interest rate swap will offset changes in the fair value of the
debt. Accordingly, there is no ineffectiveness related to these
interest rate swaps. The aggregate notional amount of these
interest rate swaps was $2.4 billion and $1.5 billion at December
31,2004 and 2003, respectively.

During 2004, the Company entered into certain market

-value swap agreements to hedge the exposure of changes in

fair value related to long-term portfolio investments. Changes in
the fair value of the interest rate swaps will offset changes in the
fair value of the investments. Accordingly, there is no ineffective-
ness related to these interest rate swaps. The aggregate notional
amount of these interest rate swaps was $1.4 billion at December
31,2004,

ACCUMULATED DERIVATIVE GAINS OR LOSSES

The following table summarizes activity in other comprehensive
income for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
related to derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedges
held by the Company:

2004 2003

(o2 midllons )

Accumulated loss included in other
comprehensive income at January 1

Less: Reclassifications into earnings

$(209.3) $(281.6)

from other comprehensive income 124.7 1636
(8a.6) (1180)
Changes in fair value of derivatives—loss (108.7) 91.3)

Accumulated loss included in other
comprehensive income at December 31 $(193.3) $(209.3)




NOTE 8: INCOME TAXES

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
(M'wz%m/)
COMPONENTS OF PRETAX INCOME BEFORE DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Domestic $21444 $ 17379 $1,594.9
Foreign 398.2 1200 60.3
$2,5426 $ 18579 $1,6545
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES:
Federal $ 5338 § 3865 $ 3720
State and local 80.2 542 51.0
Foreign 60.7 23.2 0.7
$ 6747 $ 4639 $ 4223
The Company's effective tax rates from continuing operations differ from statutory rates as follows:
Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit 2.0 18 20
Foreign rate differential (2.3) 07 0.t
Interest earned on municipal investments (5.3) (7.5) 82
Tax credits 0.7) ©86) 0.7)
Dividend exclusion 0.4) (0.5) 0.6)
Prior year statute expiration (1.9) 2.2 a0
Other 0.1 0.4) (1.0
Effective tax rate 26.5% 25.0% 25.5%
FDC's income tax provisions consist of the following components:
Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Current
Federal $ 6562 § 2863 $ 3148
State and local 845 435 449
Foreign 58.7 165 80
699.4 346.3 3675
Deferred
Federal (22.4) 100.2 574
State and local 4.3) 107 8.1
Foreign 20 6.7 8.7
(241 1176 548
$ 6747 $ 4639 $ 4223
income tax payments of $601.0 million in 2004 are less December 31, 2004 2003
than current expense primarily due to increased tax benefits (e milions)
associated with the exercise of stock options recorded directly DEFERRED TAX ASSETS RELATED TO:
to goodwill and equity for 2004 and an overpayment of 2003 tax Accrued expenses $ 454§ 1005
applied to the 2004 tax liability. Income tax payments of $416.0 Pension obkigation; - 729 630
million in 2003 are more than current expense primarily due to Employee related liabilities 61.3 845
tax payments related to the prior year tax liability. Income tax Deferrgd revenugs ) 20 °8
o Unrealized hedging and investments, net 55.7 16.1
payments of $38.0 million in 2002 are less than current expense
primarily due to increased tax benefits associated with the exer- 237.3 2259
cise of stock options recorded directly to equity and an overpay-
) Tl DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES RELATED TO:
ment of 2001 tax applied to the TZOQ?tax liability. . Property, equipment and intangibles (862.3) (4415)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arel recognized for the Sale/exchange of equity interest in affiliates (124.2) (103.7)
expected tax consequences of temporary differences between Foreign exchange gain/loss (57.4) (33.0)
the book and tax bases of the Company's assets and liabilities. Other (14.8) (58.9)
Net dgferrgg tgx liabilities a.re included in accounts payable gnd (1,058.7) @37
other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The following Net doferred tax liabiliies s @214 50119

table outlines the principal components of deferred tax items:
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Operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes are included
in the above deferred tax assets but are insignificant and thus
the amounts and expiration dates are not separately disclosed.

At December 31, 2004, no provision had been made
for US. federal and state income taxes on approximately
$398.7 million of foreign earnings, which are expected to be
reinvested indefinitely. Upon distribution of those earnings in the
form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject
to U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax
credits), state income taxes, and withholding taxes payable to
the various foreign countries. Determination of the amount of
unrecognized deferred U.S. tax liability is not practicable because
of the complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP 109-2
‘Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings
Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004" (“FSP 109-2". The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
(“the Act”) provides for a special one-time tax deduction of 85%
of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated as defined in the
Act. FASB Statement 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes” (‘SFAS
109" requires adjustments of deferred tax liabilities and assets
for the effects of a change in tax laws or rates in the period that
includes the enactment date. FSP 109-2 provides an exception
to allow an enterprise time beyond the financial reporting period
of enactment to evaluate the effect of the Act on its plan for
reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings for purposes of
SFAS 109. The Company is evaluating the effects of the repa-
triation provision; however, the Company does not expect to
complete the eveluation until later in 2008. If the Company takes
full advantage of this provision, it could increase the Company's
2005 effective tax rate from continuing operations by approxi-
mately 120 basis points. The Company will reflect the effects of
the Act, if any, in 2005, as a part of the income tax expense in
the period action is taken.

To address certain tax aspects of a 2003 legal restruc-
turing of Western Union's international operations, the Company
initiated discussions with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS")
pursuant to the IRS's Advance Pricing Agreement (APA) Program.
If an APA is successfully negotiated, the Company generally will
avoid further examination, during the term of the APA, of the
transfer pricing methods applicable to, and valuations of, the
covered transactions. Any differences from the Company's posi-
tions as recorded in its financial statements upon resolution of
these issues will be reflected as a part of the income tax expense
in the period during which the resolution occurs.
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NOTE 9. BORROWINGS

December 31, 2004 2003
(v millions )

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS:

Commercial paper $ 6648 $ -
Capital lease obligations 38.6 21.9
Floating rate note - 100.0
2% Senior convertible notes due 2008 - 537.2
8.75% Notes due 2005 199.9 -

LONG-TERM DEBT:

Medium-term notes 348.7 3483
6.75% Notes due 2005 - 198.7
5.625% Notes due 2011 645.9 6453
4,70% Notes due 2006 648.6 6479
3.375% Notes due 2008 498.9 4085
4,70% Notes due 2013 498.4 498.2
3.90% Notes due 2009 449.3 -
4.85% Notes due 2014 549.9 -
Capital lease obligations 51.7 24.2
Other long-term debt 8.7 5.7

Adjustments to carrying value for
mark-to-market of interest rate and
foreign currency swaps 29 481

$4,606.3 $3,575.0

The Company's commercial paper borrowings during the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 had weighted-
average interest rates of 2.3% and 1.2%, respectively.

The Company has a $15 billion commercial paper
program that is supported by a $1.1 billion revolving credit facility
(the “facility”), which expires on November 3, 2005. As of
December 31,2004, the Company had $664.8 million in commer-
cial paper borrowings outstanding under the program. Interest
rates for borrowings under the facility are based on market
rates. The facility contains customary covenants, which are not
expected to significantly affect FDC's operations. At December
31, 2004, the Company was in compliance with all of these
covenants.

As part of the Concord merger on February 26, 2004, the
Company assumed the outstanding Federal Home Loan Bank
(*FHLB") loan payable balance of $131.6 million, which was paid
in full in March 2004,

On March 3, 2004, the Company called the $542 million
CODES. Bondholders had the option of taking cash or common
stock, of which $358.3 million was redeemed at face value for
cash and 4.5 million shares were issued.

The Company paid the $100 million floating rate note
upon its maturity during the first quarter of 2004.




As part of the acquisition of Cashcard on April 3, 2004,
the Company assumed $42.0 million of debt under a
$122 million bank credit line, which was paid in full as of
December 31, 2004. Additionally, the Company assumed capital
lease obligations of $11.9 million.

During 2004 the Company entered into capital lease
agreements to finance the purchase of equipment and software.
The terms of the capital leases range from one to five years and
resulted in the Company recording an additional $18.6 miliion in
short-term and $25.1 million in long-term borrowings at
December 31, 2004.

On September 18, 2004, the Company issued
$450 million of 3.90% senior notes due October 1, 2009 and
$550 million of 4.85% senior notes due October 1, 2014.
The Company received net proceeds of $447.8 million and
$547.6 million from these issuances, respectively, which were
used to repay outstanding commercial paper and for general
corporate purposes. In conjunction with the debt offering, the
Company entered into two five year and one 10 year interest
rate swaps with notional amounts totaling $450 million and
$550 million, respectively, to receive interest at the coupon rate
of the debt and to pay interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR
plus 0.0875% and 0.2600%, respectively. The Company expects
the change in the fair value of the interest rate swaps to offset
changes in the fair value of the fixed rate debt due to market
interest rate changes. The weighted-average interest rate on the
five and 10 year notes on December 31, 2004 was 2.1% and
2.2%, respectively. Interest on the notes, which are public debt
offerings, is payable semi-annually in arrears. The notes do not
have sinking fund obligations. The September 2004 issuance
completed all remaining registrations available at that time.

OnNovember 12,2004 the Company filed a $2 billion shelf
registration which was fully available at December 31, 2004.

On July 30, 2003, the Company issued $500 million of
3.375% senior notes due August 1, 2008 and $500 million of
4.70% senior notes due August 1, 2013. The Company received
net proceeds of $992.6 million from these issuances, which
were used to repay a portion of outstanding commercial paper,
repurchase the Company's common stock and for general
corporate purposes. Interest on the notes, which are public debt
offerings, is payable semi-annually in arrears. The notes do not
have sinking fund obligations. In conjunction with the debt
offering, the Company entered into five and 10 year interest rate
swaps with notional amounts of $280 million each to receive
interest at the coupon rate of the debt and to pay interest at a
variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 0.03% and 0.20%, respectively.
The Company expects the change in the fair value of the interest
rate swaps to offset changes in the fair value of the fixed rate
debt due to market interest rate changes. The weighted average
interest rate on the five and 10 year notes on December 31,
2004 was 2.9% and 3.6%, respectively.

In November 1999, the Company established a
$300 million extendable commercial notes (“ECN") program. As
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were no outstanding
notes under the ECN program.

In November 2001, the Company issued $650 million of
4.70% senior notes due 2006 and $650 million of 5.625% senior
notes due 2011 and received net proceeds of $646 million and
$644 million, respectively. The proceeds from these offerings
were used to repay outstanding commercial paper, fund acquisi-
tions and repurchase common stock. Interest on the notes,
which are public debt offerings, is payable semi-annually in
arrears. The notes do not have sinking fund obligations. In
conjunction with the November 2001 debt offerings, the
Company entered into several five-year interest rate swaps with
the notional amount totaling $650 million to receive interest at a
fixed rate of 4.70% and to pay interest at a variable rate equal to
LIBOR plus 0.1738%.

The outstanding medium-term notes have interest rates
ranging from 5.80% to 6.38% and are due at various dates
through 2008, Interest an the 6.75% term notes, which are public
debt offerings, is payable semi-annually in arrears. These notes
do not have sinking fund obligations and they are not redeem-
able prior to maturity.

In 2001, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
with the notional amount totaling $200 million to receive interest
at the fixed rate of 6.75%, and to pay interest at variable rates
equal to LIBOR plus 2.415%, respectively. The Company expects
the changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap to offset
changes in the fair value of the fixed rate debt due to market
interest rate changes.

Aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt are
$688.3 million in 2006, $269.4 million in 2007, $600.7 million in
2008, $451.5 million in 2009 and $1,700.2 million in all periods
thereafter,

Some of the Company's borrowing agreements have
certain restrictive covenants that may include limitations on the
amount of subsidiary indebtedness, the allowance of liens,
entering sale and leaseback transactions, the declaration of divi-
dends by the Company's subsidiaries, and certain fundamental
changes by the Company. The Company would also be in default
if the Company failed to pay certain obligations or failed to main-
tain an interest coverage ratio of not less than 2.5 to 1. The
Company's current interest coverage ratio is 19.6 to 1.
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NOTE 10: SUPPLEMENTAL
BALANCE SKEET INFORMATION

December 31, 2004 2003
(e mitlions)
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:
Customers $1,5756  $1,309.8
Unconsolidated merchant alliances 71.7 55,6
Interest and other receivables 205.1 203.4
1,852.4 1,568.7
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (48.0) (43.8)

$1,8044  $15249

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:

Land $ 810 $ 647
Buildings 3595 295.3
Leasehold improvements 168.2 161.8
Equipment and furniture 1,842.2 1,668.4
Equipment under capital lease 84.9 57.9

2,636.8 2,2481
Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization (1,782.0) (1,555.8)
$ 8548 $ 6923

OTHER ASSETS:
Investments $ 3204 $ 1704
Regulatory and escrowed cash 598.4 4224
Derivative financial instruments 64.2 121.8
Prepaid expenses 135.4 1724
Inventory 98.0 91.0
Other 82.3 284

$1,298.7 $1,006.4

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND
OTHER LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and

accrued expenses $ 9823 $ 8304
Compensation and benefit liabilities 360.9 265.9
Pension obligaticns 205.3 1928

Accrued costs of businesses
acquired (including deferred

acquisition consideration) 96.6 127.1
Income taxes payable 200.8 169.3
Deferred income taxes 821.4 411.2
Minority interest 68.4 162.6
Derivative financial instruments 431.8 395.0
Other liabilities 467.9 439.3

$36355 $29936

NOTE 11:RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

MERCHANT ALLIANGES

A substantial portion of the Company's business within the
Merchant Services segment is conducted through merchant alli-
ances. Certain merchant alliances, as it pertains to investments
accounted for under the equity method, are joint ventures
between the Company and financial institutions. No directors or
officers of the Company have ownership interests in any of the
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alliances. The formation of each of these alliances generally
involves the Company and the bank contributing contractual
merchant relationships to the alliance and a cash payment from
one owner to the other to achieve the desired ownership
percentage for each. The Company and the bank contract a
long-term processing service agreement as part of the negotia-
tion process. This agreement governs the Company's provision
of transaction processing services to the alliance. Therefore, the
Company has two income streams from these alliances: its
share of the alliance's net income (classified as “equity earnings
in affiliates”) and the processing fees it charges to the alliance
(classified as “transaction processing and service fees™). The
processing fees are based on transaction volumes and unit
pricing as contained in the processing services agreement
negotiated with the alliance partner.

If the Company has majority ownership and management
control over an alliance, then the alliance’s financial statements
are consolidated with those of the Company and the related
processing fees are treated as an intercompany transaction and
eliminated upon consolidation. If the Company does not have a
controlling ownership interest in an alliance, it uses the equity
method of accounting to account for its investment in the alli-
ance. As a result, the Company's consolidated revenues include
processing fees charged to alliances accounted for under the
equity method. ‘

The Company negotiated all agreements with the alli-
ance banks. Therefore, all transactions between the Company
and its alliances were conducted at arm’s-length. However, SFAS
No. 57, “‘Related Party Disclosures’ defines a transaction
between the Company and an entity for which investments are
accounted for under the equity method by the Company as a
related party transaction requiring separate disclosure in the
financial statements provided by the Company. The revenue
associated with these related party transactions are presented
on the face of the Consolidated Statements of income.

OTHER AFFILIATES

During 2004 the Company acquired 30% equity interests in
each of Angelo Costa and Finint, agents of the Company. With
these acquisitions, the Company now has an ownership interest
in five international agents, which are accounted for under the
equity method of accounting. The Company pays these agents,
as it does its other agents, commissions for money transfer and
other services they provide on Western Union's behalf. These
commissions are negotiated at arms-length. Commissions paid
to these agents for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 totaled $102.2 million, $68.8 miltion, and $58.2 million,
respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES
The Company has intercompany transactions with less than
wholly owned subsidiaries. The most significant of such transac-
tions is between the Company and eONE and its subsidiaries. The
Company provides eONE with transaction processing, adminis-
trative, legal, and accounting services. Such transactions are typi-
cally done atarms-length, subject to oversight pursuant to policies
and procedures established by a committee of the Company’s
Board of Directors, and eliminated upon consolidation.

The Company also has limited transactions between its
segments. These transactions are eliminated upon consolidation.




TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES INVOLVING

DIRECTORS AND COMPANY EXECUTIVES

On February 1, 2001, eONE loaned Mr. Staglin, a director of the
Company through March 6, 2002 and Chief Executive Officer of
eONE through March 31, 2004, $16.9 million at 7.4% interest.
The loan was made to allow Mr. Staglin to exercise his options to
purchase Class B Common Limited Partnership Interests of
eONE. Mr. Staglin left the Company on March 31, 2004 and
upon termination of his employment, he exercised his right to
sell the shares purchased at the time of eONE's formation to
eONE at the original purchase price. Upon exercise of his rights,
the outstanding balance on the note was satisfied.

Mr. Robinson, a director of the Company, and members of
his family control and have equity interests in RRE Ventures
including: RRE Investors, LP; RRE Investors Fund, LP; RRE
Ventures 1), LP; RRE Ventures Fund i, LP; RRE Ventures H-A,
LP; RRE Ventures lll, LP; RRE Ventures Fund Ill, LP and RRE
Advisors, LLC. Prior to authorizing the transactions as described
below, Mr Robinson’s interests in the transactions were
disclosed to and reviewed by the Board or the Oversight
Committee of the Board.

The Company or eONE made commitments of $3.0 million,
$5.0 million, and $1.0 million in 1996, 1999, and 2001 respec-
tively, to RRE Investors, LP; RRE Ventures il, LP and RRE
Ventures llI-A, LP. eONE is required to pay RRE Advisors, LLC an
annual management fee of between 1.0% and 2.5% of its capital
commitment. Such fees totaled $0.2 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the carrying
value of eONE's investment in the RRE entities after distribu-
tions was $1.9 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

In March 2003, the Company and other third parties
including RRE Ventures Il, LP and RRE Ventures Fund I, LP
purchased $6 million of senior secured convertible bridge notes
with warrants from e-Duction Inc. The Company's portion of
these notes is $2.4 million which was converted into Class A
Preferred Stock in 2004 as part of an e-Duction recapitalization.
Including investments prior to 2003, the Company and entities
affiliated with RRE Ventures own approximately 18.0% and
18.6% of e-Duction’s equity, respectively.

In the third quarter of 2004, the Company invested
$1.6 million in BitPass, Inc, a company founded in 2002 that
offers a digital content micropayment system for consumers and
merchants, RRE Ventures Ill-A, LP; RRE Ventures I, LP and RRE
Ventures Fund 1, LP also invested $2 million in BitPass, Inc. as
part of the same transaction on the same terms as the Company.
The investment resulted in the Company acquiring an economic
interest of approximately 8.56% and entities affiliated with RRE
Ventures owning approximately 10.7% of BitPass in the form of
Series B Preferred Stock.

In February 2005, a subsidiary of eONE sold assets
related to its mobile wallet software business to Qpass, Inc. for
$1.5 million, a portion of which is contingent upon Qpass, Inc.
obtaining certain agreements from a third party. Mr, Robinson is
a director of Qpass, Inc, and RRE Investors, LP and RRE
Investors Fund, LP hold a minority interest in Qpass, Inc.

Prior to the merger of Concord EFS, Inc. into a subsid-
iary of the Company and his becoming a director of the Company
on March 1, 2004, Richard P. Kiphart was the non-executive
chairman of the board of directors of Concord as well as the
manager of the corporate finance department and a principal at

William Blair & Company, LL.C. Concord hired William Blair to
advise it in connection with its consideration of the proposed
merger and to provide a fairness opinion in connection with the
merger. Pursuant to a letter agreement dated February 20, 2003,
Concord paid William Blair a fee of $1.5 million upon the delivery
of its opinion, dated April 1, 2003, as to the fairness, fram a finan-
cial point of view, of the exchange ratio in the original merger
agreement. Under the terms of the letter agreement, William
Blair received an additional fee of $9.5 million upon the comple-
tion of the merger on February 26, 2004. in addition, Concord
reimbursed William Blair for all of its out-of-pocket expenses
(including fees and expenses of its counsel) reasonably incurred
by it in connection with its services and will indemnify William
Blair against potential liabilities arising out of its engagement.

NOTE 12:COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases certain of its facilities and equipment under
operating lease agreements, substantially all of which contain
renewal options. Total rent expense for operating leases was
$127.8 million in 2004, $134.8 million in 2003, and $137.3
million in 2002.

Future minimum aggregate rental commitments at
December 31, 2004 under all noncancelable leases, net of
sublease income, were $310.8 million and are due inthe
following years: $81.2 million for 2005, $70.5 million for 2006,
$56.9 million for 2007, $40.3 million for 2008, $23.9 million for
2009, and $38.0 million thereafter.

The sublease income is earned from leased space, which
FDC concurrently subleases to its customers with comparable
time periods. Certain future lease rental income exceeds lease
payments, and was excluded from the rental commitment
amounts above. At December 31, 2004, these amounts totaled
$28.0 million in FDC obligations. The Company has guaranteed
residual values aggregating $191.9 million related to synthetic
operating leases.

in addition, the Company has certain guarantees
imbedded in leases and other agreements wherein the Company
is required to relieve the counterparty in the event of changes in
the tax code or rates. The Company believes the fair value of
such guarantees is insignificant due to the likelihood and extent
of the potential changes.

In connection with FDC's money transfer business, the
Company entered into a minimum purchase agreement with one
of its data processing vendors. Under this agreement, the
Company is required to purchase at least $70 million in goods
and services over a period of 68 months commencing January 1,
2003. At December 31, 2004, approximately $24.9 million in
goods remalined to be purchased under this agreement.

In 2001, two putative class actions based on simitar
factual allegations were filed in the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of New York against the Company and
its subsidiary, Western Union Financial Services, Inc, asserting
claims on behalf of a putative worldwide class (excluding
members of the settlement class of similar actions previously
filed against the Company and its subsidiaries). These actions
have been consolidated into a single action. The plaintitfs claim
that the Company, Western Union and Orlandi Valuta impose an
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undisclosed “charge” when they transmit consumers’ money by
wire either from the United States to international locations or
from international locations to the United States, in that the
exchange rate used in these transactions is less favorable than
the exchange rate that Western Union and Orlandi Valuta receive
when they trade currency in the international money market.
Plaintiffs further assert that Western Union's failure to disclose
this “charge” in the transactions viclates 18 U.S.C. section 1961
et seq. and state deceptive trade practices statutes, and also
asserts claims for civil conspiracy. The plaintiffs seek injunctive
relief, compensatory damages in an amount to be proven at trial,
treble damages, punitive damages, attorneys' fees, and costs of
suit. The parties to this action reached a proposed settlement of
all claims that includes the following: (1) Western Union (and,
with respect to money transfer transactions from the U.S. other
than California to Mexico, Orlandi Valuta) will issue coupons for
discounts on future international money transfer transactions to
customers who transferred money from the U.S. fo certain coun-
tries other than Mexico between January 1, 1895 and approxi~
mately March 31, 2000 (for certain services, Western Union will
issue coupons for transactions conducted as late as December
31, 2001), from anywhere in the US. other than California to
Mexico between September 1, 1999 and March 31, 2000 (again,
for certain services, Western Union will issue coupons for trans-
actions conducted as late as December 31, 2001), from coun-
tries other than Canada to the U.S. between January 1, 1985 and
March 31, 2000, and from Canada to the U.S. between January
1, 1995 and approximately July 31, 2002; (2) injunctive relief
requiring Western Union and Orlandi Valuta to make additional
disclosures regarding their foreign exchange practices; and (3)
reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs as well as the
costs of settlement notice and administration. A small number of
class members filed objections to or requests for exclusion from
the proposed settlement. The Court held a fairness hearing on
April 9, 2004 and granted final approval of the settlement on
October 19, 2004. On February 7, 2005, the Court approved the
application of plaintiffs, made pursuant to the terms of the
settlement, for an award of attorney's fees and a payment to the
class representatives. Also on February 7, 2005, the Court
entered a final judgment in the action. The time period during
which objectors may appeal has not yet expired. If an appeal is
taken and the approval of the settlement is reversed on appeal,
the Company intends to vigorously defend this action.

During the three months ended June 30, 2002, the
Company accrued $30.0 million as the estimated cost of settling
money transfer litigation matters including those discussed in
the preceding paragraph. The discounts on future money transfer
transactions will be recognized as incurred.
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On April 15,2002, VISA U.SA, Inc. filed a complaint in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of California,
San Francisco Division, against the Company and its subsid-
iaries First Data Resources, Inc. and First Data Merchant
Services Corporation (the VISA action). With VISA's knowledge,
these subsidiaries have been internally authorizing and settling
certain VISA credit card transactions without the use of the VISA
network for a number of years. VISA USA, Inc. alleged that
these actions constitute federal trademark infringement, federal
trademark dilution, false designation of origin and false impres-
sion of association, breach of contract and breach of the cove-
nant of good faith and fair dealing. VISA USA, Inc, seeks a
declaratory judgment, an injunction, damages in an amount to be
proven at trial, costs of suit, and attorney fees. The Company
intends to vigorously defend this action.

On November 5, 2002, the Company and two of its
subsidiaries filed counterclaims in the VISA action. In the coun-
terclaim, the Company alleges that VISA International and VISA
U.SA, Inc. (collectively “VISA"), have abused their market power
to prevent the Company from internally processing VISA credit
card transactions outside of the VISA network through private
arrangements. The Company also alleges that VISA has barred
the Company and its customers from using private arrange-
ments to bypass the VISA network, required the Company's
customers to pay for VISA's network services regardless of
whether the customers use those services, uses its fee structure
to raise the costs of rivals and potential rivals, imposes unrea-
sonable conditions on rivals’ access to its network and deters
and prevents its members from using more efficient providers of
network services such as the Company. Based on this and other
conduct, the counterclaim asserts claims of monopolization,
attempt to monopolize, tying, unfair competition, violations of the
Cartwright Act, defamation, trade libel, interference with prospec-
tive economic advantage, and breach of contract. The Company
seeks trebled and punitive damages, attorneys' fees and costs,
restitution and disgorgement, and injunctive relief. The Company
believes that it has complied with all of its obligations to VISA
and that the allegations in its counterciaim are well founded. On
August 11, 2004, the Court denied VISA's Motion to Dismiss the
Company and its two subsidiaries' counterclaim. The Company
amended the counterclaim on August 13, 2004 and on
September 3, 2004 the Court entered an order vacating the
trial date and setting the close of fact and expert discovery in
April 2005,

A number of complaints against Concord and its direc-
tors containing essentially identical allegations were consoli-
dated on November 20, 2002 under the caption In_re Concord
EFS, Inc. Securities Litigation in the United States District Court
for the Western District of Tennessee. The lead plaintiffs in the
action have filed a Consolidated Amended Complaint on or
about February 17, 2003, in which they allege, among other
items, that Concord's financial statements were materially
misleading because they failed to disclose “related party trans-
actions” with H&F Card Services, Inc. ("H&F"). The Consolidated
Amended Complaint seeks class certification, an unspecified




amount of compensatory damages, including interest thereon,
attorney fees and other costs and expenses on behalf of the
plaintiffs and members of the putative class, and other relief the
Court may deem just and proper. The parties are currently
engaged in discovery. The Company intends to vigorously defend
against these claims.

On or about April 3 and 4, 2003 two purported class
action complaints were filed on behalf of the public holders of
Concord's common stock (excluding shareholders related to or
affiliated with the individual defendants). The defendants in
those actions were certain current and former officers and
directors of Concord. The complaints generally alleged breaches
of the defendants' duty of loyalty and due care in connection
with the defendants' alleged attempt to sell Concord without
maximizing the value to shareholders in order to advance the
defendants’ alleged individual interests in obtaining indemnifica-
tion agreements related to the securities litigation discussed
above and other derivative litigation. The complaints sought
class certification, injunctive relief directing the defendants'
conduct in connection with an alleged sale or auction of Concord,
reasonable attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees and other costs and
relief the Court deems just and proper. On or about April 2, 2003
an additional purported class action complaint was filed by Barton
K. O'Brien. The defendants were Concord, certain of its current
and former officers and directors. This complaint contained atle-
gations regarding the individual defendants' alleged insider
trading and alleged violations of securities and other laws and
asserted that this alleged misconduct reduced the consideration
offered to Concord shareholders in the proposed merger between
Concord and a subsidiary of the Company. The complaint sought
class certification, attorneys’ fees, experts' fees, costs and other
relief the Court deems just and proper. Moreover, the complaint
also sought an order enjoining consummation of the merger,
rescinding the merger if it is consummated and setting it aside or
awarding rescissory damages to members of the putative class,
and directing the defendants to account to the putative class
members for unspecified damages. These complaints were
consolidated in a second amended consolidated complaint filed
September 19, 2003 into one action (In_re Concord EFS,_Inc.
Shareholder Litigation) in the Shelby County Circuit for the State
of Tennessee.

On October 15, 2003, the plaintiffs In re Concord EFS,
Inc. Shareholder Litigation moved for leave to file a third
amended consolidated complaint similar to the previous
complaints but also alleging that the proxy statement disclo-
sures relating to the antitrust regulatory approval process were
inadequate. On October 17, 2003, the plaintiffs filed a motion for
preliminary injunction to enjoin the shareholder vote on the
proposed merger and/or the merger itself. The Court denied the
plaintiffs’ motion on October 20, 2003 but ordered deposition
discovery on an expedited basis. On October 27, 2003 the plain-
tiffs filed a renewed motion to enjoin the shareholder vote, which
was denied by the Court the same day. A motion to dismiss was
filed on June 22, 2004 alleging that the claims should be denied
and are moot since the merger has occurred. On October 18,

2004, the Court heard arguments on the plaintiff's motion to
amend complaint and the defendant's motion to dismiss. The
Company intends to vigorously defend the action.

On July 2, 2004, Pamela Brennan, Terry Crayton, and
Darla Martinez filed a class action complaint on behalf of them-
selves and all others similarly situated in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of California against the
Company, its subsidiary Concord EFS, Inc,, and various financial
institutions. Plaintiffs claim that the defendants have violated
antitrust laws by conspiring to artificially inflate foreign ATM fees
that were ultimately charged to ATM cardholders. Plaintiffs seek
a declaratory judgement, injunctive relief, compensatory
damages, aftorneys' fees, costs and such other relief as the
nature of the case may require or as may seem just and proper
to the court. Five similar suits were filed and served in July,
August and October 2004, two in the Central District of California
(Los Angeles), two in the Southern District of New York, and one
in the Western District of Washington (Seattle). The Plaintiffs
sought to have all of the cases consolidated by the Multi District
Litigation panel. That request was denied by the panel December
16, 2004 and all cases have been transferred to the Northern
District Court of California. With the exception of the Murray
case, which has not yet been assigned, all actions have been
assigned to a single judge. That judge has stayed the litigation
pending resolution of the defendant's motions seeking dismissal
of the Brennan complaint. Those motions are scheduled to be
argued March 24, 2005. The Company intends to vigorously
defend these actions.

First Data Government Solutions, LP (formerly govONE
Solutions, LPY (*FDGS"), a subsidiary of eQNE, provides elec-
tronic tax processing services as a subcontractor for a partner
bank, which has contracted with the US. Department of the
Treasury, Financial Management Service (*FMS"), to be a provider
of the Electronic Federal Tax Payment System (‘EFTPS"). FDGS
has historically been one of the two providers of such services.
In March 2004, FDGS and its partner bank were informed that
FMS intended to contract with them to be the single provider of
EFTPS services based on proposed new terms submitted by
FDGS and its partner bank.

In connection with the formation of the eONE partnership
in November 2000, the Company agreed to contribute up to
$100 million to eONE in the event that FDGS's contract is
renewed on terms which are materially worse than the current
contract, and have a material adverse effect on the business of
FDGS, subject to certain limitations. At this time the Company
does not know if a contribution will be required, or if required, the
amount of such contribution.

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject
to claims and litigation, including indemnification obligations to
purchasers of former subsidiaries. Management of the Company
believes that such matters will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company's results of operations, liquidity or
financial condition.
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NOTE 13: STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

DIVIDENDS

FDC increased its dividend from $0.01 to $0.02 per share on a quarterly basis to stockholders during the second quarter of 2002.
The Company’s Articles of Incorporation authorizes 10.0 million shares of preferred stock, none of which are issued. Cash dividends of
$67.4 million, $58.7 million and $52.9 million were declared for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In
February 2005, the Company increased its quarterly dividend to $0.06 per common share.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The income tax effects allocated to and the cumulative balance of each component of other comprehensive income are as follows

(in millions):
Pretax Tax
Beginning Gain (Loss) (Benefit)/ Net-of-Tax Ending
Balance Amount Expense Arnount Balance
December 31, 2004
Unrealized losses on investments $ 179.3 $(166.7) $ (58.8) $(107.9) $ 714
Unrealized gains on hedging activities (209.3) 36.2 19.2 16.0 (193.3)
Currency translation adjustment 61.4 717 24.4 47.3 108.7
Minimum pension liability (131.8) (49.5) (17.5) (32.0) (163.6)
$(100.2) $(109.3) $(32.7) $ (76.6) $(176.8)
December 31, 2003
Unrealized losses on investments $ 2154 $ (655) $ (19.4) $ (36.1) $ 1793
Unrealized gains on hedging activities (281.6) 111.2 389 72.3 (209.3)
Currency translation adjustment (26.5) 135.2 47.3 87.9 61.4
Minimum pension liability (104.8) 41.1) (14.4) (96.7) (131.8)
$(197.6) $ 1498 $ 524 $ 974 $(100.2)
December 31, 2002
Unrealized gains on investments $ 193 $301.8 $1087 $ 196.1 $ 2154
Unrealized losses on hedging activities (69.1) (324.4) (1119 (2125) (281.6)
Currency translation adjustment (60.5) 52.2 182 340 (26.5)
Minimum pension liability (33.0) (108.8) (36.9) (71.9) (104.9)
$(143.3) $ (792 $ (249 $ (54.3) $(197.6)

OTHER STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY TRANSACTIONS
FDC issued 169.8 million shares of FDC common stock to
Concord sharehalders, and the outstanding Concord options
were converted to options to purchase 20.5 million shares of
FDC commoen stock pursuant to the exchange ratio of 0.365
FDC common shares for every Concord common share. The
common shares issued and option conversion were based on
the actual number of shares of Concord common stock and
options outstanding on February 26, 2004, The average market
price per share of FDC's common stock of $38.82 is based on
an average of trading days (December 11, December 12,
December 16 and December 17) around the December 15,
20083 announcement date of the amended terms of the proposed
merger. In accordance with the terms of the merger, Concord’s
outstanding options that were granted prior to February 28,
2004 vested upon completion of the merger. Options assumed
in conjunction with the acquisition had a weighted-average exer-
cise price of $36.11 and a fair market value of $268.5 million
based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

The Company awarded 460,000 shares of restricted
stock to officers during the year ended December 31, 2004 as
discussed in Note 14,
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The Company called the $542 million CODES on March 3,
2004. The Company issued 4.5 million common shares to certain
of the bondholders who elected shares versus a cash payment.

In February 2003, an eONE subsidiary issued 510,425
shares of subsidiary stock to a third party in exchange for relin-
quishing claims to intellectual property.

In March 2002, the Board of Directors declared a 2-for-1
stock split of the Company’s common stock to be effected in the
form of a stock dividend. Shareholders of record on May 20,
2002 received one share of the Company’s common stock for
each share owned. The distribution of the shares occurred after
the close of business on June 4, 2002. All share amounts have
been retroactively restated for all periods to reflect the impact of
the stock split.

In December 2002, $33.3 million of the Company's
seven-year $50 million convertible debentures were converted
into 1.83 million shares at an exercise price of $18.23 per share.
The remaining $16.7 million of the note was converted into
approximately 0.91 million shares in 2003.




The following table presents stock repurchase programs authorized by the Board of Directors from 2001 through 2004, disclosing total

shares purchased under each program and the associated cost:

2004 2003 2002
Treasury Treasury Treasury
Shares Cost Shares Cost Shares® Cost
( on radloms )

$700 million, authorized September 2001 - - - - 14.1 $512.8
$500 million, authorized May 2002 - - 115 $ 4619 11 383
$1.145 billion, authorized May 2003 3.4 $ 1458 253 899.5 - -
$1.0 billion, authorized February 2004 233 1,000.3 - - - -
$2.0 billion, authorized May 2004 47.4 2,000.6 - - - -
$1.5 billion, authorized October 2004 141 594.7 - - - -
88.2 $3,741.4 36.8 $1,461.4 15.2 $551.1

Treasury stock purchases related
o employee benefit plans 180 7763 37 36386 7.7 2880
Total stock repurchases 106.2 $4,517.7 46,5 $1825.0 229 $849.1

(a) Share amounts have been retroactively restated for all periods to reflect the impact of the stock split.

During 2004, the Company announced the following
increases to the share repurchase programs: $1.0 billion in
February, $2.0 billion in May, and $1.5 billion in October. As of
December 31, 2004, the Company's remaining authorization
enables the Company to repurchase up to $9085.5 million of its
outstanding common stock. In February 2005, the Company
increased the share repurchase program by $2 billion.

The Company has available an outstanding shelf regis-
tration facility providing for the issuance of approximately 10
million shares of the Company’s common stock in connection
with certain types of acquisitions.

COMMON STOCK WARRANTS
Upon the formation of eONE in 2000, the Company issued a
warrant to iFormation Group to purchase 3.5 million shares of
FDC common stock at a price of $40.03 per share. The warrant
was exercisable at the earlier of November 15, 2004 or upon the
occurrence of certain events. As of December 31, 2004 the
warrant had not been exercised.

In 1996, the Company issued warrants to purchase up to
4.0 million shares of FDC common stock at a price of $35,00 per
share as part of contractual agreements with a customer and their
calculated fair value was recorded as paid-in capital and is being
expensed over the contract period. The warrants were exercised
during 2003, which resulted in the Company issuing 0.6 million
shares under a cashless exercise provision for the incremental
fair value between the exercise price and the market price.

In connection with a service agreement executed in
2003, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 200,000
shares of FDC common stock at a price of $50.00 per share. The
warrant is exercisable between June 20086 and June 2009.

NOTE 14: sTOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

FDC has a plan that provides for the granting of stock options to
employees and other key individuals who perform services for
the Company. A total of 237.8 million shares of common stock
have been reserved for issuance under the plan and a total of
45,3 million shares remain available for future grant. The options
have been issued at a price equivalent to or in excess of the
common stock's fair market value at the date of grant, generally
have 10 year terms and become exercisable in three or four equal
annual increments beginning 12 months after the date of grant.

To complete the merger with Concord in 2004, FDC
issued fully vested options to purchase 20.5 million shares of
FDC common stock to Concord option holders. The fair value of
the options calculated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model was included in the purchase price.

In February 2004, the Company awarded 460,000 shares
of restricted stock to officers. The stock awards vest if the exec-
utives are still employed by the Company at the time, on the
earlier of (i) February 25, 2009 or (i) at any time after February
25, 2007 if on each trading day during the previous 30-day
period the highest intra-day trading price of the Company's
common stock on the New York Stock Exchange is equal to or
greater than $70.00 per share. Vesting may be accelerated
pursuant to the terms of the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
The fair value of the restricted shares on the date of the grant is
amortized ratably over the vesting period. Unearned compensa-
tion on the February 2004 grant of $18.8 million was recorded
based on the market value of the shares on the date of grant
and is being amortized over five years. The unamortized balance
of $15.8 million of unearned compensation on restricted stock is
included as a component of additional paid-in capital in stock-
holders’ equity.
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In December 1997, the Company instituted a restricted
stock award program for key technical systems and related
employees. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, no shares
remain outstanding under this program. The 1.5 miflion restricted
shares originally granted had a two- or three-year restriction
period from the date of grant, with the last grant date being
December 2000.

In October 1896, the Company instituted an employee
stock purchase pian for which a total of 18.0 million shares have
been reserved for issuance, of which 3.0 million shares remain
available for future purchase. Monies accumulated through
payroll deductions elected by eligible employees are used to
make quarterly purchases of FDC common stock at a 15%
discount from the lower of the market price at the beginning or
end of the quarter.

eONE and its four subsidiaries, SurePay, govONE, Encorus
and Velosant, instituted long-term incentive plans that provide for
the granting of partnership interests to employees and other key
individuals. During 2003, SurePay ceased operations and all
outstanding options were cancelled. The options were issued at
a price equivalent to the fair market value of the interests at the
date of grant, generally have 10-year terms and become exercis-
able over a three or four-year vesting period. The following
options were outstanding at December 31, 2004 under the

eONE, govONE, Encorus and Velosant plans, 1.1 million,
5.0 million, 0.5 million and 3.7 million, respectively. There were no
option grants during the year ended December 31, 2004. The
weighted-average exercise price under the eONE, govONE,
Encorus and Velosant plans was $4, $3, $6 and $1, respectively.
In 2001, eONE loaned $20.1 million to three employees in
connection with the exercise of options to purchase five million
eONE partnership interests. Upon two employees exercising
their rights to have the Company repurchase their shares, two of
these loans were satisfied in March 2004. See Note 2 for addi-
tional discussion.

The Company has elected to follow APB 25 for its
employee stock options as aliowed by SFAS 123. Under APB 25,
no compensation expense is recognized because the exercise
price of the Company's employee stock options equals or exceeds
the market price of the underlying stock con the date of grant.

Pro forma information regarding netincome and earnings
per share is required by SFAS 123, assuming the Company has
accounted for its employee stock aptions granted subsequent to
December 31, 1994 under the fair value method of SFAS 123.
The fair value for FDC options and employee stock purchase plan
rights was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

2004 2003 2002
FDC:
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 3.25% 2.95% 4.18%
Dividend yield 0.20% 0.22% 0.21%
Volatility 30.5% 37.0% 40,0%
Expected option life 5years 5 years 5 years
Expected employze stock purchase right life (in years) 0.25 025 025
2004 2003 2002
Weighted-average fair value:
FDC options granted $13 $13 $17
FDC employee stock purchase rights 8 7 7
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The Company's pro forma information, amortizing the fair value of the options over their vesting period and including the stock purchase
rights, is as follows (included in the pro forma expense is $2.2 million, $4.8 million, and $5.1 million, net of tax, for the years ended December
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to eONE and its subsidiary plans):

2004 2003 2002
(Gemillons, myf/y(/ﬂfa/gmmt/ )
Reported net income $1,875.2 $1,408.7 $1.2372
Restricted stock expense included in reported net income, net of tax 2.0 - -
SFAS 123 expense, net of tax (118.2) (114.0) (109.5)
Pro forma net income $1,759.0 $1,004.7 $1,1284
Reported earnings per share—basic $2.27 $1.91 $1.83
Reported earnings per share—diluted 2.23 1.88 1.61
Pro forma earnings per share—basic $2.13 $1.75 $1.49
Pro forma earnings per share—diluted 2,09 1.73 1.46
A summary of FDC stock option activity is as follows (options in millions):
2004 2003 2002
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
Outstanding at January 1 60.1 $30 59.2 $28 58.7 $22
Granted 22.0 40 10.8 35 16.2 41
Issued in the Concord merger 20.5 36 - - - -
Exercised 7.1 25 (69 21 (11.1) 14
Cancelled (CH)) 43 B0 35 (2.6) 30
Outstanding at December 31 80.8 35 60.1 30 59.2 28
Options exercisable at year-end 435 $31 298 $24 24.9 $21

The following summarizes information about FDC stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004 (options in millions):

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Number Remaining Average Number Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 54210 $18.49 82 3 years $15 8.1 $15
$18.50 to $23.00 9.1 4 years 21 9.1 21
$23.40 to $34.37 219 7 years 31 129 29
$34.70 to $42.20 36.1 8 years 40 9.0 38
$42.27 t0 $91.37 55 7 years 67 4.4 73
80.8 7 years $35 435 $31

Options with an exercise price greater than $45.48 included in the $42.27 to $91.37 range represent a portion of the options issued to the

former Concord employees upon consummation of the merger.

NOTE 15: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

FDC and certain of its subsidiaries maintain defined contribution
savings plans covering virtually all of the Company’s full-time
U.S. employees, The plans provide tax-deferred amounts for
each participant, consisting of employee elective contributions,
Company matching and discretionary Company contributions. In
addition, the Company provides non-qualified deferred compen-
sation plans for certain highly compensated employees. The
plans provide tax-deferred contributions, matching and the
restoration of Company contributions under the defined contri-
bution plans otherwise limited by the IRS or plan limits. The
aggregate amounts charged to expense in connection with
these plans were $58.4 million in 2004, $55.8 million in 2003,
and $486.1 million in 2002,

On August 1, 2004, the Company introduced a Defined
Contribution Pension Plan for employees in the United Kingdom.
As of that date all new employees may elect to participate in the
Defined Contribution Plan but will not be able to participate in the
Defined Benefit Plan. Existing employees as of August 1, 2004
were allowed to make a one-time election to participate in either
the Defined Contribution Plan or the Defined Benefit Plan,

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The acquisition of Western Union in 1994 included the assump-
tion of $304 million of underfunded obligations related to a
suspended defined benefit pension plan. Benefit accruals under
this plan were suspended in 1988, The Company reduced these
underfunded obligations by making cash contributions to the
Western Union Plan including $20.0 million in 2003 and $35.6
million in 2004.
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The Company has another defined benefit pension plan,
which is frozen and covers certain full-time employees in the
U.S, and separate plans covering certain employees located in
the United Kingdom and Germany. As of August 1, 2004, the
United Kingdom Defined Benefit Plan will not be offered to new
employees, however, the United Kingdom is required to continue
offering benefits to employees that were participating in the
plan as of August 1, 2004. The cost of retirement benefits for
eligible employees, measured by length of service, compensa-~
tion and other factors, is being funded through trusts established
under the plans in accordance with laws and regulations of the
respective countries.

The Company uses a September 30 measurement date
for all of its plans.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the
changes in the plans’ benefit obligation and fair value of assets
over the periods ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, respec-~
tively, and a statement of the funded status as of September 30
for both years:

September 30, 2004 2003
CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Benefit obligation at October 1, $1,001.4 $ 8949
Service costs 10.8 8.1

Interest costs 57.9 56.0
Actuarial foss 745 787
Acquired benefit obligations 2.0 -
Termination benefits™ 21 08
Benefits paid (64.7) (63.1)
Foreign currency translation 35.2 278
Plan participant contributions 2.0 1.2
Benefit obligation at September 30, 1,121.3 1,001.4

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

Fair value of plan assets at October 1, 752.2 6755
Actual return on plan assets 68.6 839
Company contributions 57.6 349
Plan participant contributions 2.0 1.2
Benefits paid (64.7) (83.1)
Foreign currency translation 23.2 19.8
Fair value of plar: assets at September 30, 838.9 752.2
Funded status of the plans (282.4) (249.2)
Unrecognized amounts, principally net loss  329.1 258.8
Total recognized $ 467 $ 96

" The First Data Europe restructuring activities resulted in an increase in the projected

benefit obligation.

According to SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions” (*SFAS 877), the pension obligation and changes in
the value of plan assets to meet those obligations are not recog-
nized as actuarial gains and losses of the plan as they occur but
are recognized systematically over subsequent periods, These
ditferences are treated as an unrecognized net gain/loss and
not an immediate recognized amount. The assumptions used to
determine the Company's recognition of those pericdic pension
costs includes management's long-term expected return on
plan assets.
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The following table provides the amounts recognized in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

December 31, 2004 2003
(22 midlions )
Accrued benefit liability $(205.3) $(192.8)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 252.0 202.4
$ 467 $ 96

Net amount recognized

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit
pension plans was $1,044.1 million and $945.0 million at
September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The accrued benefit liability is included in ‘accounts
payable and other liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

For the year ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, the
projected benefit obligation and the accumulated benefit obligation
was in excess of the fair value of plan assets for all pension plans.

The following table provides the components of net peri-
odic benefit cost for the plans:

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
(/)z/zzz%b//d)
Service costs $109 $ 81 $ 69
Interest costs 57.9 56.0 55.9
Expected return on

plan assets (61.8) (67.3) (64.2)
Amortization 94 6.5 1.8
Net periodic benefit

(income) expense $164 $133 $ 04

Additional information
Increase in minimum
liability included in other
comprehensive income $495 $41.1  $1088

ASSUMPTIONS
The weighted-average rate assumptions used in the measure-
ment of the Company’s benefit obligation are shown as follows:

2004 2003
Discount rate 549%  588%
Rate of compensation increase 3.78%  400%

The weighted-average rate assumptions used in the
measurement of the Company's net cost are shown as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Discount rate 6.08%  632% 691%
Expected long-term return
on plan assets 784%  787%  849%
Rate of compensation increase 3.75%  3.75% 4.00%




SFAS 87 requires the sponsor of a defined benefit
pension plan to measure the plan's obligations and annual
expense using assumptions that reflect best estimates and are
consistent to the extent that each assumption reflects expecta-
tions of future economic conditions. As the bulk of pension
benefits will not be paid for many years, the computation of
pension expenses and benefits is based on assumptions about
future interest rates, estimates of annual increases in compen-
sation levels, and expected rates of return on plan assets. In
general, pension obligations are most sensitive to the discount

consideration of diversification and re-balancing. Peer data
and historical returns are reviewed to check for reasonableness
and appropriateness.

PLAN ASSETS

The Company's pension plan asset allocation at September 30,
2004 and 2003, and target based on the investment policy are

as follows:

Percentage of Plan

rate assumption, and it is set based on the rate at which the Asset Category at Measﬁ:::m Date
pension benefits could be settled effectively. Assumptions for 2004 2003
the U.S. plans and the foreign plans are comparable in all of the Equity securities 56% 53%
above periods. Debt securities 42 42
The Company employs a building block approach in Other 2 5
determining the long-term rate of return for plan assets. Total 100% 100%
Historical markets are studied and long-term historical relation-
ships between equities and fixed-income securities are Target Target
preserved consistent with the widely accepted capital market Asset Category Afocation _ dllocation
principle that assets with higher volatility generate a greater pgi Fo;?;iz
return over the long run. Current market factors such as infla- Equity securities 95-70% 80%
tion and interest rates are evaluated before long-term capital Debt securities 40-70 20
market assumptions are determined. The long-term portfolio Other 0-10 0
return is established using a building block approach with proper
The following table details plan assets invested in related party securities:
2004 2003
Shares Fair Market Value % of Total Shares  Fair Market Value % of Total
Plan Asset Holdings (in thousands) (in millions) Plan Assets (in thousands) (in millions) Plan Assets
FDC common stack 68.4 $3.0 0.36% 676 $27 0.36%
Bank of New York common stock 54.0 $1.6 0.18% 340 $1.0 0.13%
Bank of New York certificate of deposit
(book value $1 million) - $1.0 0.13% - $1.1 0.14%
Hewitt Associates, Inc. common stock 14.9 $0.4 0.05% — — -

The maturities of debt securities at September 30, 2004
range from current to 41 years with a weighted-average maturity
of 14 years.

The Company employs a total return investment approach
whereby a mix of equities and fixed income investments are
used to maximize the long-term return of plan assets for a
prudent level of risk. Risk tolerance is established through
careful consideration of plan liabilities and plan funded status.
The investment portfolio contains a diversified blend of equity
and fixed-income investments. Furthermore, equity investments
are diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks, as well as growth,
value, and small and large capitalizations. Other assets, primarily
private equity, are used judiciously to enhance long-term returns
while improving portfolio diversification. Investment risk is
measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through quarterly
investment portfolio reviews, annual liability measurements, and
periodic asset and liability studies. In December 2004 the invest-
ment policy was revised to allow asset allocations for U.S. plans
as follows: equity securities 30-50%; debt securities 50-60%;

and other 0-10%. It will take a period of time for plan assets to
be invested according to the new asset allocation percentages.

CONTRIBUTIONS

The Company expects to contribute approximately $7.0 million
to the U.S. pension plans in 2005. Contributions to plan assets of
the United Kingdom plan in 2005 are expected to be approxi-
mately $14.0 million.

The estimated future benefit payments, which reflect
expected future service, are expected to be $61.5 million in
2005, $61.0 million in 2006, $60.8 million in 2007, $61.2 million
in 2008, $61.4 million in 2009 and $315.1 million in 2010
through 2014.

The Company does not offer post-retirement health care
or other insurance benefits for retired employees; however, the
Company is required to continue such plans that were in effect
when it acquired Western Union. Generally, retiring Western
Union employees bear the entire cost of the premiums.
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NOTE 16: SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined by SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures
About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”
(“SFAS 131") as components of an enterprise about which sepa-
rate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly
by the chief operating decision maker (‘CODM"), or decision-
making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance. FDC's CODM is its Executive Committee,
which consists of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Vice Presidents. FDC classifies its businesses into
three segments: Payment Services, Merchant Services and Card
Issuing Services. The operating segments are reviewed sepa-
rately below because each operating segment represents a
strategic business unit that generally offers different products
and serves different markets.

NYCE's cperations are being treated as discontinued
operations. All periods were adjusted for the Merchant Services
and Card Issuing Services segments to properly reflect these
operations as discontinued.

The business segment measurements provided to, and
evaluated by, the Company's CODM are computed in accordance
with the following principles:

> The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies.

> Segment reveriue includes interest income, equity earnings in
affiliates and inter-segment revenue.

> Corporate overhead is allocated to the segments based on a
percentage of the segments’ revenues.

> Segment operating profit includes interest income, minority
interest and equity earnings in affiliates, net of related amor-
tization expense.

> Segment operating profit excludes restructuring charges,
asset impairment charges, significant litigation and regulatory
settlement charges, other charges, interest expense, invest-
ment gains and losses, business divestiture gains and losses
and income taxes since they are not allocated to the segments
for internal evaluation purposes. While these items are identi-
fiable to the business segments, they are not included in the
measurement of segment operating profit provided to the
CODM for purposes of assessing segment performance and
decision making with respect to resource allocation.

> Revenues anc operating profit of the Payment Services
segment are stated on a pretax equivalent basis (ie, as if
investment earnings on nontaxable investments were fully
taxable at FDC’s marginal tax rate).
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ALIGNMENT OF ACQUIRED OPERATIONS

Concord'’s operations were assigned to FDC's existing segments
based an the services provided and the customer bases served.
Concord’'s merchant acquiring business and its risk manage-
ment services, which are provided through the majority-owned
subsidiary Primary Payment Systems, (“PPS"), are included in
the Merchant Services segment. Concord's prepaid stored-value
card and transportation-related payment services businesses
were assigned to the Payment Services segment. The STAR
services and related network businesses were assigned between
the Merchant Services segment and the Card lssuing Services
segment based upon whether the service was provided in an
acquiring or issuing capacity. Services provided to issuers, which
are primarily financial institutions, and their cardholders are
included in the Card Issuing Services segment, and the services
provided to acquirers and merchants are included in the
Merchant Services segment. A majority of Cashcard’s opera-
tions are aligned with the Merchant Services segment, with the
remainder aligned in the Card Issuing Services segment, while a
majority of First Data Hellas' operations are aligned with the
Card Issuing Services segment, with the remainder aligned in
the Merchant Services segment.

REALIGNMENT OF HISTORICAL FDC OPERATIONS
In the first quarter 2004 the Company realigned the following
operations:

> Data processing services provided to outside customers was
moved from the Payment Services segment to the Card
Issuing Services segment. These outsourcing services were
realigned because they are more reflective of the outsourcing
services provided by Card Issuing Services.

> Royalty income was moved from Merchant Services into All
Other and Corporate. The royalty income was realigned to
conform to management responsibility and its association
with voice center technology, which resides in All Other and
Corporate.

> eONE, which comprised the entire Emerging Payments
segment, was moved to All Other and Corporate. This realign-
ment was made as a result of the Company's strategic plans.

GCA DISPOSITION

In March 2004 the Company sold its 67% interest in GCA which
comprised the Merchant Services segment's gaming services.
GCA's historic operating results have been removed from the
Merchant Services segment results. The GCA operating results
from January 2004 to March 2004 and for 2003 and 2002 are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Income and are
presented as a divested business for purposes of segment
reporting on a retroactive basis,




The following tables present the Company’s operating segment results for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Payment Merchant Card Issuing All Other and

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Services Services Services Corporate Totals
REVENUES:
Transaction and processing service fees $3,735.3 $2,724.2 $1,723.4 $137.7 $ 8,320.6

Check verification and guarantee services - 405.4 - - 405.4
Investment income, net 286.2 17.3 - - 303.5
Professional services - 30.4 50.2 324 113.0
Software licensing and maintenance - 6.5 24.0 33.0 63.5
Product sales and other 4.8 4411 9.2 30.6 485.5
Reimbursable postage and other 11.8 23.7 570.0 0.1 605.6
Equity earnings in affiliates @ 34 194.9 - - 198.3
Interest income 20 0.8 6.9 15.4 25.1
Total segment reporting revenues $4,043.3 $3,844.3 $2,383.7 $249.2 $10,520.5
Internal revenue and pretax equivalency $ 2274 $ 369 $ 675 $ 102 $ 3420
External revenue 3,815.9 3,807.4 2,316.2 239.0 10,178.5
Depreciation and amortization 104.0 352.3 252.4 26.8 7355
Operating profit (loss) 1,305.2 $50.3 508.1 (95.1) 2,708.5
Restructuring, impairments, litigation and regulatory

settlements, other, investment gains and losses, net (3.2) (69.8) (19.8) (22.7) (115.5)
Expenditures for long-lived assets 1395 (93.1) 4573 59.3 563.0
Equity earnings in affiliates 07 167.4 (2.9) 1.3 163.9
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 152.9 560.0 84.0 38 800.7

Payment Merchant Card Issuing All Other and

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Services Services Services Corporate Totals
{2 millions )
REVENUES:
Transaction and processing service fees $3,2306 $1,730.4 $1,392.2 $155.4 $ 6,508.6

Check verification and guarantee services = 389.2 - - 389.2
investment income, net 354.1 9.5 - - 3636
Professional services - 319 50.1 47.3 129.3
Software licensing and maintenance - 42 215 277 53.4
Product sales and other 38 3413 5.7 435 3943
Reimbursable postage and other 13.7 - 617.2 0.1 631.0
Equity earnings in affiliates @ 0.4 170.2 - - 1706
Interest income 08 08 2.9 29 75
Total segment reporting revenues $3,603.5 $2,677.5 $2,080.6 $276.9 $ 86475
Internal revenue and pretax equivalency $ 2381 $ 352 $ 533 $ 113 $ 3389
External revenue 3,364.4 26423 2036.3 265.6 8,308.6
Depreciation and amortization 1039 220.4 201.1 278 5632
Operating profit (loss) 1,228.1 7232 3099 773 2,183.9
Restructuring, impairments, litigation and regulatory

settlements, investment gains and losses, net (3.0) (11.0) (20.1) 1.7 (45.8)
Expenditures for long-lived assets 169.1 184.4 1387 722 5644
Equity earnings in affiliates (1.8) 1445 a7 (2.3) 138.7
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 1100 564.0 98.1 25 7748
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Payment Merchant Card Issuing All Other and

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Services Services Services Corporate Totals
REVENUES:
Transaction and processing service fees $2,.818.8 $1,5632.2 $1,364.4 $1689 $5,864.3

Check verification and guarantee services - 3756 - - 3756
Investment income, net 299.2 124 - —~ 3116
Professional services - 303 64.8 442 139.3
Software licensing and maintenance - 59 255 315 62.9
Product sales and other 5.2 2319 1.7 430 2818
Reimbursable postage and other 59 - 521.4 - 527.3
Equity earnings in affiliates @ 3.1 1418 (1.5) ~ 1434
Interest income - 0.7 06 37 5.0
Total segment reporting revenues $3,132.2 $2,330.8 $ 1,9669 $ 2813 $7,711.2
Internal revenue and pretax equivalency $ 2371 $ 308 $ 486 $ 28 $ 3193
External revenue 2,895.1 2,300.0 19183 2785 7,.3919
Depreciation and amortization 79.6 2089 188.4 330 50€8
Operating profit (loss) 1,048.1 639.0 3720 (47.1) 20120
Restructuring, impairments, litigation and regulatory

settlements, investment gains and losses, net (41.0) (5.5) (16.1) (10.6) (73.2)
Expenditures for long-lived assets 2602 658.7 2947 87.3 1,230.9
Equity earnings in affiliates 25 117.6 (1.5 - 1186
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 99.1 6479 14,4 486 766.0
A reconciliation of reportable segment amounts to the Company’s consolidated balances is as follows (in millions):

2004 2003 2002

REVENUES:
Total reported segments $10,271.3 $8,3706 $7,4209
All other and corporate 249.2 2768 281.3
Subtotal 10,520.5 86475 77112
Divested businesses 58.1 269.7 2581
Equity earnings in affiliates @ (198.3) (170.8) (143.4)
Interest income (25.1) (75) (5.0)
Eliminations ® (342.0) (338.9) (319.3)
Consolidated $10,013.2 $8,400.2 $7.502.6
Income before income taxes, minority interest, equity earnings in affiliates, and discontinued operations:
Total reported segments $ 2,803.6 $2,261.2 $2,058.1
All other and corporate (95.1) (77.3) (47.1)
Subtotal 2,708.5 2,183.3 2,0120
Divested businesses 11.2 . 405 346
Interest expense (136.8) 107.1) (110.8)
Minority interest from segment operations © 136.8 1220 1018
Equity earnings in affiliates (163.9) (1387) (1186)
Restructuring, net (63.5) 27.9) (5.1)
impairments (0.5) 6.2 (27.8)
Litigation and regulatory settlements (32.4) (5.0 (41.0)
Other @ (25.0) - -
Investment gains and (losses) 5.9 67) Q.7
Divestitures, net 265.2 6.8 42
Eliminations ® (212.3) (222.8) (217.3)
Consalidated $ 24932 $1,8388 $1,6325

(&) Excludes equity losses that were recorded in expense and the amortization related to the excess of the investment balance over the Company’s proportionate share of the investee's net book value for 2004,

2003 and 2002.

(b) Represents elimination of adjustment to record Payment Services revenues and operating profits on a pretax equivalent basis and elimination of intersegment revenue.
(©) Excludes minority interest attributed to items excluded from segment operations, as noted above.
(@) Relates to adjustments for TeleCheck accounting entries that oviginated primarily during 2002 and 2003.
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2004 2003 2002

ASSETS:
Payment Services $17,241.4 $16,787.1 $18007.1
Merchant Services 10,994.8 5,336.1 5,046.5
Card Issuing Services 3,857.9 1.808.7 1,735.1
All other and corporate 624.7 876.0 7956
Discontinued operations - 503.3 4726
Divested businesses - 274.4 5343
Consolidated $32,718.8 $25,685.6 $26,591.2
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION:
Total reported segments $ 7087 $ 5254 $ 4769
All other and corporate 26.8 27.8 330
Divested businesses 2.7 16.1 13.3
Consolidated $ 7382 $ 5693 $ 5232
EXPENDITURES FOR LONG-LIVED ASSETS:
Total reported segments $ 5037 $ 4922 $ 1,1436
All other and corporate 59.3 722 87.3
Divested business 0.1 1.3 23
Consolidated $ 5631 $ 56657 $ 12332
Information concerning principal geographic areas was as foliows (in millions):

United States International Totat
REVENUES
2004 $ 92875 $ 7257 $10013.2
2003 7,898.8 5014 8,400.2
2002 72679 2347 7,502.6
LONG-LIVED ASSETS
2004 $11,030.0 $ 1,1923 $12,222.3
2003 53035 5138 58173
2002 5,367.7 304.0 56717

“international” represents businesses of significance, which have local currency as their functional currency.
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NOTE 17: QUARTERLY FINANCIAL RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

Summarized quarterly results for the two years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, are as follows (in millions, except per

share amounts):

2004 by Quarter: First Second Third Fourth
Revenues $2,258.4 $2,529.1 $2,535.9 $2,689.8
Expenses 1,800.0 1,925.8 1,915.3 2,038.3
Other income {expense), net 2376 (25.6) (14.1) (38.5)
Income before income taxes, minority interest, equity earnings

in affiliates and discontinued operations 696.0 577.7 6086.5 613.0
Income tax expense 218.6 126.9 168.8 160.4
Minority interest (28.3) (28.4) (25.0) (32.9)
Equity earnings in affiliates 308 415 46.2 45.4
Discontinued operations, net of tax of $2.7, $6.9, $11.7,

and $0.0 million respectively. 3.6 21 1.7 -
Net income $ 4835 $ 466.0 $ 460.6 $ 465.1
Earnings per share from continuing operations

Basic $ o061 $ 054 $ 054 $ 057

Diluted 0.61 0.53 0.54 0.56
Earnings per share

Basic $ 062 $ o054 $ 055 $ o057

Diluted 0.61 0.53 0.54 0.56
2003 by Quarter: First Second Third Fourth
Revenues $1974.4 $2.079.0 $2,103.1 $2,243.7
Expenses 1,666.5 1,587.5 1,634.2 1,683.7
Other income (expense), net (23.7) (22.8) (23.9) (29.1)
Income before income taxes, minority interest, equity earnings

in affiliates and discontinued operations 394.2 468.7 4450 5309
Income tax expense 108.0 1279 96.3 1305
Minority interest (23.4) (29.5) (29.0) (37.7)
Equity earnings in affiliates 29.0 388 359 35.0
Discontinued operations, net of tax of $2.0, $3.8, $5.1,

and $6.7 respectively. 1.8 37 53 39
Net income $ 2926 $ 3538 $ 3609 $ 4016
Earnings per share from continuing operations

Basic $ 039 $ 047 $ 049 $ 055

Diluted 038 0.46 048 054
Earnings per share

Basic $ 039 $ 047 $ 049 $ 055

Diluted 0.39 0.47 0.49 0585

All periods have been adjusted to reflect NYCE as a discontinued operation.
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NOTE 18: ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On February 26, 2004, FDC completed the acquisition of
Concord. Prior to the merger, on December 15, 2003, the
Company announced an agreement with the DOJ that allowed
the Company to complete its merger with Concord. The
Company agreed to divest its 84% ownership of NYCE, an elec-
tronic funds transfer network. The Company completed the
sale of NYCE on July 30, 2004 for the purchase price of
$610.0 million, of which $389.6 million is the Company's share.
These proceeds net of related expenses, including taxes that
became due upon the sale of NYCE, approximate the Company's
carrying value of its investment in NYCE and are subject to
potential adjustments contemplated in the agreement which
will be determined at the end of 2005. In May 2004, prior to the
announcement of the potential sale, NYCE declared and paid a

$40.0 million dividend to its shareholders of which the Company
received $25.5 million in cash.

The Company's financial statements reflect NYCE as a
discontinued operation with the assets and liabilities of NYCE
classified under the captions ‘Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities
related to assets held for sale” on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The results of operations are treated as income from
discontinued operations, net of tax, and separately stated on the
Consolidated Statements of Income, below income from
continuing operations.

Included in the discontinued operations calculation is allo-
cated interest in accordance with EITF No. 87-24 ‘Aliocation of
Interest to Discontinued Operations” of $2.3 milfion, $5.6 million
and $5.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. The majority of NYCE operations were
historically included in the Merchant Services segment.

The following table presents the summarized results of
operations for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 30,
2004 and the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
(ée mitlions )
Revenue $88.1 $143.3 $1336
Expenses 62.4 1005 118
Income before income taxes 257 428 218
Income taxes 114 176 9.9
Minority interest, net of tax (6.9) (10.5) 6.2)
Gain on sale of NYCE, net of taxes of $9.9 in 2004 * - - -
Income from discontinued operations $ 74 $ 147 $ 57

The amount of the potential gain upon the sale of NYCE in excess of the income taxes of $9.9 million has been deferred.

The following table presents the balance sheet related to the assets and liabilities held for sale as of December 31, 2003 (in millions).

2003
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 678
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 130
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 1.6
Goodwill 309.9
Otherintangibles, net of accumulated amortization 96.3
Other assets 47
Total assets held for sale $503.3
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and other liabilities $1354
Borrowings 1.1
Total liabilities related to assets held for sale $1365

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FIMANCIAL STATEMENTS
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THE STOCKHOLDERS AND
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
FIRST DATA CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consclidated balance sheets
of First Data Corporation as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as eval-
uating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

FIRST DATA CORPORATION 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of First Data Corporation at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. gener-
ally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of First Data Corporation’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based
on criteria established in Internal Control-integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23, 2005
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Samat + LLP

Ernst & Young LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 23, 2005




THE STOCKHOLDERS AND
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
FIRST DATA CORPORATION

We have audited management's assessment, included in the
accompanying Management's Report on Internal Controls over
Financial Reporting, that First Data Corporation maintained effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, based on criteria established in internal Control~Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”). First Data
Corporation's management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over finan-
cial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company's internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an under-
standing of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-
tions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expendi-
tures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal contro! over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements,
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inade-
quate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that First Data
Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, First
Data Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of First Data
Corporation as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004 and our report dated February 23, 2005
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon,

Snmert 3 LLP

Ernst & Young LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 23, 2005
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CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
6200 South Quebec Street
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
(303) 967-8000

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Shareholders with gquestions concerning their stock holdings or
dividends, or with address changes should contact:

Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association

161 North Concord Exchange

South St, Paul, MN 556075

(651) 450-4064 or (800) 468-9716

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP

370 17th Street, Suite 3300
Denver, CO 80202

FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND REPORTS

The company routinely sends out annual shareholder reports
and press releases. To receive this information please write the
company at 6200 South Quebec Street, Greenwood Village, CO
80111, call (303) 967-6756 or visit the “Invest” section of our
Web site at www.firstdata.com. A copy of the First Data 2004
Form 10-K report to the Securities and Exchange Commission
will be furnished to shareholders without charge (except charges
for providing exhibits) upon written request to the company.
Analysts and investors seeking additional investment informa-
tion about the company can contact the Investor Relations
Department at (303) 967-6756. For more information about
First Data Corportion, please visit the company on the Internet at
www.firstdata.com.

STOCK PRICES

First Data common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol “FDC? The intraday high and low prices for the
company's common stock by quarter during the last two years
were as follows:

2004 2003
Quarter Ended High Low High Low
March 31 $44.10 $37.67 $38.30 $30.80
June 30 $45.80 $40.63 $4490  $32.50
September 30 $44.72 $40.25 $4363  $36.98
December 31 $44.43 $39.00 $4160  $33.26

©2005 First Data Corporation. All Rights Reserved
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SHAREHOLDERS OF RECORD
The number of shareholders of record was 3,710 and 3,005 at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively.

DIVIDENDS
The company declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.02 per
common share in 2003 and 2004.

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of First Data Corporation
will be held at the Qwest Center Omaha at 455 N. 10th Street,
Omaha, NE 68102 on Wednesday, May 11, 2005 at 2:30 p.m.
local time.

TRADEMARKS, SERVICE MARKS AND TRADE NAMES

The First Data name, logo and related trademarks and service
marks, are owned by First Data Corporation, are registered and/or
used in the U.S. and some foreign countries, All other trademarks,
service marks, logos and trade names referenced in this material
are the property of their respective owners,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

To review the company’s corporate governance guidelines, board
committee charters and codes of business conduct and ethics,
please visit the "Governance” section of our Web site at www.
firstdata.com

CERTIFICATIONS

The Company filed certifications of the CEQ and CFO pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as Exhibits to the
First Data 2004 Form 10-K report filed with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission and submitted to the New York
Stock Exchange the CEO's annual certification regarding compliance
with the NYSE's corporate governance listing standards.
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